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Maritime New Zealand 
Nō te rere moana Aotearoa

Nō te rere moana Aotearoa accompanies te manaia – the guardian – in our logo.

Together, they reflect our role as the caretaker of New Zealand’s flowing waters. They underpin 
our mandate to make life at sea safer; to protect the maritime environment from pollution and 
safeguard it for future generations; to ensure New Zealand’s ports and ships are secure; and 
to provide a search and rescue response service in one of the largest search and rescue areas 
in the world.

SECURE

Ports & Ships
Protecting people,
goods and NZ’s social
& economic interests

SAFE

People & Operations
Supporting physical, social & 
economic wellbeing through 
safe maritime operations

CLEAN

Seas & Waterways

HE HAUMARU HE WHITA

Maritime NZ is the national maritime regulatory, compliance and response agency (Ko Rere 
Moana Aotearoa te pokapū ā-motu ka whakature, ka aroturuki, ka urupare ki ngā take moana) 
for the safety, security and environmental protection of New Zealand’s maritime environment. 

We are guided by our principles 

Evidence-based (E whai ana i ngā taunakitanga)

Intelligence-led (E ārahina ana e ngā mōhiohio) 

Risk-focused (E aro ana ki ngā tūraru) 

Playing our part in protecting 
and preserving the marine 
environment by minimising 
harmful emissions and 
discharges from ships
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Abbreviations

 

COVID-19 Coronavirus disease of 2019

DSC Digital selective calling 

ECC Emergency coordination centre 

FTE Full Time Equivalent staff

GHG Greenhouse gases

GMDSS Global Maritime Distress and Safety System

G-Reg Government Regulatory Practice Initiative

HF High frequency

HSWA Health and Safety at Work Act 2015

HSW Health, safety and wellbeing

IALA International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities

IMO International Maritime Organization

ISPS International Ship and Port Facility Security

MARPOL International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships

MFAT Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade

MIRT Maritime Incident Response Team

MTA Maritime Transport Act 1994

MOC Maritime Operations Centre

MOSS Maritime Operator Safety System

MOU Memorandum of Understanding

MPI Ministry for Primary Industries

MPRS Marine Pollution Response Service

NEMA National Emergency Management Authority

NRT National Response Team

NZSBF New Zealand Safer Boating Forum

OIA Official Information Act 1982

PCBU Persons Conducting a Business or Undertaking 

PSC Port State Control

PMSP Pacific Maritime Safety Programme

RCCNZ Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand

SAR Search and rescue

SOLAS International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea

SWBNZ Seafarers Welfare Board for New Zealand

Tokyo MOU Asia–Pacific Memorandum of Understanding on Port State Control

tCO2-e Tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent

VHF Very high frequency 
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Our story 
Tā Mātau Kōrero

PART A
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Our year in review…
building our regulatory maturity through 
Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga 
Te arotake i tō mātau tau: te waihanga 
i tō mātau pakeke whakahaere ture mā te 
Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga

Tēnā koutou 

Our kaitiakitanga (guardian) role for Aotearoa New Zealand means we strive 
to ensure the ocean and waterways of are safe, secure and clean, and we’re 
continuing our journey to be the most effective regulator we can be.

Our Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga journey: 
building on solid foundations
In many respects, 2021/22 was a pivotal year in the 
history of Maritime NZ. It marked the start of Te Korowai o 
Kaitiakitanga, our transformational organisational strategy. 
The name broadly translates to the ‘Cloak of Stewardship’, 
and reflects our role in ensuring the oceans and waterways 
of Aotearoa New Zealand are safe, secure and clean (for 
more, see page 11). Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga, directs 
what we focus on and prioritise, how we work and behave, 
and how we are seen externally. Over the past year, we’ve 
taken the opportunity to evaluate how we operate with 
staff and the sector, and start to shape our new direction.

As an organisation, one of Maritime NZ’s biggest challenges 
in recent years has been its growth to serve the needs of 
the sector. Aspects of our systems, processes, culture, 
capacity, practice and operating model have not kept up 
with the pace of growth. In other areas, we have been 
missing vital capacity to carry out our regulatory role 
effectively. We’re now building the capabilities and capacity 
needed to make us an increasingly sophisticated regulator 
that is better able to deliver outcomes for our people, the 
maritime sector and New Zealand. We’re on a multi-year 
journey, and we’re confident the steps we’ve started taking 
will lead to much improved regulatory outcomes.

A year of solid progress despite many 
challenges
While in the past year the COVID-19 pandemic continued 
to significantly affect how we operate, it was pleasing 
some positives emerged from these challenges. This was 
particularly true in strengthening how we engage with the 
maritime sector, with closer ties established, which bode 
well for the future. We are also proud of the role we played 
in leading the Government response in relation to maritime 
matters by working closely across government agencies or 
groups, such as the Border Executive Board.

Responding to the pandemic reinforced that our people are 
our greatest asset. Maritime NZ staff are committed and 
passionate, and rose to the challenge of the pandemic. 
We have highly capable people who are empowered to 
make decisions – which makes us agile and able to have 
a bigger impact than our size would suggest. 

We’ve delivered on many government priorities, most 
notably in relation to the Transport Emissions Reduction Plan, 
with new rules in place to greatly reduce emissions from 
shipping via the International Convention for the Prevention 
of Pollution from Ships (known as MARPOL Annex VI). This 
co-design with the sector is something we are consciously 
making an important part of how we do our regulatory role.
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Given the importance of reducing greenhouse gas emissions, 
we’ve proactively started reporting on our progress as part of 
the Carbon Neutral Government Programme, one year earlier 
than is mandatory (see page 72).

We’re also implementing a new harm prevention approach. 
This includes strengthening port safety via a tripartite 
partnership between regulators, unions and Persons 
Conducting a Business or Undertaking (PCBUs) operating 
on ports. It also includes new ways of targeting recreational 
craft users’ behaviour to reduce serious harm and fatalities. 
Our approach will ensure we are using insights and 
intelligence to build an understanding of the causes of 
harm across sectors and help design interventions. It will 
be designed and delivered in partnership with the sector, 
to make sure problems and solutions are jointly owned.

Voyage ahead
While the signs are promising that the worst of the pandemic 
is behind us, much uncertainty and risk still exist in the short 
term. Funding uncertainties remain, but the resumption of 
cruise ship visits reopens some traditional funding sources. 
Importantly, funding issues will limit the extent we can be 
proactive in making changes in how we operate and address 
regulatory risks like third party monitoring.

We’ve started our funding review (deferred because of the 
pandemic), a three to five yearly review of fees and levies, to 
ensure they stay current and appropriate for Crown entities. 
The review will focus on regulatory risk areas and areas 
where we have had to implement government priorities like 
MARPOL Annex VI. These have been Crown funded and 
will now need to be recovered from the sector in the future.

We would like to acknowledge the professionalism and 
commitment of the Maritime NZ team who responded to 
the many challenges over the year. Despite COVID-19-
related sickness and travel restrictions heavily reducing 
staff numbers at times and so affecting our performance, 
we are proud we achieved most of our output targets 
(see pages 83 to 92). This is a great reflection on our staff.

We also greatly appreciated the partnership and dedication 
shown by other government agencies and those we work 
with in the wider maritime sector. We will continue to 
strengthen these ties in 2022/23. 

Ngā mihi nui

Jo Brosnahan, QSO 
Board Chair, Maritime NZ

Kirstie Hewlett 
Chief Executive and Director, Maritime NZ
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By the numbers

Lives 
assisted

3436
248
301

66

Information and 
education campaigns 
delivered

Industry publications 
and guidance 
documents produced

11 Maritime Incident 
Response Team 
exercises/workshops 
completed

Regional and 
national equipment 
stockpiles 
maintained

Lives 
saved

Lives 
rescued

Rescue coordination outcomes Education and information

Marine pollution response

2,391 Of which were 
for seafarers3,540

Maritime or 
marine protection 
documents/
certificates/
permits 
processed

Certification

0 100%

100%

Significant 
security 
incidents

NZ trading ports 
100% compliant with 
International Ship 
and Port Facility 
Security code

Maritime security
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39% Reduction in emissions since baseline 
from our business activities (-554 tCO2-e)

80% of prosecutions under HSWA and/or MTA resulted 
in parties being held to account

Regulatory operations

Our carbon emission reductions

161 Port State 
Control 
inspections 
completed319

60
13

920

Audits of active 
MOSS operators/ 
HSWA assessments

New MOSS operators

HSWA joint port assessments and we 
engaged with 50 Persons Conducting 
a Business or Undertaking

Notified 
events

186 Investigations 
completed 16

Successful 
prosecutions 
including 
Enforceable 
Undertakings



8 MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

MATTERS
WHY THE MARITIME DOMAIN 

 TO NEW ZEALAND

COVID-19
has proven safe and 
efficient ports,  with good 
international  links, play a 
vital role for  our country’s 
supply chains

Around

1,070 ships
and over

5,270 port 
visits to NZ
(A ship can visit 
multiple ports)

NZ marine economy contributed

$8.2 billion
to New Zealand’s economy made up of

$4.5 billion
directly and

$3.7 billion
indirectly in non-marine industries

About

40,600 
people employed within the marine 
economy earned a total of 

$2.3 billion
Marine economy’s contribution 
to total GDP:

1.4%

NZ’s Exclusive Economic Zone is

15x
the size of 
the country
not including Tokelau, 
Niue, Cook Islands and 
Ross Dependency

Spanning over

30 million km2

New Zealand’s search and rescue 
region is one of the largest in 
the world

NZ EXPORTS

$61.3
billion NZ IMPORTS

$61.8
billion

See Appendix 4 for data sources

80.9%
by value

is carried by sea

99.7%
by volume
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About Maritime New Zealand 
Mō Te Rere Moana Aotearoa

Who we are

Maritime NZ is the national maritime regulatory, compliance and response agency 
for the safety, security and environmental protection of Aotearoa New Zealand’s 
maritime environment.

Ko Rere Moana Aotearoa te pokapū ā-motu ka whakature, 
ka aroturuki, ka urupare ki ngā take moana. 

The maritime domain in New Zealand is complex 
and diverse, and the maritime industry underpins the 
international supply chains and freight that New Zealand’s 
economy depends on. As the national maritime agency, 
Maritime NZ promotes safe, secure and clean outcomes 
for people who work and play on New Zealand waters. 
This includes commercial cargo vessels, passenger cruises, 
freight, coastal tankers and research vessels, fishing 
vessels, charter boats, offshore mining installations, 
tourism operators and recreational boaties.

Established in 1993, Maritime NZ is one of four Crown 
entities monitored by Te Manatū Waka (Ministry of Transport) 
and is part of the wider transport sector ‘family’ of agencies.

We have 334 full-time equivalent (FTE) staff based across 
13 regional offices, our national office in Wellington, the 
Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand (RCCNZ) in 
Lower Hutt, and the Marine Pollution Response Service 
(MPRS) in Te Atatu, Auckland.

Our strategic framework
Maritime NZ is committed to developing a New Zealand 
maritime community that works and plays safely and 
securely on clean waters. Our strategic intent remains 
focused on delivering our core roles to achieve our 
outcomes of Safe People and Operations; Secure Ports 
and Ships; and Clean Seas and Waterways.
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We have three core roles…

Regulation 
He Waeture 
We help to develop and maintain 
the national safety, security and 
environmental protection regulations 
that govern maritime operations, 
ports and offshore installations in 
New Zealand waters through our 
work domestically and internationally.

Compliance 
He Whakaū 
We support, encourage and require 
operator compliance with those 
regulations through our regulatory 
regimes and compliance operating 
model.

Response 
He Whakautu 
We provide a national land, sea and 
air search and rescue coordination 
service and manage national 
maritime incident and marine 
pollution response capability.

  
We bring together our three core roles to drive and achieve our three key outcomes…

MARITIME NZ OUTCOMES
CONTRIBUTE TO THREE 
TRANSPORT OUTCOMES THROUGH THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES

Healthy and 
safe people

Safe: People and Operations  
He Haumaru: ngā tāngata 
me ngā mahi

Supporting physical, social and 
economic wellbeing through safe 
maritime operations

Resilience 
and security

Secure: Ports and Ships 
He Whita: ngā wāpu me ngā 
kaipuke

Protecting people, goods and 
New Zealand’s social and economic 
interests and resilience

Environmental 
sustainability

Clean: Seas and Waterways 
He Mā: ngā moana me ngā 
awaawa

Playing our part in protecting and 
preserving the marine environment 
by minimising harmful emissions and 
discharges from ships

Maritime NZ’s ‘evidence-based, intelligence-led and risk-focused’ guiding principles help direct its approach to working.

Our organisational values of Integrity, Commitment and Respect underpin all that we do, along with our leadership charter 
of Strength, Unity and Direction.

Strength 
Whirikoka
Ka mahi te tawa, uho ki te riri 
Well done, you whose courage is 
like the heart of the tawa tree

Unity 
Kotahitanga
Kia urupū tātou; kaua e 
taukamekume 
Let us be united, not pulling 
against one another

Direction 
Ahu
A muri kia mau ki te kawau mā rō, 
whanake ake, whanake ake 
Hold to the spearhead formation 
of the kawau

 
Our strategic framework (see pages 14 and 15) reflects our evolving strategic and operational environment. It is fit for 
purpose and shows clear and meaningful linkages between our outcomes, impacts and outputs, along with the connection 
to wider transport sector outcomes in the Transport Outcomes Framework led by Te Manatū Waka.

https://www.transport.govt.nz/area-of-interest/strategy-and-direction/transport-outcomes-framework/
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Transport Outcomes Framework

The Transport Outcomes Framework (figure 1) is made up of five outcomes. 
Maritime NZ works in partnership with Te Manatū Waka to provide safe, secure, 
sustainable and economically prosperous outcomes for all New Zealanders.

A transport 
system that 

improves 
wellbeing and 

liveability

Resilience and security

Minimising and managing the risks from 
natural and human-made hazards, 
anticipating and adapting to emerging 
threats, and recovering effectively from 
disruptive events.

Economic prosperity

Supporting economic activity via 
local, regional and international 
connections, with efficient 
movements of people and products.

Inclusive access

Enabling all people to participate in 
society through access to social and 
economic opportunities, such as 
work, education and healthcare.

Healthy and safe people

Protecting people from transport-
related injuries and harmful 
pollution, and making active 
travel an attractive option.

Environmental sustainability

Transitioning to net zero carbon 
dioxide emissions, and maintaining 
or improving biodiversity, water 
quality and air quality.

Figure 1: Transport Outcomes Framework

Source: Ministry of Transport

Maritime NZ’s strategic framework creates an easy-to-follow ‘map’ of what it is aiming to achieve for New Zealand, what it 
expects to deliver and how it knows it is delivering it. The framework shows our main focus areas as the national maritime 
regulatory, compliance and response agency. 

The framework is made up of the following:

• outcomes (desired changes in societal state over the medium to long term)

• driven by impacts (demonstration of positive effects in the short to medium term)

• achieved through outputs (operational deliverables in the short term).

Our framework incorporates five well-defined output classes that reflect how we deliver on our regulatory, compliance and 
response roles, which are supported by a suite of performance measures (see Part B).

Our output classes span the work we deliver on a daily basis. They reflect the core operational delivery aspects of a 
regulatory, compliance and response organisation and are flexible enough to accommodate additional functions and 
responsibilities that Maritime NZ may undertake in the future. 

Our output classes are as follows. 

Regulation 
He Waeture

Compliance 
He Whakaū

Response 
He Whakautu

Safety 
infrastructure 
Ngā Hanga 
Whakahaumaru

Engagement 
Whai Wāhitanga
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Left to right: Roy Weaver (Deputy Chair, from November 2022), Denis O’Rourke, Jo Brosnahan, QSO (Chair), 
Belinda Vernon (Deputy Chair, Chair of Audit and Risk Committee May 2013 – October 2022), Danny Tuato’o

Our Board

The Minister of Transport is responsible to Parliament for overseeing and managing 
the Crown’s interests in Maritime NZ.

The Minister expects Maritime NZ’s Board to set the 
direction of the entity, achieve the Government’s desired 
results, as set out in the Maritime Transport Act 1994 (MTA) 
and other legislation and policy, and manage any maritime 
safety and security risks on behalf of the Crown. 

Members act in accordance with applicable statutory 
requirements (for example, the MTA and Crown Entities 
Act 2004), and in the interests of the role and functions of 
maritime safety and security. 

Board membership and composition 
Maritime NZ’s Board comprises five members (can be 
up to seven) appointed by the Governor-General on the 
recommendation of the Minister of Transport. The Board 
appoints the Director of Maritime NZ, who has independent 
statutory powers under the MTA. 

The Board is responsible and accountable for the 
management and strategic direction of Maritime NZ.

For more on governance and accountability, see appendix 3, 
page 150.
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OUR STRATEGIC
FRAMEWORK

STRATEGIC
ACTIONS

SECTOR
LEADERSHIPLEADERSHIP

CHARTER

INTEGRITY

RESPONSEREGULATION ENGAGEMENTCOMPLIANCE
SAFETY
INFRASTRUCTURE

RESPECTCOMMITMENT INTELLIGENCE 
LED

EVIDENCE
BASED

RISK
FOCUSED

OUR OUTPUTS

OUR VALUES OUR GUIDING PRINCIPLES

RESILIENCE AND SECURITY

INCLUSIVE ACCESS

HEALTHY AND SAFE PEOPLE

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

ECONOMIC PROSPERITY

SECURE

Ports & Ships
Protecting people,
goods and NZ’s social
& economic interests

SAFE

People & Operations
Supporting physical, social & 
economic wellbeing through 
safe maritime operations

CLEAN

Seas & Waterways
Playing our part in protecting 
and preserving the marine 
environment by minimising 
harmful emissions and 
discharges from ships

HE HAUMARU HE WHITA HE MĀ
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Te Korowai o 
Kaitiakitanga

Our Vision and Purpose 
Ā tātou tirohanga me te kaupapa

Our Principles 
Ā tātou whanonga pono

Our Values 
Ā tātou whanonga pono

Our Levers 
Ā tātou whakatiriwhana 

(Engagement/Education/Enforcement/ 
Investment & Infrastructure)

Our Partnerships 
Ā tātou hononga

Our Foundation OR Enablers 
Ā tātou whakamana

Our Reflection 
Ā tātou whakaata

 Charting our four-year voyage 
Te whā tau te haerenga 

Our Approaches 
Ā tātou huarahi

Harm Prevention/ 
Strategic Programme

Regulatory Decision- 
making Framework

Our regulatory policies and practice/ 
Our intelligence/Our risk focus 

Ā tātou kaupapa
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Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga is our organisational strategy that brings together the 
aroha, work and skills of the organisation to ensure we can operate as strong 
stewards of the maritime domain.

We exercise kaitiakitanga, or guardianship, over the 
maritime domain to ensure the oceans and waterways 
of Aotearoa New Zealand are safe, secure, clean 
and sustainable.

We’re taking significant steps forward in our journey to 
being an increasingly effective regulator. We are continuing 
to build the diverse capabilities we need, to make the 
organisation stronger and better able to deliver outcomes 
for our people, the maritime sector and New Zealand.

During Phase One of Te Korowai, we spent time getting 
feedback from our people and key external partners on 
what ‘good’ looks like, where we are, and gaps in capability, 
capacity, systems, processes and culture. The feedback we 
received recognised the good work we currently do, and 
helped identify changes needed to continue our evolution 
as a regulator. 

Phase 2 started earlier this year to address the findings 
from Phase 1 and scope the programme of work for the 
coming years. 

The following cross-organisational areas for action 
were identified:

• our organisation’s strategic frame

• how we ‘weave’ the cloak that includes a group of 
projects around our organisation culture and identity

• our capability and capacity

• our regulatory and operating policies and practices

• our information and intelligence

• topic-specific work such as certification and the 
Maritime Operator Safety System (MOSS).

We are now in the planning and delivery phase and have 
much work to do. Our progress and achievements to date 
are woven throughout our impact stories and supporting 
case studies to showcase the work done across the year 
and to highlight the changes and initiatives we will be 
delivering over time. 
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System level performance: 
Our impacts

Whakatutukitanga taumata pūnaha: ā mātau pānga 
Showing what we’re delivering is important
We are committed to leading, driving and supporting work 
to ensure the Aotearoa New Zealand maritime community 
works and plays safely and securely on clean waters. 
To understand our success as New Zealand’s maritime 
regulatory, compliance and response agency, we monitor 
our performance through system level impacts and impact 
indicators, and operational level output measures (as 
described in the 2021/22 Statement of Performance 
Expectations). 

Our impacts and impact indicators align to our outcomes of 
Safe people and operations; Secure ports and ships; 
and Clean seas and waterways. 

Our six impact areas, with associated indicators and two 
cross-cutting impact areas are used to monitor our progress 
over time and drive our interventions. 

The diagram on pages 20–21 describes how our outcomes, 
impact areas, impact indicators and outputs connect. 
This is followed by an assessment of each impact and the 
impact indicators, with supporting commentary around our 
progress, achievements and challenges. 

Through Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga we are beginning to 
focus on our strategic framework. This involves exploring 
our vision, our outcomes and how they are measured; 
and our principles on who we want to be as a regulator. 

We will be communicating and working with staff on our 
harm prevention and engagement approach. We will also 
be considering how this works with our outcomes and 
regulatory decision-making framework to set our regulatory 
strategy and focus.

Preparation of annual report influenced 
by new reporting standard
This annual report was not prepared strictly according to 
the new Public Benefit Entity Financial Reporting Standard 48 
(PBE FRS 48) released by the Government’s External 
Reporting Board in November 2017 and amended in 
August 2020. Treasury developed advice on its application 
to accountability reporting by Crown entities in 2021, which 
will apply to our 2022/23 annual reporting.

We have, however, been guided by some of the new 
standard’s principles in preparing this document, particularly 
in relation to developing and presenting our performance 
measurement results. For more on our approach to 
performance measurement reporting, see appendix 5 on 
page 152.

https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/content/about/performance-expectations/default.asp
https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/content/about/performance-expectations/default.asp
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Impact 1 
New Zealand’s maritime fatality and serious 
harm rates reduce over time

A significant focus of our efforts is ensuring the safety of people working on 
and using New Zealand waters in both the recreational and commercial sectors. 
We aspire for everyone to return home safely.  

1 Serious harm in the recreational sector is not included because data are unreliable due to unknown levels of under reporting. Commercial serious harm data 
include events notified to Maritime NZ as a requirement under section 31 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994. It is not necessarily a complete representation 
of serious harm that occurs in the commercial sector due to a level of under reporting that may occur.

We partner and engage with key stakeholders, including the 
port sector, commercial operators, seafarers, recreational 
boaties, boating safety organisations, unions, industry 
bodies, seafarers, other maritime sector stakeholders, 
and other government agencies. This informs, educates, 
influences and helps us to develop strategic programmes 
that aim to prevent harm occurring in different parts of the 

maritime domain, particularly at ports or where people 
use recreational craft. This includes communications 
campaigns and targeted enforcement, where necessary. 
Furthermore, we work to ensure compliance with maritime 
rules and regulations and revising these when they are not 
fit for purpose.

OUTCOME IMPACT 
INDICATORS

DESIRED 
INDICATOR TREND

ASSESSMENT OF 
ACHIEVEMENT 

Annual rate of 
maritime fatalities 
and serious 
harm for the 
commercial sector 
per 100,000 NZ 
population 

Annual rate of 
maritime fatalities 
in the recreational 
sector per 100,000 
NZ population1 

Fatalities trend
• Recreational boating fatalities continue to fluctuate year on year, 

so it is difficult to determine a downward trend. Fatalities peaked 
at 32 in 2014/15, with a low of 11 in 2017/18 and 18 in 2021/22 
(see figure 1 and figure 2, page 23). 

• What is promising is that, over the past six years, a steady 
and significant increase has occurred in recreational boating 
participation, from 42% in 2017 through to 56% currently; the 
highest result to date. This potentially indicates a steady rather 
than decreasing recreational boating fatality rate. For more, see 
impact 2 page 30. 

• Commercial sector fatalities also continue to fluctuate year on 
year. 12 fatalities occurred in 2021/22, noting five lives were lost 
in the Enchanter fishing charter boat sinking. This is well above 
the trend for the past few years but is consistent with years where 
one significant boating tragedy has occurred, significantly affecting 
fatality numbers.

Serious harm trend
• Serious harm in the commercial sector increased this year after 

recording its lowest level in the past eight years in 2020/21 
(22 to 46). No clear trend can been seen other than it continues 
to fluctuate year on year.

Results for 2021/22 
• Eighteen recreational fatalities at a rate of 0.351 per 100,000 

of population.

• Twelve commercial fatalities at a rate of 0.234 per 100,000 population.

• Forty-six notified serious harm injuries at a rate of 0.897 
per 100,000 of population. 

Our outputs that support Impact 1
2.3 Inspection and audit Page 86

2.4 Investigation and enforcement Page 86

5.1 Information, education and engagement Page 92

Safe 
He Haumaru
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 Impact indicators further explained

2 The denominator used for these calculations is per 100,000 of New Zealand’s estimated population (March years) sourced from Statistics NZ. 

3 A review of five years of fatality data was undertaken in July 2022. As a result, we identified a small change in the number of fatalities reported over the past 
three years. In our 2020/21 Annual Report, the published number of recreational fatalities in 2018/19 (15) was revised to 16. A data error was found in the 
number of recreational fatalities recorded for 2019/20, where 23 fatalities were reported and the revised number is now 18. In 2020/21, recreational fatalities 
have been revised from a published figure of 15 to 17. Commercial fatalities have similarly been reviewed and revised, with the published 2019/20 figure (five) 
revised to four. As a consequence of changed fatality counts, the rates per 100,000 population have also been amended. All revised figures are reflected in 
figures 1 and 2.

      Published fatalities numbers do change over time for the following reasons:

•  We are occasionally informed about a fatality we should have been notified of, sometimes well after a reporting period has closed. Sources of such 
information include Water Safety NZ and media scans 

•  We refine our operational rules to define a fatality in our own database, as we get richer data collections and analytical tools

•  Coronial determination of cause of death can occur years after a fatal event and subsequent investigations by Police or Maritime NZ. 

For these reasons, we have begun regular re-runs of previous years’ data, and any updated results will be captured in our accountability reporting, such as the 
Annual Report.

Figure 1 and figure 2 present the number of commercial and 
recreational fatalities and notified serious harm injuries in the 
commercial sector over the past seven years, by number 
and per 100,000 population.23 

Serious harm reporting 
Due to unknown levels of under reporting in the 
recreational sector, in particular, we do not report 
recreational serious harm data here. Reported 
commercial serious harm data includes events notified 
to Maritime NZ as a requirement under section 31 of the 
Maritime Transport Act 1994. We are aware that not all 
serious harm events are reported to Maritime NZ through 
section 31 notifications. However, to identify serious 

harm events that have not been disclosed via section 
31 notifications, we do consider events reported in 
the media and include events identified by the Rescue 
Coordination Centre, Maritime NZ staff and third parties. 
Maritime NZ ensures the sector is aware of reporting 
obligations through its education and compliance 
activities and we make it easy for involved parties to 
notify via the Maritime NZ website. Under Te Korowai 
o Kaitiakitanga, we are establishing a new, dedicated 
team to focus on improving how we process incoming 
notifications. We will continue to look at ways to ensure 
the sector meets its obligations under section 31, which 
over time, is likely to increase the number of notifications 
received including notified serious harm.

Commercial Recreational
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Figure 1: Number and rate of fatalities3 in the commercial and recreational sectors per 100,000 
of New Zealand population 
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Figure 2: Number and rate per 100,000 of New Zealand population of notified commercial serious 
harm injuries
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Our work programmes are leading to improvement (in 
relative terms) across maritime safety areas. In particular, 
we have seen a significant increase in the number of 
recreational boaties and a subsequent increase in search 
and rescue (SAR) coordination services for New Zealand 
(see page 54, for further information).

The inherent risks of many commercial and recreational 
activities make it unrealistic to expect to eliminate all 
accidents. However, Maritime NZ remains committed 
to continuing to drive change and improvements in the 
maritime sector’s accident record. We do this through our 
leadership and work with the sector, including our improved 
harm prevention approach and programmes for recreational 
craft and ports (see page 37 for a case study on the latter). 

Fatal accident numbers in the recreational craft sector 
in 2021/22 were in line with the historical trend, with no 
significant trends identified. It is evident, however, causes 
of recreational fatalities often occur in harbour, or at bar 
crossings, with people not understanding the weather 
conditions; having limited means of calling for help; a 
lifejacket being available but not worn, or a lifejacket that 
was improperly used. The data also confirm those at greater 
risk of injury and death in maritime incidents tend to be 
older males, Māori and Pasifika. 

When combined with the increasing participation rates 
identified by IPSOS research (see Impact 2, page 30), this 
reinforces the trend evident in the 2015–2020 Recreational 
Boating Fatal Accident Report. This showed that a static 
recreational boating fatality count potentially indicates a rate 
of fatalities that is being maintained despite the increasing 
number of recreational craft participants (see case study, 
page 29). 

This year, one accident claimed the lives of three people 
on the Manukau Harbour Bar, the greatest loss of life in a 
single recreational boating accident in New Zealand since 
2013/14. 

Fatal accident numbers in the commercial maritime sector 
in 2021/22 were significantly above the recent trend. 

4 Some notification figures differ from those published in last year’s annual report, following a review of all 2021 notifications in advance of the public release 
of notifications in accordance with government open data policies. In the course of this review, several notifications were reclassified from ‘section 31 
notifications’ – those submitted by operators of vessels involved in an incident or accident, per the definition of section 31 under the MTA – to ‘other’ 
notifications – by third parties, the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand, media reports and so on. Because these data were filtered specifically to 
section 31 notifications, fewer now appear for 2021.

This was driven primarily by the loss of five lives in the 
fishing charter boat (Enchanter) accident off North Cape 
early in 2022. Over the past two years, some commercial 
fatalities were the result of medical events occurring on 
board a commercial vessel. Several high-profile accidents 
also occurred at ports. 

The total number of commercial maritime sector deaths 
in 2021/22 was in line with other years where significant 
accidents occurred. For example, the loss of the Francie 
on Kaipara Harbour Bar in 2016/17 and the loss of the 
Easy Rider off Stewart Island in 2011/12.

Notified serious harm numbers more than doubled from 
last year to 46, which is in part indicative of commercial 
activity returning to normal following COVID-19 lockdowns. 
We continue to look at ways to ensure the sector meets 
its reporting obligations under section 31 of the MTA, and 
over time, we expect to see an increase in the number of 
notifications received including notified serious harm.

The progress, achievements and challenges section 
below outlines the work we are doing to reduce 
fatalities and serious harm in both the commercial and 
recreational sectors.

Section 31 notifications 
Maritime Transport Act 1994 section 31 notifications data 
help inform our understanding of the nature of accidents, 
incidents and mishaps that occur to people and vessels 
operating in New Zealand waters. These data are used 
to identify trends, guide policy decisions, compliance 
interventions and shape the design and delivery of future 
government services to reduce harm and improve safety.

Maritime NZ received 692 section 31 notifications in 
2021/22, an increase of 31 percent from the previous year,4 
(see figure 3). This is attributable largely to a rise in activity 
within the international and domestic commercial sectors 
as industry recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Section 31 notifications from the international commercial 
sector were up by 185 percent and by 11 percent from the 
domestic commercial sector (see figure 3).
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Figure 3: Notifications by month from 2019/20 onwards

Financial year

Injuries were the most common event reported, with 116 in 2021/22, compared with 111 in 2020/21. Propulsion failure (72) 
was the second most reported event, up from 59 last year (figure 4).
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Figure 5: Notified injuries by month, 2019/20 onwards

Financial year

Notified injuries
The number of section 31 notifications reporting injuries 
increased across the domestic and international sectors in 
2021/22, corresponding with increased commercial activity 
in both sectors. 

In 2021/22, Maritime NZ received reports through section 
31 notifications of injuries to 41 people in the recreational 

sector, an increase of 5 (+14 percent) from the previous 
year. As in previous years, injuries within the recreational 
sector continue to follow a highly seasonal pattern, with 
56 percent occurring in the months November to February, 
as figure 5 shows.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our progress, achievements and challenges 

Preventing harm in the maritime sector  
Maritime NZ is in the process of making harm prevention a 
more consistent part of its operating model. Harm prevention 
is an approach underpinning programmes of work for 
significant sub-sectors (eg, ports) or strategic areas that, 
critically, are designed in partnership with the sector. Some 
of our work reflects parts of a harm prevention programmes 
approach, but we want to embed it collectively across our 
organisation, and ensure our work consistently reflects 
all of the principles of good practice in harm prevention. 
This includes being more effective, and consistent, at: 

•  designing and delivering shared solutions in partnership 
with iwi and the maritime sector to ensure the problems 
and solutions are jointly owned and acted on

•  bringing together people and capabilities from across 
Maritime NZ to collectively achieve better sector 
outcomes (‘virtual’ teams)

•  building integrated intelligence programmes to develop 
an understanding of the drivers of harm across and within 
sectors, which inform intervention design decisions

•  monitoring and evaluation to tell us about the impacts 
interventions are having, including on the outcomes to 
be achieved

•  having work programmes with a clear vision and 
outcomes connected to Maritime NZ’s strategic 
framework and multi-year work plans, with clear 
milestones and deliverables for specific sectors

•  applying a range of interventions taking a proactive 
system view to address the main causes of harm for 
a sector. 
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We are piloting this approach initially for the recreational 
craft and ports and harbours sub-sectors. Work has 
progressed significantly in the past year, including with 
the appointment of a full-time harm prevention lead for 
each programme. These are sectors where we can add 
significant value and where drivers for change exist already 
that we can leverage off. We also expect the learnings 
from the pilot of these two harm prevention programmes 
will help us develop our overall harm prevention approach 
and strategy.

Recreational craft safety 
The recreational craft sector is complex and diverse. 
The 2022 Recreational Boating Participation Survey 
indicated that 56 percent of adult New Zealanders (over 
2,100,000 people) had participated in recreational boating 
(craft) at least once in the previous year. Recreational craft 
covers those designed and used for pleasure, including 
kayaks, dinghies, power boats, yachts, and various types 
of boards (such as surfboards and stand-up paddleboards).

Maritime NZ and the New Zealand Safer Boating Forum 
(NZSBF) partners continue to deliver various initiatives 
focused on reducing the number of fatalities and serious 
injuries from recreational boating. Common causes of 
fatalities and serious harm are often interconnected in 
the recreational craft sector and include: people not 
understanding the weather conditions; having limited means 
of calling for help; a lifejacket being available but not worn, 
or a lifejacket that was improperly used; and bar crossings. 

Review of Maritime Rules on Navigation Safety 
(Part 91)
A significant part of our effort to reduce fatalities and serious 
harm in the recreational sector is the work we have done 
to date on reviewing Part 91 of the Maritime Rules on 
Navigational Safety. 

Part 91 applies nationally to a range of vessels but has 
a particular focus on recreational craft. Part 91 currently 
includes requirements for:

•  the carriage of lifejackets

•  vessel speed restrictions

•  a minimum age for the operation of power-driven vessels

•  safety measures for water skiing

•  the specification of special purpose areas on the water.

To date, our work on the Part 91 review has involved:

•  a preliminary consultation process targeting significant 
stakeholder groups with an interest in the recreational 
boating sector, which revealed unanimous support for 
mandatory wearing of lifejackets on small recreational craft

•  preparation of a Cabinet paper and draft discussion 
document outlining new rule proposals

•  completion of an exposure draft of new rules that update 
Part 91 in its entirety to accompany the discussion document.

The review’s proposals include initiatives that will help 
prevent recreational boating fatalities. A focus is on the 
mandatory wearing of lifejackets on smaller recreational 
craft and the carriage of a means of communication with 
the shore or another craft. 

Other proposals aim to provide more general enhancements 
to navigation safety, such as requiring recreational craft 
to be seaworthy, when in operation. The proposals also 
address the misalignment between the national rules on 
navigation safety in Part 91 and navigation bylaws made 
by regional councils, which mean variable navigation safety 
requirements across the country.

We believe the review’s proposals have the potential to 
save lives and significantly improve recreational boating 
safety across New Zealand. The Government is currently 
considering its position on the proposals.

Other initiatives to improve recreational boating 
safety include:

•  a comprehensive research and analysis programme 
to understand why and where, and to whom harm is 
occurring

•  communication and behaviour change campaigns 
(national messaging is then tailored regionally and by 
sector through partner organisations and councils that 
can be used across a variety of water safety settings)

•  compliance and enforcement including investigation and 
on-water approaches

•  grants to partner organisations and councils to support 
community-based initiatives

•  Safer Boating week, which includes digital advertising, 
media and social media elements continuing the safe 
boating message

•  how we pull together the various initiatives occurring by 
us and our partners into an evidence based, multi-year 
harm prevention programme with clearer leadership, and 
how we support the ‘in-water’ (ie, swimming) safety part 
of the system.

Maritime NZ is also a member of the Wai Ora leadership 
group. This group was established to lead the 
implementation of Wai Ora Aotearoa: The New Zealand 
Water Safety Sector Strategy 2025. This is the water safety 
sector’s collective approach to ensuring everyone connects 
to and enjoys the water safely. Our participation in this 
group reflects our view and focus that recreational craft 
safety plays a strong role in ensuring improvements in safety 
outcomes across our primary focus area of safety in, on and 
around the water.
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Our joint response to fatalities in ports
In the light of the tragic fatalities at the ports in Lyttelton 
and Auckland, and in response to requests from Hon 
Michael Wood (Minister for Workplace Relations and Safety 
and Minister of Transport), the Port Health and Safety 
Leadership Group5 broadened its existing programme 
of work. It has expanded and accelerated work being 
progressed by the Leadership Group, under the Port Health 
and Safety Plan, which continues to be a major priority to 
reduce fatalities and serious harm in the ports.

The Leadership Group has brought together representatives 
from across New Zealand’s port ecosystem (including ports, 
stevedoring companies, the Port Industry Association, 
Maritime Union of New Zealand and regulators (Maritime NZ 
and WorkSafe New Zealand).

Current work includes developing an action plan to 
prepare advice for our ministers, with three work streams 
established to develop this advice.

5 Chaired by the Chief Executive of Maritime NZ, the Leadership Group includes: chief executives representing the ports, the Chief Executive of WorkSafe 
New Zealand, the Chair of the Port Industry Association, the National Secretary of the Maritime Union of New Zealand and the National President of the 
Rail and Maritime Transport Union. This will also be extended to stevedoring representatives.

•  Work stream One: Data and insights – to create a 
sector insights picture focused on the causes and drivers 
of harm; who it is happening to and why – focusing on 
stevedoring on ports and other critical risks, such as 
person versus machine. 

•  Work stream Two: Good practice – to collect examples 
of good practice domestically and internationally, 
including the use of interventions to reduce harm, such 
as approved codes of practice, training and education 
initiatives to help understand ‘what good looks like’.

•  Work stream Three: Focus areas and action plan – 
the Leadership Group will share significant findings from 
work streams two and three with the sector, to focus on 
different proposed action areas and develop an indicative 
action plan. 

To immediately respond to the fatalities and address the 
safety concerns on New Zealand ports, we worked with 
WorkSafe New Zealand to assess New Zealand’s 13 ports. 
We also engaged with around 50 PCBUs under the Health 
and Safety at Work Act 2015 (HSWA). This provided us with 
insights into the behaviour of workers in the field and helped 
us better understand the safety system in each port and 
PCBUs operating at the port. We will use the information 
gained through this work to inform our future initiatives 
and support our port harm prevention programme. 
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Ten-year fatality statistics for recreational craft 
help to shape our harm prevention approach

The numbers give us the what. Maritime NZ wants to know more about the why.

The release in 2022 of our ten-year 
report into recreational boating 
fatalities made for grim reading: 
120 deaths in and around 
New Zealand between January 2015 
and December 2021, in 110 incidents 
that may have been preventable.

Senior Data Analyst, Jacob Halliburton, 
says the report provides insights and 
evidence for recreational boating and 
compliance teams at Maritime NZ but 
also for other groups, including the 
New Zealand Safer Boating Forum, 
Water Safety NZ, harbourmasters 
and regional councils.

He says the data confirms the picture 
we are building that people at greater 
risk of injury and death in maritime 
incidents tend to be older males, 
Māori and Pasifika.

“Most interesting was the group that 
emerged: people on kayaks and 
dinghies, not wearing lifejackets, 

and the lack of people able to call for 
help or access their communication 
device after entering the water,” 
he says.

Another group highlighted was those 
in larger powered craft who were 
prepared but not enough for the 
conditions they encountered, including 
bar crossings and big swells.

Maritime NZ’s new Harm Prevention 
Lead, Recreational Craft, Victoria 
Slade, says the report is a rich source 
of data that the organisation and wider 
safer boating sector must build on to 
get a better picture of why so many 
people still engage in risky behaviour.

We need to continue to identify 
the right levers to help change that 
behaviour. This includes working 
with the sector and community to 
co-design effective solutions and 
revisit existing enforcement and 
education programmes to assess 

if current approaches are effectively 
targeting risk.

The report highlighted that a lot of 
harm can be prevented. Regular 
Ipsos/Maritime NZ reports into boatie 
behaviour and motivation (see page 31) 
will help improve that picture. 
This will contribute to a new 
recreational craft strategy being 
developed with the water safety 
sector, weaving in a harm prevention 
approach. 

The foundations of the strategy 
will be based on developing a 
solid understanding of where harm 
is occurring.

“We’ve got to have good data, 
evidence and intelligence, and 
Maritime NZ can’t do this alone, so 
we will work with our partners in the 
New Zealand Safer Boating Forum 
and wider water safety sector,” 
says Victoria.

CASE STUDY

https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/content/recreational/safety-campaigns/documents/recreational-fatal-accidents-2021.pdf
https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/content/recreational/safety-campaigns/documents/recreational-fatal-accidents-2021.pdf
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Safe 
He Haumaru

Clean 
He Mā

Impact 2 
Maritime operators and recreational boating users’ 
safety culture and behaviour improves over time 

To reduce maritime fatality and serious harm rates, we must focus our work 
programmes on improving operator and recreational craft safety culture and behaviour.

6 The desired trend is to increase because it relates to improvements in operator risk-profile scores characterised by a reduction in the average risk score.

7 The Maritime Operator Safety System (MOSS) is one of New Zealand’s primary regulatory frameworks for enabling safe people and operations. Operators 
require a Maritime Transport Operator Certificate and must prepare a Maritime Transport Operator Plan. MOSS audits are undertaken to assess performance 
against the MOSS framework. 

To monitor change over time, we undertake regular surveys 
and gather intelligence and insights that inform our education, 
marketing and on-water campaigns. We work with partner 
agencies to support delivery of grass-roots initiatives, 
communication channels and programmes that improve safer 

boating behaviour in the recreational and commercial sectors. 
Our frontline regulatory activities are also a major part of our 
efforts to improve safety culture and behaviour, and we do this 
through audits, inspections and investigations of New Zealand’s 
domestic operators and international ships.

OUTCOMES IMPACT 
INDICATORS

DESIRED 
INDICATOR 
TREND

ASSESSMENT OF 
ACHIEVEMENT 

Recreational 
boating 
behaviours 
and attitudes 
(through survey 
and observation) 

Trend and 2021/22 results
Survey and observation results provide evidence that recreational boating 
behaviours and attitudes are improving over time, but some risky behaviours 
persist. 

The results of the IPSOS Recreational Boating Participation Survey show 
that, overall, safety behaviours have varied (see page 31) but remain relatively 
consistent. Of note, over the past two years:

•  A statistically significant increase has occurred in the percentage 
of surveyed boaties carrying two forms of communication.

•  The number of boaties avoiding alcohol has increased.

Results from the ‘No Excuses’ campaign findings were mixed and showed that:

•  The proportion of recreational boating participants carrying at least one form 
of communication devices recorded a campaign high (well above the IPSOS 
survey results).

•  Commercial operators carrying multiple devices and at least one form of 
waterproof communication device on board declined.

•  Lifejacket carriage decreased marginally.

•  Lifejackets being worn when legally required remained steady.

•  Declining compliance by operators of dinghies and stand-up paddleboards 
but increases among kayaks and yachts. 

Improvement 
in commercial 
operators' risk 
profile6 (Maritime 
Operator Safety 
System (MOSS))

Trend and 2021/22 results
MOSS7 risk-profile scores are improving over time.

• Since 2015, when MOSS was introduced, we have seen a steady decline 
in the average combined risk-profile score (while seeing an increase in the 
number of operators coming into MOSS), from a risk-profile score of 26.9 in 
2015/16 to 22.7 in 2021/22. Over the past two financial years, the risk profile 
has stabilised, with the average risk-profile score at 22.7 in 2020/21 for the 
1,694 MOSS operators.

• An increase has occurred in the number of operators with low risk-profile 
scores year on year, from 347 in 2015/16 to 1,101 in 2021/22 (see figure 7, 
page 33).

 

Our outputs that support Impact 2
2.3 Inspection and audit Page 86

2.4 Investigation and enforcement Page 86

5.1 Information, education and engagement Page 92
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Impact indicators further explained

Recreational Boating Participation Survey
The Recreational Boating Participation Research conducted 
for Maritime NZ and the NZSBF, by global research firm 
IPSOS, continued in 2021/22. All recreational boat surveys 
conducted in the year met Maritime NZ’s quality criteria 
(see Output 5.1.4, page 92). 

Each quarter, around 1,000 people from a survey panel 
provide useful insights that guide our education and 
information campaigns to influence recreational craft user 
behaviour. The most prominent of these, Kia Mataara 
(“Know the ways of the water before you let go of the land”), 
was launched through a series of television advertisements 
this year. This was one of 16 recreation, information and 
education campaigns run over the year (see page 34 and 
Output 5.1.1, page 92).

Over the past two years, the IPSOS Recreational Boating 
Participation Survey results8 (see figure 6)  for the 
recommended safety behaviours promoted by Maritime NZ 
and the NZSBF show that, every time and most of the time 
boat users go out: 

•  61 percent say they carry at least two forms of waterproof 
communication – an increase of 5 percent from last year, 
a statistically significant change

•  78 percent say they avoid alcohol – an increase of 
2 percent on last year

•  87 percent say they check a suitable weather forecast – 
an increase of 1 percent on last year

•  83 percent say they carry enough lifejackets that fit 
everyone – the same as last year

•  80 percent say they wear lifejackets – the same as last year.

8 Changes were made to the way these questions are asked. This means the data are collected in a way that’s only broadly equivalent to prior years, so 
caution should be taken when comparing results pre-2021. The following caveats and limitations apply.

a) The Recreational Boating Tracker for safety and participation is completed by about 4,000 people per year. Panel membership means that, while the 
sample is demographically nationally representative, it is necessarily made up of people who have signed up to do surveys. This means the data are 
inevitably biased, based on the extent to which people who sign up to do surveys are likely to be the same as people who go out on the water. 
This view suggests participation rates, at least, are under-represented.

b) Surveys are anonymous so we don’t know what proportion of the participation each quarter is made up of the same or new people.

c) The survey is a self-reporting questionnaire, and so we are not in a position to verify whether self-reported behaviours and attitudes actually play out 
that way in reality. In addition, self-reported behaviours presume accurate recall. While the time has been reduced from 12 months to three, the relatively 
infrequent nature of boating in general combines with the likelihood that safety is an ephemeral memory unless something striking occurs to place 
limitations on interpreting the data as a reliable indicator.

d) Self-reported participation rates are up to a historic high of 56 percent of the adult population. Any conclusions drawn from survey responses should 
be taken in light of the rise in participation rates, suggesting many new or ‘rusty’ boaties are now active.

e) Finally, knowledge of organisations involved in water and craft safety and recall of their messages and campaigns are always imperfect, so the data 
should not be seen as a measure of organisational performance but as an indicator of behaviour only.

The overall picture is relatively consistent across the 
main behaviour data, with some improvements 
evident. Other findings from the most recent IPSOS 
quarterly survey results suggest that:

•  participation is at its highest-ever level, with 56 percent 
of Kiwis using recreational craft 

•  an increase has occurred in younger and novice craft 
users aged 25–44 years

•  females now outnumber males for the first time ever

•  family and friends are the biggest influencers of boating 
behaviour

•  passengers over rated the capability of skippers

•  complacency is the biggest barrier to wearing lifejackets

•  the proportion of craft using foils or people who said they 
towed has increased.

We have begun asking respondents about the compliance 
of recreational boaties with marine protection rules, 
which provides a snapshot of general understanding and 
adherence to these rules. With regard to knowing what 
the law requires and usually following it, responses were 
mixed and indicated a lack of awareness of environmental 
protection rules: 

•  52 percent knew the types of garbage that can be thrown 
overboard

•  40 percent knew what to do with waste fluid

•  33 percent knew they needed to report observed oil spills 
to authorities, which suggests such events are likely to be 
significantly under-reported. 
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Survey results and on-water observation suggest boating behaviour is being maintained or improving, however, opportunities for 
improvement remain. To do this, we will continue to use data and observation to evolve our strategies and behavioural change campaigns 
to influence behaviour. 

Figure 6: IPSOS survey results on safer boating behaviours9 

‘No Excuses’ on-water observation 

9 Survey results include responses of ‘every time’ and ‘most of the time’ combined, shown as a percentage. This method differs from those in earlier 
annual reports, where one or both of these responses was used. For consistency, we’ve reproduced the results from 2016/17 onwards using both counts 
combined in figure 6.

The ‘No Excuses’ on-water education and compliance 
campaign ran again in 2021/22. This joint Maritime NZ 
and regional council programme encourages good safety 
practices in recreational boating and is run annually through 
summer. 

Between November 2021 and April 2022, a web-based 
on-water survey was conducted to capture details of the 
interaction between recreational vessel skippers and ‘No 
Excuses’ participants. These participants included regional 
and district council staff, Maritime NZ staff and Maritime Police.  

Such observations provide a valuable dataset for analysing 
the effectiveness of boating safety messaging and overall 
compliance with the Boating Safety Code, Maritime Rules 
on Navigation Safety Part 91 and regional safety bylaws. We 
share the data with members of the NZSBF, where they are 
used to help guide safety strategy and messaging. We also 
share the data with participating councils, where they are 
used to evaluate the effectiveness of past campaigns and 
influence the direction of future ‘No Excuses’ campaigns. 

Around 7,700 interactions were recorded this summer, more 
than double last year’s campaign and all other campaigns 
to date, driven by the increase in interactions captured in 
the Bay of Plenty region. This brings the total to over 22,000 
on-water observations since the programme began. 

Notably, this campaign was the first to use an ArcGIS-
based survey platform, Survey123, allowing geolocation 
data for on-water interactions to be captured. This survey 

platform replaced the previous collection method, where 
surveys were collected on mobile tablet and uploaded at a 
later date, generally at the end of the campaign. Survey123 
allowed instantaneous collection and upload of survey 
responses, with ‘No Excuses’ participants able to log into 
an online portal for real-time analysis of survey data. 

The observations for this year, compared with last year’s 
campaign, showed promising trends along with persistent 
risky behaviour.

• The proportion of recreational boating participants 
carrying at least one form of communication device 
recorded a ‘No Excuses’ campaign high of 97 percent 
(up from 93 percent last year). However, operators carrying 
multiple devices declined (61 percent to 56 percent), and 
at least one form of waterproof communication device on 
board also declined (73 percent to 67 percent).

• Lifejacket carriage decreased marginally to 94 percent 
from 95 percent last year.

• Lifejackets being worn when legally required remained 
steady at 80 percent.

• Declines occurred in compliance with wearing lifejackets 
among operators of dinghies (81 percent to 65 percent) 
and stand-up paddleboards (60 percent to 50 percent), 
however, increases were evident among kayaks 
(88 percent to 93 percent) and yachts (34 percent 
to 68 percent).
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• Compliance with wearing lifejackets among operators 
of powerboats decreased slightly, from 80 percent to 
77 percent, the lowest rate of compliance for this vessel 
type in any campaign to date.

Maritime Operator Safety System risk profile 
One of New Zealand’s primary regulatory frameworks 
for enabling safe people and operations is MOSS. 
New Zealand’s domestic commercial sector ranges from 
large multi-industry companies to small family owned 
businesses. Since 2014, MOSS has grown to include 
almost 1,700 operators who are subject to regular audits 
by Maritime NZ. 

10 In figure 7, the high, standard and low risk ranges for operator counts are based on our internal risk ranges. High risk more than 62.5, standard risk between 
25–62.5 and low risk less than 25.

11 This trend information includes MOSS operators where their Operating status is ‘Closed’ or ‘Not Operating’. It excludes operators with no risk-profile score 
yet (these are new and have not had their first audit).

MOSS risk-profile scores are a mechanism to rate the risk 
level of a new operator.10 The risk-profile score sets the audit 
frequency and is updated each time an operator is audited 
under the MTA and assessed under the HSWA. Higher risk 
operators are audited more regularly, to encourage and 
ensure improvements to their safety systems. 

As the trend shows, since 2015, a steady decline has 
occurred in the average combined risk-profile score for 
MOSS operators. This has stabilised over the past two 
years, at a time when an increase has occurred in MOSS 
operator numbers. This steady score may be influenced by 
the high number of self-audits undertaken in recent years, 
because these do not change risk-profile scores. 
 
 

Figure 7: Count of Maritime Operator Safety System operators11 and their risk profile scores, 
2013/14 to 2020/21 
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Our progress, achievements 
and challenges

Improving our operating practices
This year, we undertook various activities to improve how 
we operate and ensure we are able to effectively regulate 
and influence the behaviours of operators and recreational 
boaties. These activities are in the process of being further 
developed or implemented and include changes and 
improvements, such as:

•  establishing a new, dedicated notifications and enquiries 
team to make sure we have a systematic, centralised, 
efficient and effective way of triaging and responding 
to notifications and enquiries. The benefit of this is less 
reactive and fewer ad hoc responses required from 
frontline staff, enabling them to more productively carry 
out their roles

•  establishing a new maritime inspections team to provide 
specific focus on and increased capacity for Flag and 
Port State Control (PSC) inspections, HSWA inspections 
on ports as well as other related activities

•  improving our regulatory policies, practices and 
processes to support our day-to-day operations and 
decisions, including a compliance decision-making 
framework to guide our responsive work.

Enhancing stakeholder engagement
During the year, we increased our interactions with the 
maritime sector through focused visits by our board, chief 
executive and executive leadership team. These visits and 
engagements to ports and operators help ensure we stay 
focused on the right things and that this is built into our 
overall organisational approach. 

Our staff engaged with a broadening range of 
stakeholders, such as port staff, regional councils, 
sector groups and other government agencies to build 
co-regulatory relationships.

Notable examples of our engagements included:

•  conducting workshops focused on health and safety 
issues with ports, operators, unions and workers, as 
part of our comprehensive sector outreach to respond to 
COVID-19 

•  working closely with the Navigational Safety Group, a 
formal network of regional harbourmasters from around 
the country that meet twice a year, on both educational 
programmes (Fuel Excise Duty grants programme, see 
page 34 and case study on page 36) and compliance 
activities (the ‘No Excuses’ campaign, see page 32)

•  presenting to representatives from Ngati Whatua during 
safer boating courses. This was a good opportunity to 
educate iwi on our role, to promote safety and enhance 
relationships.

Advertising and education campaigns
During 2021/22, 16 information and education campaigns 
were conducted (well ahead of the target of 3 to 5). 
Highlights for the year were:

•  the nationwide launch of the safer boating behaviour 
change campaign Kia Mataara, in January 2022. 
The campaign targets recreational boaties and 
encourages them to adhere to the five ways to stay 
safe on the water, supporting the Safer Boating Code. 
The campaign has been effective in the short time it 
has been in the market. Maritime NZ’s campaign 
targets boaties, while other NZSBF partners use the 
Kia Mataara umbrella to target other recreational craft

•  a revised national boating safety ‘What’s your plan?’ 
campaign, ran for the first time in winter

•  the Safer Boating Week campaign ran in October and 
continued through to Christmas

•  a campaign ran in July to support World Drowning 
Prevention Day

•  redesign was undertaken of the www.beacons.org.nz 
website.

Throughout 2021/22, 18 information campaigns were run 
aimed at commercial operators. This was well ahead of 
our target of 3–5 (for more, see Output 5.1.2 on page 92). 
Highlights included:

•  a new ‘Prep, Check, Know’ brochure, focused on 
essential rules

•  a MARPOL (International Convention for the Prevention 
of Pollution from Ships) Annex VI brochure, focused on 
new requirements

•  section 31 of the MTA, advice and reminder flier to 
accompany operating certificates

•  fatigue risk management flier 

•  person versus plant flier 

•  COVID-19 ‘Traffic Light’ tiles developed for social media 
posts and websites. 

Over the year, 66 guidance documents and publications to 
industry were published, well above a target of 30 to 40 
(see Output 5.1.3, page 92). The major factor in this 
increase was information on COVID-19 health and safety 
(including translations of and updates to guidance) for 
operators, ship agents, port workers and seafarers. 

Supporting safer boating: Fuel Excise Duty 
grants funding
Since last year, Maritime NZ has used Fuel Excise Duty 
funding to support safer boating initiatives to educate and 
influence behaviour to improve safety among recreational 
craft users.

In 2021/22, $740,000 was distributed to 21 on-water and 
land-based initiatives as part of the 2021 Safer Boating 
Campaign. Around 10 percent of the funding was allocated 
to the on-water ‘No Excuses’ campaign. This brings 
harbourmasters from the 14 participating district and 
regional councils to join with Maritime NZ staff to check 

http://www.beacons.org.nz
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and ensure boaties know, understand and follow the rules, 
including lifejacket wearing and safe speed. 

Other initiatives funded include programmes to upgrade 
lifejackets, focus on skipper responsibility, safety training for 
kayakers, paddle boarders and waka ama paddlers, diver 
supervision, yachting training for children and a drowning 
prevention programme specifically targeted at the Pacific 
Island community. For more, see case study on page 36.

For a summary of each grant, see: Maritime NZ: $740,000 
for 21 national and regional safer boating initiatives – 
Maritime NZ

Of the allocated funds, 92 percent was used, slightly below 
our target (see Output 5.1.5, page 92). One applicant 
was not able to execute their campaign due to red light 
settings and COVID-19 related health and safety concerns. 
Subsequently, they returned their entire funding allocation. 

Compliance and enforcement activities
COVID-19 border controls and nationwide lockdowns 
continued to reduce access to ships in 2021/22. 
The 14-day quarantine requirements for ships entering 
New Zealand waters often meant ships arrived and 
departed before they were cleared for boarding and we 
were able to inspect them.

Access and availability issues hindered our ability to inspect 
all higher risk ships entering New Zealand waters, however, 
we were able to inspect 75.6 percent of these, above our 
target of greater than or equal to 70 percent. 

Furthermore, all 12 New Zealand flagged ships with a 
scheduled inspection were inspected (see Output 2.3.2, 
page 86).

In the past year, we completed 161 PSC ship inspections, 
which was below our target of 200 (see Output 2.3.4, 
page 86). However, as noted above, we have 
acknowledged the challenges in this area and, in response, 
have established a dedicated maritime inspections team to 
bring more focus and capacity to this important function. 

To promote safety, we hold participants to account through 
our investigations and related enforcement activities, 
which allow us to promote compliance more widely to the 
maritime sector. Over the year, 80 percent of prosecutions 
brought under the MTA and/or HSWA resulted in the 
relevant parties being held to account, meeting our target 
of 80 percent (see Output 2.4.2, page 86). Furthermore, 
96.8 percent of investigations were concluded within 
12 months of being opened (see Output 2.4.1, page 86).

https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/public/news/2021/august/maritime-nz-740-000-for-21-national-and-regional-safer-boating-initiatives
https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/public/news/2021/august/maritime-nz-740-000-for-21-national-and-regional-safer-boating-initiatives
https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/public/news/2021/august/maritime-nz-740-000-for-21-national-and-regional-safer-boating-initiatives
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Safer boating grants aim to build safety culture

In 2021/22, Maritime NZ distributed more than $740,000 in funding to 21 safer 
boating initiatives that aim to reduce recreational boating fatalities and injuries.

The purpose of these grants is to 
improve safety for the 2.1 million 
Kiwis who enjoy the water each 
year. They are a practical way to 
support organisations and council 
programmes that engage directly 
with boaties. The Government 
provides the funding for safer boating 
grants from the Fuel Excise Duty on 
petrol. A proportion of this duty is 
paid by recreational boaties fuelling 
power boats.

Sharyn Forsyth, Deputy Chief 
Executive Partnerships, says research 
shows that a third of all boaties do 
not undertake any special planning 
before they head out onto the water. 
Funding was therefore allocated to 
activities that targeted higher risk 
populations and communities, and 
supported active risk identification 
and management. This included 
programmes focused on increasing 
the availability and use of lifejackets.

Initiatives funded included 
programmes that focus on skipper 
responsibility, including safety training 
for kayakers, paddle boarders and 
waka ama paddlers, diver supervision, 
yachting training for children and a 

drowning prevention programme 
specifically targeted at Asian and 
Pacific Island communities.

Bay of Plenty Regional Council 
ran a pilot education programme 
during the summer to provide safer 
boating training specific to the needs 
of individual iwi and hapū. Grants 
were also given to boating safety 
campaigns in areas with high Māori 
populations, including Te Tai Tokerau/
Northland and Te Tairāwhiti/East 
Coast. Funding was also provided 
to support Coastguard Boating 
Education’s Folau Malu programme.

All of the funded programmes involved 
direct engagement with communities 
and focus activity on the greatest 
need. An example is Drowning 
Prevention Auckland’s lifejacket 
hubs where people can access 
lifejackets, in partnership with local 
boat clubs, surf club, community and 
church organisations.

Nearly 10 percent of the funding 
– $70,000 – was allocated to the 
on-water ‘No Excuses’ campaign. 
This sees harbourmasters join with 
Maritime NZ staff to check that 

boaties know, understand and follow 
the rules, including lifejacket wearing 
and safe speed (for more, see pages 
34 and 92).

When we combine our resources 
with our partners, we achieve more. 
We have a shared interest in keeping 
boaties safe on the water.

CASE STUDY
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 Focus on improving port safety

Following tragic port worker deaths at Auckland and Lyttelton, the Te Manatū 
Waka (Ministry of Transport) requested further action be taken to address risks 
at ports across New Zealand.

Maritime NZ initiated a three-part work 
programme focused on providing 
advice to the Minister of Transport 
from the Port Health and Safety 
Leadership Group and conducting 
assessments at ports. The three work 
streams are: 

1. data and insights, establishing the 
causes and drivers of harm and 
who is affected 

2. establishing best practice by 
examining international and 
domestic examples 

3.  identifying focus areas and 
developing an action plan.| 
A separate investigation is also 
being carried out by the Transport 
Accident Investigation Commission.

Maritime NZ’s Director, Kirstie Hewlett, 
says advice from the Port Health and 
Safety Leadership Group will form a 
central part of the work addressing the 
Minister’s request, identifying priority 
actions for the future to improve 
safety in ports, including considering 
regulatory standards.

Chaired by the Chief Executive of 
Maritime NZ, the Port Health and 
Safety Leadership Group includes: 
chief executives representing 
the ports, the Chief Executive of 
WorkSafe New Zealand, the Chair 
of the Port Industry Association, 
the National Secretary of the 
Maritime Union of New Zealand, 
the National President of the Rail 
and Maritime Transport Union, and 
stevedoring representatives.

The work has involved significant 
collaboration with representatives of 
those working in and around ports 
around the country responding to this 
important safety issue.

From the start of the work programme 
– and throughout 2022 – the group 
is focusing on generating insights on 
where harm is occurring by analysing 
information from regulators, unions, 
stevedores, ports and workers. 

The Port Health and Safety Leadership 
Group is also seeking examples of 
good practice from New Zealand and 
overseas. This includes interventions 

to reduce harm, such as approved 
codes of practice, training, education, 
safety design and equipment, and 
leadership and worker initiatives. 
The sector is also being encouraged 
to share insights and examples of 
good practice.

An integral part of the work 
programme is focusing on high 
level port assessments conducted 
in conjunction with WorkSafe 
New Zealand. The visits to 50 Persons 
Conducting a Business or Undertaking 
at 13 ports produced findings and 
themes that have been reported on 
and incorporated into the overall 
insights on ports and performance.

We thank the port companies, 
stevedoring firms and unions for their 
cooperation with and commitment to 
this important work.

CASE STUDYCASE STUDY
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Impact 3 
New Zealand has competent and capable 
people working in the maritime industry

Competent and capable maritime participants are the foundation of a safe, secure 
and clean maritime industry. As a modern and effective regulator, our role is to 
ensure participants in the maritime system meet the appropriate standards and 
have the relevant knowledge and experience required of them. 

We are committed to understanding the needs and 
challenges of maritime participants in fulfilling their 
obligations, by providing advice and help where possible. 

Our activities in this area include:
•  entry and exit controls through our certification and 

registration regime 

•  monitoring compliance through our audit and inspection work 
(of domestic and international vessels and maritime schools) 

•  enforcement through our investigations and prosecutions 
•  education through our published guidance and 

engagement efforts 
•  strengthening our regulatory capability and performance 

through our training programmes and improvement projects. 

OUTCOMES IMPACT 
INDICATOR

DESIRED 
INDICATOR 
TREND

ASSESSMENT OF 
ACHIEVEMENT 

Commercial 
vessels 
crewed by 
people holding 
appropriate 
certification

Trend
Through our certification and compliance activities, we focus on ensuring 
competent and capable people are working in the industry.

• We continue to see an increase in the number seafarer certificate 
applications and renewals received. Since 2016/17, the increase 
in 2021/22 was 25 percent. In 2020/21, it was 17.6 percent.

• We are also seeing an overall reduction in MOSS operators’ risk-profile 
scores since 2015/16 (see figure 7, page 33), which indicates increasing 
competent and capable people.

Results for 2021/22
• Processed 3,540 certificates of which 2,391 were seafarer certificates, however, 

average processing times (of 20 working days) did not meet our target.

• Our entry controls prevent applicants who do not meet the requirements from 
entering the maritime system. Each year, some seafarer certificate applications 
are declined, mostly due to the applicant not meeting the criteria of the 
certificate they are applying for. In 2021/22, we declined 130 applications.

• Fit and Proper Person assessments were carried out on all seafarers, 
as part of the application process.

• Auditing and inspections on operations assess compliance of in-charge crew 
holding the appropriate certification.

• We completed 186 investigations as well as 16 successful prosecutions, 
including two Enforceable Undertakings (see page 41 for a case study of one 
of these).

• We continue to increase our industry engagement, particularly with the 
maritime schools, to support seafarer awareness and understanding of the 
certificate requirements.

• We are strengthening our entry controls, as part of the work we are doing 
in our Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga certification work stream, for example, 
by building additional quality controls into processes for all applications, to 
ensure the correct evidence is provided to prove compliance with criteria.

 

Our outputs that support Impact 3

2.2 Certification and registration Page 85

2.3 Inspection and audit Page 86

2.4 Investigation and enforcement Page 86

5.1 Information, education and engagement Page 92

Safe 
He Haumaru

Clean 
He Mā
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Our progress, achievements 
and challenges

Entry and exit controls
To enter and stay in the New Zealand maritime system, 
both seafarers and operators must meet entry and renewal 
requirements. 

For seafarers, this includes an assessment of their 
competencies and relevant experience, along with a 
determination of whether they are fit and proper. To 
determine whether an applicant is fit and proper, we 
consider several factors. These include the degree 
and nature of the applicant’s proposed involvement in 
maritime activities, the applicant’s compliance history with 
transport regulatory requirements, relevant experience 
and knowledge, history of physical or mental health, and 
convictions for certain offences.12

These fit and proper assessments use historical factors to 
consider how the applicant will conduct themselves in the 
future. A seafarer must remain fit and proper for the lifetime 
of their participation in the maritime system or risk losing 
their maritime document(s). 

For operators in New Zealand, this includes assessing 
applications for Minimum Safe Crewing Documents, to 
ensure vessels are crewed by the appropriate number of 
seafarers who hold the required certification for the safe 
operation of the vessel. In addition, all commercial operators 
in New Zealand are required to enter one of our operator 
safety systems, such as MOSS. 

This year, we received 3,854 maritime documents, 
statutory certificates (including 2,391 seafarer certificates) 
and permits from those in the maritime domain. Of the 
3,540 that progressed to assessment, the percentage 
of applications processed within 20 working days 
(32.1 percent) was not as high as we would have liked 
(see Output 2.2.1, page 85). This was due to resourcing 
constraints, staff turnover and recruitment challenges in 
filling roles, as well as improvements required in our systems 
and processes that we have identified. A certification work 
stream is being established as part of our Te Korowai o 
Kaitiakitanga programme, and through this we will continue 
to make improvements to address challenges we face. 

Addressing key regulatory challenges 
As part of Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga, we have identified 
areas where regulatory risks exist and we need to make 
several changes in terms of processes, systems, capability 
and capacity. Three of the main areas identified that we are 
working on as part of the programme include certification 
and licensing, PSC inspections and MOSS.

Certification and licensing
For several reasons, including the impacts of the COVID-19 
pandemic, we have not been able to process certification 
applications in a timely enough way and this has caused 
backlogs and industry significant concern. We have 
implement a plan to address the issues and progress is 
being made. 

12 Section 50 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994.

Addressing immediate needs and Te Korowai o 
Kaitiakitanga work stream

We understand that a programme such as Te Korowai 
o Kaitiakitanga takes time to implement, so we actioned 
an immediate needs plan to address the needs of the 
Certification Team. The plan aimed provide short-term 
improvements (with a focus on reducing backlogs) so 
Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga could focus on addressing 
longer term solutions. 

The Immediate Needs Plan focused on four areas we felt 
could have immediate effect: 

1.  building added capacity in the team 

2.  freeing up advisor time on administrative tasks 

3.  supporting advisors with timely decision making on more 
complex applications 

4.  improving communication with our applicants and the 
maritime sector.

In a short time, we have made good strides in the right 
direction. Our increased communication and engagement 
with the sector is showing early signs the plan is beginning 
to produce positive results both internally and with 
stakeholders. 

While a lot of work is still needed to achieve our 
performance targets, we are progressing well and 
will continue to look for both short- and longer-term 
solutions that serve to strengthen our regulatory capability 
and performance.

Port State Control
PSC is the inspection of international ships against 
international conventions around safety, environmental 
protection and labour. Given most of New Zealand’s imports 
and exports travel by sea, PSC is an important activity 
to ensure the safety and security of New Zealand through 
its ports. 

Over the past few years, our PSC activity has declined 
and we have not met our annual targets. Examination of 
our PSC function revealed several reasons for this decline. 
These include COVID-19 lockdowns and restrictions 
significantly affecting the number of ships we could inspect 
and resourcing constraints limiting our capacity in respect 
of our highest areas of risk.

Looking more closely at why our PSC function has had 
resourcing constraints, we can see a gap between how 
we are set up, our resourcing requirements and allocations, 
and our regulatory responsibilities. To ensure we can 
prioritise and effectively resource our work in this area, 
over the past year, we have employed people with large 
ship experience who are undertaking the rigorous training 
programme, and we will be setting up a new port state and 
flag state team that will have dedicated resources to focus 
on PSC and the safety of New Zealand ports. 
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MOSS and the MOSS evaluation
Our evaluation of our MOSS programme, combined with 
feedback from staff and the sector, identified the need to 
review and redesign the MOSS framework to ensure our 
monitoring and management of MOSS is fit for purpose 
and future proofed. We are therefore looking to review 
the MOSS system alongside MOSS renewals, which are 
coming up over the next two-to-three years.

Monitoring and enforcement
Our audit and inspection work provides assurance to the 
maritime domain that seafarers and operators continue to 
meet their obligations once they have entered the system. 
We audit domestic maritime operations, to ensure they 
are operating safely and meet statutory requirements. 
This includes a requirement for employing properly certified 
crew members. If seafarers and operators do not meet 
their obligations, we will use enforcement to hold them to 
account. 

A risk-based inspection regime also applies to 
convention-sized vessels, as part of the Memorandum of 
Understanding on Port State Control in the Asia–Pacific 
region, known as the Tokyo MOU. This includes prioritised, 
targeted inspections of these vessels and their operations, 
a component of which is ensuring they are appropriately 
crewed. 

If, during an audit or inspection, we determine a vessel is 
not appropriately crewed, we have the ability to prevent the 
vessel from operating until it has the required certified crew 
members on board. 

Maritime schools 
To provide maritime ancillary courses that are recognised 
by Maritime NZ, maritime training institutes in New Zealand 
must seek approval from Maritime NZ for each course 
they intend to provide. We must be satisfied the training 
programme for each course meets specific requirements. 

Over the past 12 months, 39 courses were processed 
and approved across the five training providers. Course 
approvals are renewed every five years, so in the next 
three-to-four years we expect to process and approve 
amendments to 12 under section 50 of the MTA. 

Ancillary courses are those that provide seafarers with 
proficiency in skills additional to the core theory training 
courses they are required to complete to gain their 
certificate to work on ships. Seafarers are required to 
refresh ancillary training every five years. 

Education and engagement
To help participants in the maritime system meet the 
appropriate standards, and understand the relevant 
knowledge and experience required, we have: 

•  ensured the entry control process is supported by easily 
accessible and publicly available guidance materials 

•  provided advice and help to applicants by phone, email 
and web enquiry form 

•  published four updates on application forms and 
guidance relating to seafarer certification, vessel status, 
applications for authorised persons and surveyor 
performance requirements 

•  listened to stakeholder concerns and ideas, and 
provided guidance and help through forums, such as the 
Surveyor Seminar, Examiners Forum, Commercial Fishing 
Federation Conference and the Maritime School. 
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Enforceable undertaking funds new fishing 
industry training

An enforceable undertaking between Maritime NZ, a South Island fishing company 
and the company’s director included funding training to help reduce the number of 
collisions involving watch-keeping failures. 

Enforceable undertakings are an 
important part of the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 2015 that many in the 
maritime sector are still not aware of.  

They are an alternative to sentencing 
and work on three levels: they make 
amends to victims, and promote 
safety at that workplace and to the 
wider industry and community. They 
are voluntary and, once in place, are 
legally binding.  

Maritime NZ wants the sector to be 
aware of enforceable undertakings 
and to understand them. Copies of 
enforceable undertakings and further 
information are available on our 
website. 

Maritime NZ and Pegasus 
Fishing Limited 
A collision outside the entrance 
to Lyttelton between a 180-metre 
bulk carrier, Rose Harmony, and a 
24-metre fishing vessel, Leila Jo, 
operated by Pegasus Fishing Limited 
highlights how an enforceable 
undertaking can work. 

The $175,000 undertaking funded 
the development of watch-keeping 
training at the Westport Deep Sea 
Fishing School and online through 
Guard Safety. This training is now 
available for the whole industry. 

Pegasus also paid reparations to crew 
on Leila Jo, funded additional training 
for some of its crew and skippers and 
installed new intercoms and radar on 
vessels. 

In addition, it enabled vessels and 
crew to take part in Westpac Rescue 
Helicopter training exercises, and 
made a donation to Coastguard 
Sumner for new equipment. 

Enforceable undertakings 
practice guide 
The practice guide is available on the 
Maritime NZ website and outlines the 
process Maritime NZ will follow. In 
summary, the process is: 

1. Registering interest – any ‘duty 
holder’ (in the wording of the Act) 
seeking to enter into an enforceable 
undertaking must first express their 
interest to the Director of Maritime 
New Zealand. 

2. Section 47 review – this is the 
most serious offence under the 
Act: reckless conduct that causes 
risk of serious injury, serious illness 
or death. Maritime New Zealand 
cannot accept an enforceable 
undertaking if it believes this section 
has been breached.

3. The suitability assessment – 
Maritime New Zealand considers 
whether an enforceable undertaking 
is a suitable outcome, given the 
nature and specific circumstances 
of a breach, as well as any relevant 
past conduct and key public interest 
factors.

4. Submitting an application – 
the practice guide explains what 
information to provide.

5. Considering the application – 
Maritime New Zealand undertakes 
a thorough process before making 
a decision.

6. Monitoring the enforceable 
undertaking – this section includes 
monitoring, non-compliance, 
variation and withdrawal.

7. Completion of the enforceable 
undertaking.

CASE STUDY
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Impact 4 
New Zealand’s maritime transport system 
ensures that people and goods are protected

Protecting people and goods means we provide maritime security and 
intelligence advice and expertise that minimise security threats to New Zealand’s 
maritime interests.

13 See the Maritime Security Strategy 2020, for more information.

14 The impact indicator desired trend is to maintain not having any significant security incidents that raise the security levels for ports. This differs from what 
was published in our Statement of Intent 2021–2025 where the desired trend was an increase in security incident reporting. We now consider an increase 
of such reporting does not necessarily reflect improved security practices, given the incidents are generally minor (such as staff forgetting their work 
identification), hence the change to the desired trend being maintained rather than increasing.

15 Maritime NZ operates within the New Zealand national security framework and this provides situational advice and warning to assess security for 
New Zealand’s ports. Having access to reliable information allows us to have good situational awareness and the ability for ports to react in a timely 
manner. The current terrorism threat level for New Zealand is assessed as MEDIUM: a terrorist attack is feasible and could well occur.

We are also charged with implementing the International 
Ship and Port Facility Security (ISPS) Code, in accordance 
with the Maritime Security Act 2004. Cooperating with other 
enforcement agencies, including intelligence exchange, is 
also one of our important functions. New Zealand faces 
growing pressure across its maritime domain, so we 
recognise the increased role we need to play in any all-of-
government responses to security threats. This includes:

• increasing and more complex challenges to 
New Zealand’s border and resource protection effort, 
in particular, the escalation in threat of seaborne illicit 
drug importation and increased pressure on maritime 
resources

• the need to step up maritime security efforts in 
New Zealand’s waters and play our role in implementing 
the Maritime Security Strategy13

•  a more demanding geopolitical environment

•  the impacts of climate change.

OUTCOME IMPACT 
INDICATOR

DESIRED 
INDICATOR 
TREND14 

ASSESSMENT OF 
ACHIEVEMENT 

Security 
incidents 
reported15 

Trend
• The trend of zero significant security incidents has continued.

• New Zealand’s terrorism threat level remains at MEDIUM.

Results for 2021/22
• No security incidents were reported that required raising port security levels.

• All ports remain compliant with the Maritime Safety Act 2004.

• All ports that come under the ISPS Code have undergone an assessment 
and are compliant.

 

Our outputs that support Impact 4 2.1 Maritime security Page 85

 

Secure 
He Whita

https://www.transport.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Report/MaritimeSecurityStrategy.pdf
https://maritimenz.govt.nz/content/about/statements-of-intent/default.asp
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Our progress, achievements 
and challenges

Maritime security readiness and response
Each year, we assess the capability16 of ports to respond 
to security issues or threats. The matrix we use looks at 
three levels of security incidents or threats (minor/routine, 
significant, major), as discussed below.

Minor/routine17

Since the establishment of the Maritime Security Act in 
2004, all port security incidents have been of a minor 
nature. Ports have reported these incidents and responded 
both effectively and efficiently. Ports have the ability to 
increase security levels with enhanced capability and are 
competent in doing so.

Significant18

During 2021/22, no evidence has been seen that 
the COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected the 
performance of port security. Overall, through exercise and 
inspections oversight, port capability has not changed and 
remains positive. Annually, all New Zealand ports undertake 
port security exercises. All ports are able to respond to 
an incident of a significant nature that would warrant 
consideration for increasing port security levels. Additional 
capability and security measures would be sought and 
introduced. This has been tested through security exercises 
and all ports have responded appropriately. Should a need 
arise to secure additional governmental resources, this is 
also possible because Maritime NZ is well connected to 
the national security system.

Major19

Port security capability remains effective and efficient. 
No degradation of port security capability occurred over 
the year. Should a major security incident arise, port staff 
are required to evacuate personnel. This event has been 
tested and all ports are able to undertake the preliminary 
notification and actual evacuation effectively. Port staff have 
good relationships with local enforcement and response 
agencies, and with Maritime NZ, to enable them to secure 
resources from the national security process for first-line 
responders. Maritime NZ will continue to provide updated 
and current intelligence through its connection with the 
New Zealand intelligence community.

Increased security risks
Despite the positive trend in ports remaining capable to 
respond to security issues or threats, new security risks 
are emerging, such as insider threats, ongoing cyber 
threats and a changing security context in the Pacific. 
This requires a different and collaborative approach, 
and we recognise we need to think and act in new ways 
to effectively respond to these new risks, including: 

16 These results are measured against Maritime NZ’s Readiness and Response Capability Matrix, which captures reporting against five functions: general 
maritime incidents and emergencies; integration and coordination; maritime sea, air and land search and rescue coordination; marine oil spills; and maritime 
security.

17 Minor/routine is defined as: Maritime NZ is called on to oversee, help with or manage minor/routine incidents on a regular basis. These are dealt with as 
‘business as usual’.

18 Significant is defined as: Activates a small-scale team led by an appointed incident controller.

19 Major is defined as: Activates a maritime incident response team (MIRT) in Wellington and a national response team (NRT) deploys to an emergency 
coordination centre (ECC) at the response front, providing regional coordination and working closely with the regional council, the community and local iwi. 
The NRT communicates back to the National Controller in Wellington.

•  working more closely with New Zealand Customs 
and others to align approaches and ensure they are 
complementary and better coordinate operational activity

•  encouraging and supporting regulatory changes to 
maritime security legislation, to address current risks in 
the system and update it for new and emerging risks

•  seeking additional resources, to ensure we can effectively 
manage the emerging security risks on ports, as part of 
our funding review.

Building maritime security in the Pacific
Maritime NZ has been actively involved in building maritime 
security capability for selected Pacific Island countries. This 
includes delivering capability enhancements in areas such 
as security training, development of security legislation and 
projects, including port security improvements in technology 
and physical security. Further capability work has been 
confirmed for 2023 to help selected Pacific Islands in 
best practice and training supported by the International 
Maritime Organization along with likeminded countries. 

The framework for Maritime NZ’s capability work is based 
on a collaborative approach with the United States Coast 
Guard and United Kingdom Department for Transport, 
as agreed in the Statement of Intent signed in 2020. 
The capability building programme is strongly supported 
by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade. The focus of 
Maritime NZ’s work is aimed at reducing the risk of terrorism 
and other security-related disruptions to the global maritime 
transportation system. 

Reopening of the maritime border
A significant achievement for the year was our role in the 
reopening of the maritime border following COVID-19 
restrictions. We supported the Border Executive Board, 
chaired by the New Zealand Customs Service, to enable 
the maritime border to reopen on 31 July. Notably, we co-
led the operational readiness work stream of the Maritime 
Border Programme. For more, see case study on page 44.

Ensuring seafarer welfare
Maritime NZ has continued its work with the Seafarers 
Welfare Board for New Zealand (SWBNZ) to support crew 
welfare, including through financial support of SWBNZ’s 
activities. Shore leave, crew changes, and the provision of 
health and welfare services continue to benefit the maritime 
system. As the country moves through the COVID-19 
response phase into recovery, Maritime NZ is re-examining 
the model for provision of seafarer welfare services, to 
ensure it is future focused and aligned with the needs of 
seafarers. We are working with the SWBNZ and other 
organisations delivering or with an interest in the provision 
of seafarer welfare services to do this.
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 Living with COVID-19

New Zealand’s COVID-19 response has undergone major changes in the past 
12 months as the country reconnects with the world and learns to live with the 
virus. Many changes happened quickly and needed a swift response from maritime 
border agencies and industry stakeholders alike as the country opened up. 

In the 12 months to the end of June 
2022, the Maritime NZ COVID-19 
Response and Recovery Team 
co-led the Operational Readiness 
work stream of the Maritime Border 
Programme with Te Manatū Waka 
(Ministry of Transport). The focus 
was to prepare border agencies, the 
maritime sector and communities for 
the reopening of ports and a return to 
near-normal shipping activity while, at 
the same time, adhering to new and 
changing health settings. 

Following the strong stakeholder 
engagement work undertaken 
in the previous financial year, 
relationships with the sector were 
further strengthened as we worked to 
reinforce the vaccination and testing 
orders, followed by their removal 
towards the end of June 2022. 

Peter Brunt, Deputy Chief Executive, 
Regulatory Frameworks for Maritime NZ, 
says the pace and scale of change for 
some of our stakeholders would have 
been unsettling at times. 

“It speaks volumes for the Maritime 
New Zealand COVID-19 Team and the 
other agencies involved, that ultimately 
very few cases came through the 
maritime border.” 

Peter says by acting quickly and 
gathering the support of industry and 
partner agencies, solutions could be 
found to complex issues, such as the 
appearance of the ‘COVID ships’ in 
the second half of 2021. 

“Through the development of the 
Vessel Management Framework, a 
‘contactless’ method was established 
for the loading and unloading of 

cargo vessels. This minimised contact 
between seafarers and port workers 
while limiting supply chain impacts. 

“Urgent and innovative responses 
became a hallmark of the maritime 
response effort and many of these 
solutions will endure post-pandemic.”

The Viking Bay arriving in Wellington 
July 2021 with COVID-19 cases on board.

Photo:1News/TVNZ

CASE STUDY
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Clean 
He Mā

Impact 5 
New Zealand's marine environment is protected

20 Changed reporting practices occurred in 2015, when oil spill reporting went online. With previous data entered into our system, following a lag in many 
cases, this year, we revised our oil spill time series, so these results differ from those reported in previous annual reports. We now have a richer data set 
to work with, and redefined what an oil spill is for reporting purposes as follows: only capturing oil spills entering the water; and occurring offshore in 
New Zealand waters as well as within New Zealand.

21 Results are measured against Maritime NZ’s Readiness and Response Capability Matrix, which captures reporting against five functions: general maritime 
incidents and emergencies; integration and coordination; maritime sea, air and land search and rescue coordination; marine oil spills; and maritime security. 
For more on the Matrix, refer to our Statement of Intent 2021–2025.

To ensure we play our part in protecting New Zealand’s marine environment, 
we continue our regulation of environmental protection responsibilities for ships. 

Specifically, we are addressing marine pollution by implementing MARPOL Annex VI to reduce the effects of air pollution and 
emissions of greenhouse gases from ships. We are also working to achieve reductions in the number and impacts of marine 
oil spills in New Zealand. Our other environmentally focused work includes seeking ways to develop our regulatory systems, 
such as MOSS, to improve protection of the marine environment.

OUTCOME IMPACT 
INDICATORS

DESIRED 
INDICATOR 
TREND

ASSESSMENT OF 
ACHIEVEMENT 

Marine oil spill 
incidents

Trend
• Oil spill incidents have been trending downward slightly over the past 

four years. In 2020/21, 66 oil spills occurred, down from the 95 reported 
in 2019/20 (a decline of 31 percent) and well below the 130 reported in 
2018/19 (see figure 8, page 48).20

• Estimated litres spilt this year (10,600 litres) indicates a decrease from last year.

Results for 2021/22
• Forty-three Tier 1 oil spills (industry or offshore spills that are handled 

by the operation).

• Twenty-three Tier 2 oil spills (a regional-level spill, where the regional council 
coordinates and responds).

• No national level response events occurred (Tier 3).

• An estimated 10,600 litres of oil spills entered waterways.

Maritime NZ's 
marine oil 
spill response 
capability  
(as reported in 
the Readiness 
and Response 
Capability Matrix)

Our marine oil spill response and capability21 is rated as follows:

• Green for minor/routine and significant oil spills.

• Amber for major oil spills.
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International 
convention 
implementation 
(MARPOL and 
ballast water 
management)

Trend
• Expectations are increasing internationally and domestically to reduce the 

environmental impacts of shipping. We are working closely with stakeholders 
to ensure we play our part and take a leadership role.

Results for 2021/22 
• New Zealand has acceded to the International Convention for the Prevention 

of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) Annex VI, which came into force on 26 
August 2022, and is implementing this convention through Marine Protection 
Rule 199.

• We continue to regulate against MARPOL Annex I, Annex II, Annex III and 
Annex V,22 which aim to prevent pollution from ships caused by operational 
or accidental reasons.

• We continue to participate in the experience-building phase at the International 
Maritime Organization, which has initiated a planned full review of the 
International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships’ Ballast 
Water and Sediments.

 

Our outputs that support Impact 5
2.3 Inspection and audit Page 86

3.1 Maritime incident readiness and response Page 88

3.2 Marine pollution readiness and response Page 88

22 In addition to Annex VI, New Zealand is party to the following MARPOL annexes: Annex I Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Oil; Annex II 
Regulations for the Control of Pollution by Noxious Liquid Substances in Bulk; Annex III Prevention of Pollution by Harmful Substances Carried by Sea in 
Packaged Form; and Annex V Prevention of Pollution by Garbage from Ships. New Zealand has not yet acceded to Annex IV, which is focused on sewerage 
pollution from ships.

23 Minister of Climate Change. 2022. Te hau mārohi ki anamata | Towards a productive, sustainable and inclusive economy: Aotearoa New Zealand’s first 
emissions reduction plan. Wellington: Ministry for the Environment, pp 189–190.

 
Our progress, achievements 
and challenges

Emissions reduction plan 
New Zealand’s first emissions reduction plan, published 
in May 2022, contains several commitments to “progress 
the decarbonisation of maritime transport” as well as to 
“support the decarbonisation of freight” by shifting some 
road freight to coastal shipping. The plan outlines the 
following main maritime initiatives: 

• develop a national action plan to reduce commercial 
and recreational maritime emissions

•  set new targets for maritime emissions, including: 

 –  supporting the uptake of zero-emissions small 
passenger, coastal fishing and recreational vessels 

 –  all new large passenger, cargo and offshore fishing 
vessels to meet highest carbon-intensity reduction, 
as set by the IMO, by 2035 

•  undertake research to advance the development and 
uptake of alternative low- and zero-carbon fuels for 
shipping and developing safety and environmental 
standards for their use

•  work with other like-minded countries to put in place the 
conditions to allow low- or zero-carbon shipping on key 
trade routes by 2035.23 

MARPOL Annex VI implementation
One of the first actions to support the Emissions Reduction 
Plan is to implement MARPOL Annex VI, which New Zealand 
acceded to on 26 May 2022. MARPOL Annex VI includes 
regulations to reduce air pollution from a variety of ship 
operations and greenhouse gas emissions from ships. 
It came into force in New Zealand from 26 August 2022. 
This marks a significant milestone in an extremely complex 
multi-year project for Maritime NZ. The implementation plan 
is now substantially developed and final improvements to 
the rules have been identified as part of the implementation 
process and will be actioned in the coming months.

MARPOL and ballast water management
New Zealand is party to MARPOL Annex I, Annex II, Annex 
III and Annex V, which aim to prevent pollution of the sea 
from ships caused by operational or accidental causes. 
MARPOL Annex VI, to which New Zealand acceded to in 
August 2022, seeks to address the impact of air pollution 
from shipping activities on human health and environments 
in and around port communities. It also focuses on the 
impacts of emissions from shipping activities on climate 
change and ozone layer depletion.

Pests and diseases are sometimes introduced to New Zealand 
in the ballast of foreign ships and transported by ships 
domestically from region to region. To protect the marine 
environment from the spread of these stowaways, Maritime NZ 
regulates the management of ballast water under Part 300 
of its Marine Protection Rules. Vessels in New Zealand waters 
are also subject to each region’s (and marina’s) requirements.
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Compliance with marine protection rules
We have continued to monitor compliance with marine 
protection rules as part of our audit and inspection 
programmes (see Output 2.3, page 86). 

Our PSC programme involves inspections of foreign ships 
arriving in New Zealand ports (see Output 2.3.1, page 86) 
as well as monitoring their compliance with requirements 
set down by international conventions and regulations. This 
includes inspecting against MARPOL and the International 
Ballast Water Management Convention.

New Zealand is also a signatory to the Tokyo MOU, 
along with other PSC regimes in the Asia–Pacific region. 
The Tokyo MOU’s purpose is to eliminate substandard 
shipping to promote maritime safety, to protect the marine 
environment and safeguard working and living conditions 
on board ships. 

Infringements in the Poor Knights Islands
We actively monitor the Poor Knights Islands Area to be 
Avoided.24 Any ships over 45 metres that enter the area 
are contacted immediately and instructed to depart. 
A preliminary investigation is then undertaken that involves 
asking for an explanation for the breach. An infringement 
notice is issued to the master of the ship and the operator, 
if a breach has occurred. Over the year, 10 incursions 
occurred resulting in two non-compliance letters and 
16 infringement notices. 

International convention change and 
implementation
New Zealand has been actively engaged in international 
negotiations on greenhouse gas emissions reduction, 
biosecurity (ballast water management and biofouling), 
marine plastic litter, underwater radiative noise, exhaust 
gas cleaning systems and, as resources allow, the many 
other issues addressed under the MARPOL convention.

24 The Area to be Avoided is an internationally agreed International Maritime Organization designation for its natural environmental values, to ensure protection 
of these areas through the exclusion of ships. 

25 A scrubber is an abatement technology for alternative compliance with the MARPOL Annex VI requirement to limit emissions. 

Biosecurity
Maritime NZ and the Ministry for Primary Industries (MPI) 
have been working with Australia, Canada, the United 
Kingdom and other states to address pest and disease 
risks from shipping. Maritime NZ leads on implementation 
of the Ballast Water Management Convention, which seeks 
to minimise the invasive species risks from ballast water 
discharges. The IMO agreed in June 2022 to a holistic 
review of the Ballast Water Management Convention, 
following the experience-building phase of the past seven 
years. MPI has been leading a review of the biofouling 
guidelines, to improve action on minimising marine life 
growing on submerged surfaces. This primarily addresses 
the pest and/or disease risk biofouling poses but also has 
significant efficiency benefits that help reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions. 

Marine plastic litter
Maritime NZ and MPI have been working at IMO to minimise 
marine plastic litter from shipping. Progress has been made 
on improvements to garbage management plans, reporting 
of losses and marking of fishing gear. 

Underwater radiative noise
Maritime NZ has coordinated New Zealand’s position to 
update guidelines to minimise underwater noise from ships. 
Aside from the immediate impact of noise on marine life, 
many of the quieting actions improve efficiency that, in turn, 
reduces greenhouse gas emissions. 

Exhaust gas cleaning systems
Maritime NZ is working with the Ministry for the Environment 
and has supported upgraded risk assessment guidance to 
regulate discharges from exhaust gas cleaning systems. 
Open loop scrubbers (a type of exhaust gas cleaning 
system), in particular, have meant an air pollution problem 
has become a water pollution problem as collected pollutants 
are discharged as waste into the sea.25
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Improving protection of the marine environment 
through the Maritime Operator Safety System
A recommendation from the MOSS evaluation is to scope a 
project to identify options to raise awareness of the marine 
protection rules, their implementation, and monitoring 
of compliance with those rules. This would likely include 
reviewing the relevance of the current rules and whether 
they are being used optimally in the context of desired 
outcomes. Our progress on this project over the year 
was hindered by other organisational priorities, including 
initiating a review of the MOSS framework to better 
consider small operators along with the MOSS certificate 
renewals process.

Oil spill incidents
This year, 66 oil spill incidents were reported, of which 43 
were Tier 1 (industry or offshore spills that are handled by 

26 Litres spilt are only an estimate as it there is no way of knowing the exact amount of oil that enters the water.

the operation) and 23 were Tier 2 oil spills (at regional level 
spill, where the regional council coordinates and responds) 
(figure 8). No national level response events occurred 
(Tier 3). No significant environmental effects resulted from 
any of the spills. 

Increased reporting of oil spills by regional councils, 
following advice to start reporting spills from stormwater 
discharges that enter the marine environment, helps explain 
the increases leading up to a peak in 2018/19 (130 oil spills), 
with a decrease thereafter. 

An estimated 10,600 litres of oil entered waterways in 
2021/22 from Tier 1 and Tier 2 spills, as shown in figure 9. 
Most (84 percent) were from Tier 2 oil spills. Compared 
with last year, more litres of oil were spilt in Tier 1 spills, but 
fewer from Tier 2 spills. An upward trend in litres of oil spilt 
has been evident in recent years, despite fewer actual spills 
occurring, mainly because of stricter reporting requirements.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 9: Tier 1 and Tier 2 oil spills by litre26

Figure 8: Oil spill totals by tier, 2014–2022
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Oil spill readiness and response capability
Over the year, we provided management and oversight of 
industry and regional authority marine oil spill readiness and 
response capability. Effectively maintaining the necessary 
equipment allows swift response to marine pollution 
incidents. "In 2021/22, we inspected all 19 regional and 
3 national equipment stockpiles, and they received any 
necessary maintenance (see Output 3.2.1, page 88). 
Further, we organised and held two oil spill exercises, 
including Exercise Whai Mana (see Output 3.2.2, page 88, 
and the case study on page 56). Attendees rated these 
highly in terms of their level of competence (9 out of 10), 
as outlined under Output 3.2.4, page 88.

Three-quarters of regional councils undertook two oil spill 
exercises annually. This was below a target of greater than 
or equal to 95 percent, partly because of regional authorities 
requesting delays to exercises due to the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and natural events, such as floods 
and slips (see Output 3.2.3, page 88). 

Although COVID-19 restrictions created challenges, 
especially to training and exercise delivery, New Zealand 
oil spill response capability remains effective and efficient 
(for more, see Readiness and Response Capability Matrix 
on page 52). Both regional and national response training 
was delivered supported by remote learning modules. 
Good progress was also made with the oil spill capital 
programme, with a focus on enhanced asset replacement 
of oil spill equipment. 

Minor oil spills
The tiered framework for managing oil spill responses 
provides a robust and timely ability to respond to minor 
spills. Experience has proven over the past 10 years that 
Tier 1 sites have the oil spill capability available to respond 
effectively and efficiently to minor oil spills.

During 2021/22, no negative response measures or 
observations occurred that suggest that responding 
organisations are unable to effectively respond to a small spill.

Significant oil spills
During 2021/22, MPRS has been unable to undertake all 
of its planned regional council oil spill training. Importantly, 
assessment of regional council performance during 
their oil spill exercises indicates their capability has not 
seen any negative impacts as a consequence of the 
COVID-19 challenges.

All regional councils undertake oil spill exercises and, 
over the past 10 years, these exercises have proven their 
contingency plans are appropriate and, importantly, they 
have effective means to respond to oil spills. Regional 
councils’ oil spill responses were effective, which reinforced 
their oil spill plans were appropriate and current.

In 2021/22, 75 percent of regional councils undertook oil 
spill exercises (see Output 3.2.3, page 88), despite being 
affected by COVID-19 lockdowns. 

Training opportunities, which are an important focus for 
maintaining capability, were affected by changing COVID19 
alert levels, however, we trained over 169 regional and 
national oil responders. 

Major oil spills
Should a significant spill escalate into something the 
regional council cannot manage, the National Response 
Team can respond with more resources including 
equipment and trained responders.

Maritime NZ has a well-trained national response team, 
with right sized oil spill equipment that can respond to 
spills close to and/or near the coast line. Maritime NZ and 
MPRS, through the national security framework, are also 
able to use New Zealand all-of-government resources to 
secure response capability to respond to major spills. 
MPRS can also secure significant oil spill capability from 
offshore partners, including the largest non-governmental 
oil spill organisation.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic has meant fewer 
opportunities to engage with the National Response Team, 
the recent major oil spill exercise indicates that capability 
to respond to a Tier 3 spill has not trended downwards. 

As noted above, although training opportunities were 
affected by changing COVID-19 alert levels, we trained 
45 oil responders in senior responder and on-scene 
commander roles. We also held workshops on topics such 
as planning, response, national oiled wildlife, intelligence, 
logistics and geographic information systems futures. 
Over the year, 393 people took part in training, workshops 
and exercises.

MPRS continues to maintain over 20 preparedness contracts 
for response support services, including the provision of 
vessels, aircraft, specialist equipment and labour. 

Maritime incident and marine pollution readiness 
and response
Maintaining an integrated maritime incident capability 
means we are able to provide leadership for managing 
any such incidents. We also have the ability to deal with 
issues such as salvage oversight, connection to the national 
security system, cooperation with local authorities and iwi 
and integration with all-of-government activities. 

Over the year, we made strong progress developing 
online training modules to upskill our response staff with 
foundation, response skills and response leadership level 
courses. Other training courses are in development by the 
National Emergency Management Agency and Australian 
Maritime Safety Authority and will be available from 
October 2022 onwards. 

In 2021/22, our Maritime Incident Response Team held 
ten workshops and one exercise (Exercise Whai Mana), 
well ahead of a target of four (see Output 3.1.1, page 88). 
After the ten workshops, attendees were asked to rate 
their competency to be able to respond to an incident 
following their training. The average was 3.5 out of five 
(see Output 3.1.2, page 88). National Response Team 
oil spill participants, after Exercise Whai Mana, rated their 
level of competence at 9 out of 10.
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Port State Control inspections help protect the 
environment and economy

For decades it has been known that diseases, microorganisms and even small or 
juvenile animals and plants are often transported, unintentionally, in ships’ ballast 
water.27 Their release can devastate native species, be a health hazard to people 
and affect vessels, marinas and aquaculture. 

27 Ballast water is used to provide weight and stability when needed because ships are carrying less cargo or due to rough seas. Usually, ballast water is 
pumped into ballast tanks when a ship has delivered cargo to a port and is departing with less cargo. Ballast water is then transported and released at the 
next port-of-call where the ship picks up more cargo.

28 The ‘port state’ is the country a ship is visiting; here, that is New Zealand. The ‘flag state’ is the country where the ship is registered.

Port State Control (PSC) inspections 
are not solely about the safety of 
vessels and crew.28 Importantly, they 
also help protect New Zealand’s 
precious marine environment and 
coastal economy.

PSC inspectors found two ships, both 
operated by the same operator, whose 
ballast water treatment systems were 
not working and they had not advised 
New Zealand and other required 
authorities. Additionally, crew were 
unable to show they could operate the 
system correctly. Fortunately, neither 
ship had exchanged ballast water in 
New Zealand waters.

Maritime NZ imposed conditions on 
the vessels, preventing them leaving 
port until the identified deficiencies 
were rectified. This information 
was shared with all countries that 
are members of the Asia–Pacific 
Memorandum of Understanding on 
Port State Control (the Tokyo MOU), 
so they were aware and could plan 

inspections or other action before the 
ships visited their ports. 

The operating company responded 
by having the manufacturer train the 
ships’ crew in use of the ballast water 
treatment system. The company 
also issued a fleet circular to all its 
ships advising what had happened 
and what they must do to ensure 
compliance with ballast water rules. 
It also amended its safety management 
system to reinforce this instruction. 

Maritime NZ uses its PSC authority to 
inspect foreign ships for compliance 
with the international maritime 
conventions, including those that set 
the standards for managing ballast 
water safely.

Current options include treatment by 
an approved ballast water management 
system, or ballast exchange at sea, 
conducted at least 200 nautical miles 
(370 kilometres) from the nearest land, 
and in water at least 200 metres in 

depth. In justifiable circumstances, 
this distance may be reduced, but in 
all cases not less than 50 nautical miles 
(93 kilometres) from the nearest land 
and in water at least 200 metres deep.

If a ship’s ballast water treatment 
system fails, this must be reported 
to the flag state, the recognised 
organisation or the surveyor 
responsible for issuing the relevant 
certificate and the port state, in this 
case New Zealand.

Before the ships arrived in 
New Zealand, one had not advised 
any of the three authorities that its 
ballast water treatment system was not 
working. The other had advised its flag 
state and classification society, but not 
Maritime NZ. PSC inspectors found the 
systems were not working and took 
action, mitigating the potential ongoing 
biosecurity risk to New Zealand and 
the wider Pacific from unmanaged 
ballast water carried by these ships.

CASE STUDY
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Impact 6 
New Zealand is prepared to respond to 
maritime incidents (includes search and 
rescue coordination for sea, air and land)

Responding quickly and efficiently to marine incidents, including SAR coordination, 
is dependent on having in place good systems and well-trained professional staff.

This means we work hard to build internal capabilities 
across the organisation, particularly through training 
exercises. We also need to work well with partner agencies 
within New Zealand and internationally. Domestically, this 
means providing an integrated SAR system (jointly with 
the New Zealand Search and Rescue Secretariat and 
New Zealand Police) that takes advantage of modern 
technology to save lives. 

We coordinate all offshore maritime and aviation SAR 
missions within New Zealand’s vast SAR region, and we 
assess the appropriate responses to activated emergency 
distress beacons (land, sea and air). 

OUTCOMES IMPACT 
INDICATOR

DESIRED 
INDICATOR TREND

ASSESSMENT OF 
ACHIEVEMENT 

Maritime NZ’s overall 
incident readiness 
and response 
capability for all 
levels of maritime 
incidents (minor/
routine, significant 
and major) as 
reported in the 
Readiness and 
Response Capability 
Matrix

Trend
• Overall, Readiness and Response Capability remains at green, 

as per previous years for minor and less complex incidents. 

• As per previous two years, the amber status remains in preparing 
for and responding to all functional components of response at the 
major level (excluding security), which are rare but have potentially 
severe consequences. 

• Search and rescue missions have continued to increase 
(see figure 10, page 54), which has put pressure on RCCNZ 
operations to respond to significant and major incidents.

Results for 2021/22
• See table 1, page 53, for an assessment of the Readiness and 

Response Capability Matrix, by function and level.

 
 

Our outputs that support Impact 6

3.1 Maritime incident readiness and response Page 88

3.2 Marine pollution readiness and response Page 88

3.3 Search and rescue coordination Page 89

4.1 Distress beacon systems Page 90

4.2 Aids to navigation Page 90

4.3 Distress safety communications Page 91
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Impact indicators further explained

Readiness and Response Capability Matrix
We are reporting on the revised matrix for the first time this 
year. In 2021 the matrix was revised to focus on readiness 
(as the main enabler for effective response) and to identify 
the functional components of readiness and response 
capability. These components are: general maritime 
incidents and emergencies; integration and coordination; 
maritime sea, air and land search and rescue coordination 
service; marine oil spill; and maritime security.

The matrix is presented as a classification table, describing 
the characteristics of each function at ‘red’, ‘amber’ or 
‘green’ status for each incident level, that is: minor/routine, 
significant or major. This approach improves clarity on the 
state of capability across the full scale of incidents from 
minor/routine to major. 

For detail on the matrix, including a breakdown of the 
criteria used to assess capability, please see the Statement 
of Intent 2021–2025 (starting page 38).

Overall readiness and response capability
Overall readiness and response capability is under pressure 
with regard to Maritime NZ’s abilities and capabilities relating 
to more serious incidents. 

At the minor/routine level, capability is strong and effective, 
although staff levels at the RCCNZ are placing pressure on 
the provision of SAR coordination services at a busy time. 
The conduct of a training course for three new staff has 
helped alleviate this pressure somewhat. 

At the significant level, a small number of incidents occurred 
over the past six months that had potential to become 
much more serious but were well handled by response staff 
in their assurance and oversight roles. No directions needed 
to be issued and the incidents were safely resolved. 

Although no major incidents have occurred, readiness for 
this level remains challenging. COVID-19 pressures have 
reduced internal and external capacity to undertake training 
and exercises, and important specialist areas have been 
unable to continue work on developing their processes and 
procedures for response or to fully participate in workshops 
and other readiness activities. Responding to a major 
incident would require help from other government agencies 
and international specialists. 

Engagement and liaison with overseas partners continues 
using remote and virtual tools, but relationships are 
challenging to maintain at pre-COVID-19 levels. This will 
likely affect the efficiency and effectiveness of any response 
to major events. 

https://maritimenz.govt.nz/content/about/statements-of-intent/default.asp
https://maritimenz.govt.nz/content/about/statements-of-intent/default.asp
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Table 1: Assessment of functional components of readiness and response capability by incident type

INCIDENT 
TYPE (LEVEL)

GENERAL MARITIME 
INCIDENTS & 
EMERGENCIES

INTEGRATION & 
COORDINATION

MARITIME SEA, 
AIR & LAND 
SEARCH & RESCUE 
COORDINATION 
SERVICE MARINE OIL SPILL MARITIME SECURITY

Minor/ 
routine29 

G G G G G

Significant30 G G A G G

Major31 A A A A G

Summary We continue to 
respond to all 
minor incidents 
and emergencies 
effectively. 

However, COVID-19 
-related training 
restrictions have 
affected capability 
building, meaning 
we would need 
help from other 
government agencies 
and international 
stakeholders (such as 
salvage companies) 
for any significant or 
major incident. 

Capacity 
improvements are 
occurring, but at 
a slower rate than 
desired.

We continue to 
respond effectively to 
all minor incidents as 
part of business as 
usual.

One significant 
incident with a ship 
with smouldering 
cargo was handled 
well by the agencies 
involved, which 
indicates strong 
coordination and 
communication 
channels. 

However, we could 
not handle a major 
event on our own and 
the national security 
system would need to 
be activated.

Rescue Coordination 
Centre New Zealand 
(RCCNZ) and safety 
services continue 
to deliver a highly 
effective search 
and rescue (SAR) 
coordination service, 
despite increased 
demand for this 
service.

RCCNZ and safety 
services have 
operated for two 
years without a 
full complement 
of management 
staff. This has 
disrupted RCCNZ's 
ability to build and 
maintain capacity 
and capability for 
more complex SAR 
operations.

To address these 
challenges, RCCNZ 
has started a review of 
the structure to enable 
improved capacity 
and capability. This 
will ensure we are 
able to continue to 
manage complex SAR 
operations and as 
demand increases.

Businesses (Tier 1 
sites) have the oil spill 
capability available to 
respond effectively 
and efficiently to minor 
oil spills. 

While the Marine 
Pollution Response 
Service has been 
unable to undertake 
all of its planned 
regional council oil 
spill training, regional 
council capability 
to respond to Tier 
2 incidents has 
not been adversely 
affected. 

The Maritime NZ 
National Response 
Team is well trained 
and equipped and 
is able to respond 
to major incidents 
with more resources, 
including equipment 
and trained 
responders. 

For a detailed 
assessment, see 
Impact 5, page 49.

Ports have handled 
all minor security 
incidents effectively.

No significant or minor 
incidents occurred 
since the Maritime 
Security Act was 
enacted in 2004. 

Port security capability 
remains effective 
and efficient. Ports 
are ready and able 
to respond to a 
significant or major 
incident. 

No degradation of 
port security capability 
has occurred over 
the year.

For more information 
on maritime security, 
see Impact 4, page 42.

29 Minor/routine: Maritime NZ is called on to oversee, help with or manage minor/routine incidents on a regular basis. These are dealt with as ‘business as usual’.

30 Significant: Activates a small-scale team led by an appointed incident controller.

31 Major: Activates a maritime incident response team (MIRT) in Wellington and a national response team (NRT) deploys to an emergency coordination 
centre (ECC) at the response front, providing regional coordination and working closely with the regional council, the community and local iwi. The NRT 
communicates back to the National Controller in Wellington.
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Our progress, achievements 
and challenges

32 Lives saved refers to situations where, if search and rescue (SAR) agencies had not intervened, life would definitely have been lost.

33 Lives rescued refers to situations where SAR agencies locate and rescue a person or people at risk and return them to a safe location.

34 Lives assisted refers to situations where SAR agencies help a person or people at low risk but who, if left, would be at risk.

35 Lives perished includes non-maritime fatalities, given SAR coordination is across land, sea and air.

Search and rescue
Over the year, the RCCNZ was operational 100 percent of 
the time (see Output 3.3.1, page 89). This meant it was able 
to effectively and efficiently coordinate and respond to 1,102 
offshore maritime, air and land based search and rescue 
missions within New Zealand’s search and rescue region.

This year, RCCNZ undertook aviation, marine and land 
SAR responses both within and outside the New Zealand 
SAR region that resulted in 36 lives saved,32 248 people 
rescued33 and 301 assisted.34 Unfortunately, 18 people 
perished.35 The number of lives assisted has increased by 
82 percent over the past five years, which is a reflection of 
the rise in recreational and adventure-based activities over 
this period. This trend is mirrored in the increase in beacon 
registrations over time, with all beacon-related cases 
triaged through RCCNZ. Since the start of the COVID19 
pandemic, we have also seen a general rise in on-water 
activities, which explains the overall increases in 2021/22 
(see figure 10).

RCCNZ is responsible for coordinating all major maritime 
and aviation SAR missions within New Zealand’s SAR 
region including land-based missions arising from someone 
activating a distress beacon. These are known as Category 
II incidents, with Category I handled by Police.

Of Category II SAR incidents, 672 (61 percent) led to 
communications or initial investigations only, with 365 
(33 percent) resulting in a SAR operation being conducted. 
New Zealand also helped in 16 operations, while 43 
incidents were unresolved and required no SAR action 
(figure 11).

Figure 10: Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand search and rescue operations

Lives saved Lives rescued Lives assisted Lives perished

176

165

57

21 12

22 25
19 16

144 158
139

199

248
229

184

39 29
24

248
282

261

301 301

51 36

25
18

0

100

200

300

400

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2021/222020/212015/16

Financial year

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

p
eo

p
le



Annual Report 2021/22 55

0

100

200

300

700

600

500

400

N
um

b
er

 o
f 

in
ci

d
en

ts

Communications or 
initial investigation only

SAR operation 
conducted

SAR operation conducted – 
NZ support only

Unresolved alert with no 
SAR action required

672

365

16
43

Figure 11: Category II search and rescue (SAR) incidents by response 

Search and rescue review
Te Manatū Waka is leading a review of the recreational 
safety and SAR systems, which started in mid-2021 and 
is due to be completed in 2023. The review is assessing 
whether New Zealand’s recreational safety and SAR 
systems are fit for purpose and can meet current and future 
community, national and international needs. It is expected 
the review will generate recommendations on several 
issues including structure and funding for the systems, and 
consideration as to how organisations focused on different 
aspects of the systems can best work together. 

Maritime NZ is a member of the Advisory Group supporting 
the review. We are well placed to provide expert input, given 
we manage RCCNZ, and have oversight of safety in the 
recreational craft area along with meeting our international 
SAR obligations. We are also members of the wider water 
safety Wai Ora leadership group. 

While we are confident the current coordination services we 
provide as part of the New Zealand SAR system (RCCNZ, 
maritime safety services) are working well, domestically 
and internationally, and have good interface with our critical 
maritime response role; we believe the review is a critical 
opportunity to ensure positive outcomes across the system 
in the future. 

Safety infrastructure
Having in place well-maintained and continuously available 
safety infrastructure allows efficient responses to incidents, 
including SAR response, if required. This infrastructure 
includes New Zealand’s beacon system, distress and safety 
communications and aids to navigation. We exceeded 
targets, based on international standards, for eight of 
nine outputs, as outlined below. 

Distress beacon systems
Ground-based satellite equipment forms part of the 
international satellite system to detect, locate and alert SAR 
authorities about emergency distress beacons. In 2021/22, 
ground-based satellite equipment was operational for 

99.85 percent of the time, while our beacon’s database 
was available 99.79 percent of the time.

Almost all scheduled maintenance of the distress beacons 
ground site eventuated (99.97 percent). (For more on these 
safety infrastructure outputs, see Output 4.1, page 90).

Aids to navigation
Reliable navigational aids help ensure safe shipping around 
New Zealand’s coastline or adjacent islands. 

Lighthouses were operational for 99.99 percent of the 
time, while day beacons and buoys were operational 
99.98 percent of the time. All scheduled maintenance of 
these aids to navigation eventuated (for more on aids to 
navigation, see Output 4.2, page 90).

Our ability, however, to fund the maintenance of classic 
lighthouses and the complexities of their heritage status 
involves challenges. At present, adequate funding is not 
available to be able to perform our heritage responsibilities 
outside of our mandated functions.

Distress and safety communications
Maintaining appropriate distress and communication 
services helps to prevent the maritime sector from getting 
into trouble and provides a safety net for those who do. 
Further, such services reduce unsafe incidents and support 
effective responses.

Over the year, communication services that make up 
Maritime NZ’s distress and safety radio service were 
available 99.88 percent of the time, and the Maritime 
Operation Centre was operational 99.93 percent of the 
time. Over three-quarters of scheduled maintenance of 
radio sites (80.65 percent) did occur, but this is below the 
target of greater than or equal to 90 percent due to adverse 
weather conditions at the scheduled time and unavailability 
of specialist technicians (for more on distress safety 
communications, see Output 4.3, page 91).
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Incident response training increasing as COVID-19 
restrictions lift

Hands-on training, developing leaders and exercising together are fundamental 
to maintaining New Zealand’s readiness to react effectively to maritime incidents, 
including oil spills. Two years of COVID-19 restrictions have, however, significantly 
limited Maritime NZ’s ability to lead this important work. 

In the last quarter of the year, with 
COVID-19 restrictions easing, it has 
been gratifying to restart training 
and exercising. Examples include 
Exercise Whai Mana in Wellington 
and Auckland, and South Island 
responders being able to train 
together in Christchurch. 

Over four days in May, Exercise Whai 
Mana brought together 80 national 
response team (NRT) members from 
Maritime NZ, over 30 maritime incident 
response team (MIRT) responders, 
members of local government and 
the oil and gas industry. Some set up 
a MIRT in Wellington, and most were 
in an emergency coordination centre 
in Auckland. This was the third joint 
NRT–MIRT exercise conducted and, 
due to COVID-19 restrictions, the 
first MIRT exercise undertaken since 
Exercise Ironsands II in December 
2020. The exercise scenario – a 
vessel grounding on Auckland’s east 
coast – was successful. It involved: 
testing an integrated response in 
relation to Maritime NZ’s integrated 
response strategy and plans; response 
leadership; response systems, including 
the newly developed Activation System; 
testing and refreshing the skills of staff 
and their understanding of coordinated 
safety management systems (CIMS), 

in particular our finance and intelligence 
teams; and demonstrating the effective 
management of communications 
for response.

Other notable training efforts included 
an event in Christchurch, where 
Maritime NZ was able to get 18 new 
regional responders from across the 
South Island out on the water for three 
days, to teach and test how they can 
deploy and operate oil spill equipment. 

Eight South Island senior regional 
responders also had three days in 
Christchurch, including training in 
leadership, mentoring, planning and 
briefing their teams. This course was 
designed to lead into the Regional 
On-Scene Commander Programme 
for those who will eventually lead 
responses. 

Marine oil spill response training will 
continue in the next financial year, with 
another 11 courses, exercises and 
workshops planned. 

Importantly, the training and exercises 
are a link to the 22 caches of oil spill 
equipment around New Zealand. The 
caches are maintained and upgraded 
by Maritime NZ and councils: the 
equipment is ready for a regional 
response as soon as an incident 

happens. Responders are trained to 
use the equipment at their regional 
cache and to be able to work together 
anywhere in the country. 

By working like this across many 
organisations, Maritime NZ maintains 
a national network of trained leaders 
and responders, with equipment, 
who can respond quickly in their own 
region under their own leadership. 

Maritime NZ’s Marine Pollution 
Response Service (MPRS) acts 
as a hub for planning, training and 
response. During a protracted, 
regional response, MPRS can 
move people and equipment from 
other areas to where the incident 
has occurred to rotate staff and 
replace equipment. During a national 
incident, MPRS would lead the oil spill 
response, coordinating people and 
resources nationally and activating 
New Zealand’s international support 
agreements. 

This system was one of the 
developments from the Rena grounding 
in 2011. While we have not had a 
national maritime incident since then, 
this way of responding has been 
tested many times and has worked well. 

CASE STUDY
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Impact 7 
New Zealand’s maritime regulatory regime 
is fit for purpose in each impact area

Our outputs that support Impact 7
1.1 Operational maritime policy advice Page 83

1.2 International obligations and regulations Page 83

1.3 Parliamentary and government accountability Page 84

Delivering safe, secure and clean 
outcomes in the maritime domain requires 
that we are good regulatory stewards who 
continue to ensure the maritime regulatory 
framework is fit for purpose.
This means ongoing work on the maritime rules and other 
maritime legislation so they are effective and can respond to 
changing demands, such as the COVID-19 pandemic and 
new technologies.

As effective regulatory stewards, we work closely with 
Te Manatū Waka and other local and central government 
agencies, to maintain and develop New Zealand’s robust 
and timely national safety, security and environmental 
protection policies, regulations, rules and transport 
instruments for the maritime sector. We also work closely 
with our international counterparts to support internationally 
credible regulations that are transparent and easy to apply.

Our progress, achievements 
and challenges

Stewarding New Zealand’s maritime regulatory 
framework 
Over 2021/22, we made good progress on our regulatory 
reform programme, despite several obstacles. Our main 
challenge remains limited resources, which means we 
will need to continue to rigorously reprioritise our work. 
Nevertheless, we completed the Transport regulatory 
programme of work, subject to variations, as agreed with 
Te Manatū Waka (see Output 1.1.2, page 83).

Throughout the year, we provided significant but unfunded 
and unanticipated staff input to support the all-of-government 
COVID-19 response. Our role was to provide expertise 
on various maritime matters, including the reopening of 
the maritime border, ship isolation requirements and crew 
changes. We developed a considerable amount of guidance 
material (66 documents published; see Output 5.1.3, 
page 92), with much focus on supporting the maritime 
sector through its COVID-19 response and recovery.

We continued to produce high-quality policy advice, 
with the average score of assessed papers to the Minister 
of Transport or Te Manatū Waka being 83.3 percent 

(see Output 1.1.1, page 83), above the target of greater 
than or equal to percent. 

Emissions reduction plan and regulating for 
innovation
New Zealand has set an emissions budget that places limits 
on the net emissions the country can produce over the next 
15 years. New Zealand’s first emissions reduction plan, 
published in May 2022, outlines how the country will meet 
these budgets. However, achieving the maritime-related 
emissions reduction targets will only be possible if the 
maritime sector continues to invest in innovations such as 
electrification, alternative fuels such as green methanol and 
hydrogen, and novel craft and ship design. 

Some innovation is either already operating commercially 
in New Zealand or will be soon. Battery electric ferries, 
for example, have been given exemptions to operate 
commercially and wing-in-ground craft prototypes are 
being tested. Both are likely to quickly proliferate over the 
next 12 to 24 months. Alternative fuels and ship design, 
including automated vessels, are being researched and are 
likely to be commercialised over the next 5 to 10 years. 

Maritime NZ is also increasingly being asked to respond (as 
a regulator and custodian of the maritime rules) to vessel 
operators seeking to use emerging technologies, including 
new fuel types, for the design and/or operation of vessels 
such as electric or autonomous vessels. 

To ensure the right incentives are in place for the maritime 
sector to invest in innovations that support domestic and 
international greenhouse gas emissions goals, the Maritime 
Transport regulatory framework needs to be modernised. 
In its current form, it is designed for traditional seagoing 
vessels and the personnel operating them. It does not 
provide the response, funding or other levers to regulate 
the safe operation of new maritime technologies, which 
are going to be developed regardless of the state of 
New Zealand’s regulatory frameworks. 

Work to modernise the Maritime Transport regulatory 
framework is needed now to provide supply chain resilience 
into the future. We must address the presenting nature of 
electrification and alternative craft designs, and the need 
to signal internationally, that New Zealand’s regulatory 
framework will be ready to accept automation, alternative 
fuels and vessel designs. 
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Other aspects of the rules programme 
The MTA empowers the Minister of Transport to make 
maritime rules and marine protection rules. Maritime NZ 
is responsible for their administration, which includes 
ensuring they remain fit for purpose and deliver on 
government priorities and outcomes. 

We made good progress on the structure of the rules 
framework, the design of potential Transport Instruments 
and further stakeholder engagement. We have continued 
drafting outcome-based rules. Strong engagement also 
occurred with sector experts to find solutions to complex 
design, construction and equipment technical issues.

Specific highlights of the Rules work programme included:

•  Maritime Rules Part 53 – Marine Pilot Transfer 
Arrangements, to address issues with transfer 
arrangements for marine pilots from pilot craft to incoming 
ships. This year we undertook engagement discussions 
with the New Zealand Maritime Pilots Association, 
Ports of Auckland and New Zealand Marine Managers 
and have drafted changes to the Rule

•  Maritime Rules Part 23 – Operational Procedures and 
Training, to address issues with safety requirements 
for lifeboat launch training drills

•  Cape Town Agreement, which seeks to improve the 
global safety standards for the design, construction 
and equipment of large ocean-going fishing vessels

•  vessel design, construction and equipment rules 
under the 40 series rules, a highly complex, multi-year 
programme (see case study, page 59)

•  the drug and alcohol testing of commercial operators 
Rule is now at a stage where we are costing 
implementation options to pursue when the rule is 
drafted by the Parliamentary Counsel Office. This will 
be/is the first transport instrument (this provides legislative 
tools available to us in future rules reform or regulatory 
stewardship activities).

Reviewing the Maritime Transport Act 1994
The MTA is becoming out of date. We have identified 
several issues with the legislation that are timely to resolve 
through regulatory reform. This includes opportunities to 
provide for many of the strategic issues mentioned above. 
For example, including more flexible regulatory frames for 
new and innovative technologies; responses to challenges 
with port infrastructure and maritime security; and significant 
questions about the longevity of our funding arrangements 
(for example, most of our funding for maritime pollution 
and recreational boating safety comes from fossil fuel 
levies). Te Manatū Waka has started a review of the MTA, 
on which we are working closely. 
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The 40 series rules reform – regulatory stewardship 
with the sector

It’s good to talk. Especially when you need the sector’s help as you progress a 
major, multi-year review of the rules governing design, construction and equipment 
in use for the country’s commercial maritime vessels.

Those vessels are covered by many 
different rules, some of which are 
no longer fit for purpose because of 
advances in technology or are now 
deemed unwieldy and impractical.

Maritime NZ’s 40 Series Reform team 
is working through many of those 
rules, as part of a major project to 
produce a more coherent set of well 
understood and accepted rules.

Having designed the framework and 
approach for the project over the past 
year, the team has been reviewing the 
current rules for life-saving appliances, 
electrical equipment, fire protection 
and survey rules. This work has 
resulted in proposals to make the 
rules more up to date and workable.

The team has shared proposed 
changes with the sector, as part 
of a comprehensive engagement 
plan, says Deputy Chief Executive 
Regulatory Frameworks, Peter Brunt. 
It has done a lot of talking with various 
participants and plenty of listening.

“We want to involve the sector as we 
go, to let them know what we are 
doing and to get their views on the 
possible changes that we are putting 
forward,” he says.

The Exploring Change documents 
are available on the Maritime NZ 
website, and the team also meets 
and engages with the sector. 

“We recognised there is a lot of 
information to digest, so we created 
one-page summaries to help people 
who don’t have time to read a long 
document. We also ran a series of 
online sessions, which anyone could 
join, to get an understanding of our 
ideas and ask questions.”

The team has also been talking to 
people at events such as the Maritime 
Transport Association conference, 
NZ Fish Fed conference, Fishing 
Safety forums and the Maritime NZ 
Surveyors conference.

Part of the team’s work has included 
seeking information and feedback 

from businesses supplying life-saving 
appliances and fire protection 
equipment and systems to the sector, 
which provides valuable insights into 
product availability and costs. 

Peter says the feedback is providing 
good information to help make 
the rules easier to understand 
and implement.

“It’s great to get views, buy-in and 
detailed technical considerations on 
what’s possible and what’s not.” 

More work is still to be done as 
the focus shifts to rules covering 
stability, water and weather tightness, 
machinery, accommodation 
and egress.

“We will be releasing other Exploring 
Change documents in the coming year 
and will be continuing to seek input.” 

This engagement is helping the team as 
it works towards drafting the proposed 
new rules, which will then be the subject 
of formal public consultation. 

CASE STUDYCASE STUDY

https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/content/rules/part-40-reform/exploring-change-documents.asp
https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/content/rules/part-40-reform/exploring-change-documents.asp
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Impact 8 
New Zealand’s international influence 
increases and interests are promoted for 
maritime regulatory and response matters

Our outputs that support Impact 8 1.2 International obligations and regulations Page 83

 

New Zealand plays an active role 
internationally in developing robust 
and responsive maritime regulations. 
We represent New Zealand on the 
international stage at the IMO and 
other bodies, where we highlight 
New Zealand’s interests and those 
of Pacific neighbours, who we 
closely support.  

New Zealand’s access to quality shipping options is 
significantly influenced by the confidence of international 
shipping lines in the international consistency of 
New Zealand’s regulatory approach. This requires that 
New Zealand is not only responsive to implementing 
conventions (and any subsequent amendments) but is 
also influencing the shape of the international regulatory 
environment. 

An important focus is ensuring global maritime regulation 
contributes to lifting maritime safety, security and 
environmental protection capability both regionally 
and globally. This is done by negotiating international 
agreements, treaties and conventions. 

We work actively in international forums to address a variety 
of topics, including recreational boating, labour conditions 
and fishing. An important example is Tokyo MOU.

Our other significant international role is helping 
New Zealand’s Pacific neighbours build capacity and 
capability, in partnership with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
and Trade (MFAT).

Working closely with international partners helps ensure 
New Zealand aligns its maritime management with global 
best practice.

Our progress, achievements 
and challenges

International work programme
The international work programme has progressed well 
during 2021/22, despite the continuation of engagement via 
virtual meetings for much of the year. 

We met all of our international engagement objectives (see 
Output 1.2.1, page 83) in a year greatly disrupted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. We also delivered on both of our 
standard international reporting obligations (Oil Pollution 
Compensation Funds and MARPOL oil reporting), as shown 
in Output 1.2.2, page 83.

International Maritime Organization 
We continue to work closely with Te Manatū Waka 
and MFAT in delivering on New Zealand’s response 
to international issues, including greenhouse gas 
emissions from shipping, implementing MARPOL 
Annex VI and understanding the risks to and opportunities 
for New Zealand businesses operating with global 
supply chains.

A heavy work programme at the IMO continued in 2021/22, 
with New Zealand attending 27 significant meetings, 
either in-person or virtually, including committee, sub-
committee and working group attendance. We worked 
closely with other agencies, including Te Manatū Waka, 
MFAT, New Zealand Customs Service and MPI, to develop 
positions on various issues, including: 

•  supporting a globally consistent approach to the 
mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions from shipping 

•  achieving global consistency on PSC activities to improve 
compliance across the international fleet

•  completing standards for ship cranes, which New Zealand 
has led for 18 years, to eliminate the annual fatalities 
caused by on-board crane failures

•  agreeing on enhancements for more effective search 
and rescue

•  taking action to minimise pest and disease risks from 
shipping and ballast water management

•  improving regional engagement in the IMO by actively 
supporting the establishment of an IMO regional presence 
office in the Pacific
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•  supporting efforts to mitigate underwater noise that 
affects vulnerable marine species and ecosystems 

•  engaging in the comprehensive review of training and 
certification standards for seafarers on fishing vessels 

•  following the development of a code for autonomous 
shipping technology

•  advocating for Antarctic and Southern Ocean considerations 
in the ongoing development of the Polar Code

•  supporting like-minded countries to start addressing the 
growing issue of container losses

•  reducing marine plastic litter discharges from ships as part 
of the global effort to combat plastic pollution of oceans.

Notably, our staff played significant chairing roles. Deputy 
Chief Executive of Safety and Response Systems Nigel 
Clifford chaired the IMO Navigation, Communications, 
Search and Rescue (NCSR 9) meeting in June in London. 
Principal Advisor Ian Lancaster chaired a working group 
on underwater noise and Deputy Director Kenny Crawford 
chairs a Tokyo MOU group.

In the second half of 2021/22, our international work 
programme has been dominated by the response to the 
war in Ukraine. The IMO Council convened an Extraordinary 
Session regarding the situation, which is having a serious 
effect on shipping. We have worked closely with MFAT, to 
ensure New Zealand expresses its strong condemnation of 
Russia's actions, where appropriate. 

In-person IMO meetings resumed internationally, following 
virtual meetings since the start of the pandemic, but the 
IMO is likely to shift to hybrid meetings. This will pose 
a challenge for New Zealand with reduced ability to 
participate and connect with other states in a significant 
way and for how New Zealand supports the Pacific voice. 
It also has serious implications for Maritime NZ’s own 
carbon reduction programme (see page 72). We are 
currently prioritising our international travel for 2022/23, 
with the aim of achieving international outcomes at lowest 
dollar and emissions cost. 

Other multilateral engagement
Aside from the IMO, New Zealand also supported regional 
initiatives, including through the Asia–Pacific Heads of 
Maritime Safety Authorities and the Asia Pacific Economic 
Cooperation’s Seafarer Excellence Network. We hosted a 
workshop for members of the former on ‘Futures Thinking’, 
which received positive feedback.

We received positive feedback from stakeholders to changes 
to the Maritime Labour Convention, which comes under 
the International Labour Convention. These addressed 
seafarer welfare and saw us engage with New Zealand 
union and industry representatives, to deliver a tripartite 
view. The process was seen as transparent and inclusive.

Pacific Maritime Safety Programme 
Improving the safety of New Zealand’s Pacific neighbours 
remains an important priority. Despite COVID-19-related 
obstacles around travel over the past two years, the 
programme is making headway, and in-country visits have 
resumed. While much of the engagement was via virtual 
meetings, which had its challenges, Pacific safety response 
capacity is improving.

Delivering the Pacific Maritime Safety Programme includes 
community education and awareness, legislative support, 
maritime training, domestic vessel safety, search and rescue 
and marine pollution response to seven Pacific Island 
countries: Cook Islands, Kiribati, Niue, Samoa, Tokelau, 
Tonga and Tuvalu.

A funding extension for the next phase of the Pacific 
Maritime Safety Programme was approved by MFAT 
(see case study on page 62).

International Maritime Organization Member 
State Audit 
New Zealand is scheduled for an IMO Member State Audit 
(known as IMSAS) in September 2022, which will consider 
New Zealand’s implementation of its maritime treaty 
obligations. As the system owners, Te Manatū Waka is the 
lead agency for the audit, with Maritime NZ providing the 
single point of contact for the IMO team. Other agencies will 
be involved due to their implementation roles, such as Land 
Information New Zealand and MetService. The audit will be 
an important means of validating New Zealand’s reputation 
as a competent coastal, flag and Port State authority.
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Pacific Maritime Safety Programme

New Zealand has committed to support maritime safety in the Pacific through the 
provision of $12 million in funding over the next four years for the Pacific Maritime 
Safety Programme (PMSP).

The PMSP is delivered by Maritime NZ 
but funded through the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs and Trade (MFAT) 
under the International Development 
Cooperation programme.

We work with seven Pacific Island 
countries: Cook Islands, Kiribati, Niue, 
Samoa, Tokelau, Tonga and Tuvalu.

Our team works across five outputs, 
which together build capacity for 
maritime administrations across the 
Pacific to regulate effectively and 
improve safety.

The outputs are community education 
and awareness, regulatory frameworks, 
maritime training, domestic vessel 
safety and search and rescue and 
marine pollution response.

In delivering the programme, our 
team works closely with Pacific Island 
governments and communities to 
improve maritime safety through 
supporting changes in systems, 
attitudes and underlying safety culture.

Deputy Chief Executive Response, 
Security and Safety Services Nigel 
Clifford says the continued support 
for the PMSP shows New Zealand’s 
commitment to and leadership 
in maritime safety throughout the 
Pacific region.

“The PMSP supports MFAT’s goal of 
a resilient, sustainable Pacific, through 
helping build capacity in Pacific 
governments and the wider Pacific 
maritime sector. 

“We are supporting long-term, 
meaningful change. The PMSP does 
this by targeting initiatives that will 
have long-term benefits such as 
regulatory reform, by empowering 
Pacific leaders in maritime safety 
and by delivering education to young 
people and communities.”

Mr Clifford says an example of this 
approach includes work the PMSP is 
currently undertaking to support the 
review and, where appropriate, reform 
of maritime legislation in several of the 
PMSP countries. 

This work will help ensure Pacific 
maritime administrations have the right 
regulatory tools at their disposal to 
effectively manage their domestic fleets. 

In Niue, this has recently led to the 
enacting of a new piece of legislation, 
the Maritime Safety Act 2021. Reviews 
of existing legislation are also under way 
in Cook Islands, Tokelau and Samoa.

The PMSP is also supporting 
innovative community education 
programmes in several PMSP 

countries. This includes a water safety 
programme for school children, which 
is now embedded in Niue’s school 
curriculum, teaching Niue’s youngest 
citizens the foundations of water and 
maritime safety.

A suite of e-learning modules, covering 
all aspects of the programme from 
international law to oil spill response, 
has been developed to support PMSP 
training and development.

The PMSP also continues to focus 
on the safety of domestic ferries and 
vessels in the Pacific. Safe reliable 
maritime transport is critical to Pacific 
countries for food gathering, tourism, 
recreation and the transportation of 
people and cargo.

The PMSP has supported its 
participating countries by providing 
access to surveyors and support for 
regulatory inspections, with training and 
checklists provided for Pacific maritime 
officers. 

We will continue to work with Pacific 
countries under the next phase of the 
programme, to promote and support 
the implementation of systemic 
approaches to maintenance and safety.

CASE STUDY
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Organisational health 
and capability 
Te haumaru me ngā āheinga o te tari

Building our capability and capacity
We are taking important steps forward in our journey 
to being an increasingly effective regulator. To ensure 
we achieve this, we are continuing to build the diverse 
capabilities we need and we are working to provide 
staff with the tools, practice and capacity to do our job 
successfully. One of the main enablers has been our 
Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga capability and capacity work 
stream, which focuses on strengthening our capability and 
capacity to achieve our vision. The work stream covers 
projects to increase resources, capability and capacity 
in our organisation, including the training, learning and 
development needs of our staff and, through the 
funding review, the funding required to do our role. 

A significant achievement over the year has been the 
capability and capacity project that started late March–early 
April 2022. This focused on the high-level capability and 
capacity changes to our organisation outlined as needed 

in Te Korowai Phase 1. The project considered in detail 
what these changes meant in terms of adding capacity and 
capability, and what the potential flow-on effect could be to 
roles and teams to deliver the outcomes we are seeking to 
achieve. As a result, organisational change decisions were 
made that will be implemented over time. 

We have provided our diversity and inclusion statistics 
below. Further information on our actions and work 
programmes in this area is provided under Papa Pounamu, 
see page 68.

Who we are: our workforce 
characteristics
As at 30 June 2022, our workforce comprised 293.24 FTE 
(permanent and fixed-term employees, with a headcount of 
343, including 46 temporary staff and contractors (table 2).

Table 2: Our workforce characteristics, full-time equivalent (FTE)

Figure 12: Gender

STATUS FTE HEADCOUNT

Permanent staff 269.44 273

Fixed-term employees 23.80 24

Temps and contractors 41.18 46

Total 334.42 343

Board

MALE

60%

FEMALE

40%

Executive leadership

MALE

50%

FEMALE

50%

Management

MALE

61%

FEMALE

39%

All employees

MALE

51%

FEMALE

49%

Figure 12 shows the gender composition of our Board, Executive Leadership Team, overall management and employees 
Forty-nine percent of employees are female.
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Figure 13: Ethnicity
Sixty-eight percent of our employees identify as European, as figure 13 shows.

0%

Not stated Asian Māori Pacific peoplesMiddle Eastern/Latin American/
African (MELAA)

OtherEuropean

25%

68% 13% 10% 4%

50% 75% 100%

Figure 14: Age distribution
Fifty-seven percent of our employees are aged between 40 and 59 years, with an average age of 46 years, as figure 14 shows.

20–29 30–39 40–49 50–59 60–69 70+

0% 25%

9% 27%

2%
1%

1%

11% 0%23% 30%

50%

46 – average

75% 100%

Figure 15: Occupation 
Forty-six percent of our employees work in operational roles, followed by management (19 percent) and corporate roles 
(15 percent), as figure 15 shows.

0% 25%

46% 19% 15% 11% 7% 2%

50% 75% 100%

Operational AdministrationCorporate Policy ExecutiveManagement

Pay equity 
A gender pay comparison of salaries for women and men 
across each salary band does not indicate any significant 
gender pay inequity within Maritime NZ. At the end of 
2021/22, in four salary bands, women were paid more than 
men; in three salary bands, women were paid less than 
men; and no gaps exist in the remaining salary bands. 
We are working actively to address any pay gaps through 
our Gender Equality Working Group (see page 68).
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Our people by the numbers

5.9
 
In 2020/21: 5.9 years 
The average length of service for 
permanent staff is 5.9 years. The 
average length of service has been 
trending down, from nine years in 
2018/19. This is also less than the 
2022 Te Kawa Mataaho Public Service 
workforce data average tenure of 
8.2 years.

46
 
In 2020/21: 46 years 
New recruits are, generally, younger 
than the average age of our existing 
workforce. The average age of those 
newly recruited into Maritime NZ was 
39 years, compared with 46 years for 
the existing workforce. The Te Kawa 
Mataaho average age as of 30 June 
2022 was 44 years.

years 
average age

years average 
length of service

31.9
 
In 2020/21: 24.4 hours 
The average hours of online and 
in-person learning initiatives per 
permanent employee during the 
2021/22 year was 31.9 hours. We 
actively invest in the development of 
our people through workshops (both in 
person and virtual) and online learning. 
Learning spans a range of activities, 
including leadership and management, 
regulatory practice (including New 
Zealand Certificate in Regulatory 
Compliance), orientation and specialist 
skills. Individual business units also 
budget to provide additional training 
for their staff as needed.

16%  
 
In 2020/21: 13.1 percent
Forty-three permanent employees left 
in 2021/22. Most people left to take 
up career advancement opportunities, 
with smaller numbers citing working 
environment, remuneration, family 
reasons, moving overseas, Maritime NZ 
COVID-19 vaccination policy, retirement 
and medical as reasons for departure. 
Te Kawa Mataaho figure as at 
30 June 2022 is at 17.3 percent 
which is the highest ever recorded 
since measurement began in 2000.

78
 

Promotion/career 
progression/redeployment 34 48
Internal secondments 51 29
External secondments 7 1

In 2020/21: 92 promotions and 
secondments 
We actively seek to support staff 
development through secondment 
opportunities and the promotion of 
staff based on merit. Last year, more 
staff were promoted and progressed 
their careers than in 2020/21.

2020–21 2021–22

core staff 
turnover

promotions and 
secondments

average hours 
of learning

73%
 
Overall favourable Health, safety 
and wellbeing survey response 

In 2020/21: 83 percent 
Maritime NZ uses the SafePlus 
health, safety and wellbeing 
(HSW) management framework to 
assess its overall health and safety 
performance. This assesses the areas 
of leadership (75 percent favourable 
response), worker engagement 
(70 percent favourable response) 
and risk management (71 percent 
favourable response).

Almost three-quarters of staff 
(73 percent) rated our health and 
safety as favourable, which is 
10 percent lower compared with the 
2020 result. However, this remains 
an encouraging level of support for, 
and confidence in, our organisational 
HSW management system.

74
 
In 2020/21: 57 notifications 
Health and safety notifications have 
increased by 28 percent in the current 
year. This is related to increases in near 
miss (43 percent increase) and pain 
and discomfort reporting (28 percent 
increase). We continue to encourage 
everyone to report all work-related 
incidents and accidents, including 
pain and discomfort, with a focus on 
increasing the knowledge and usage of 
the online health and safety reporting 
system over the financial year.

9.2
 
Average days lost due to sickness, 
accidents, domestic leave 

In 2020/21: 6.4 days 
The increase is a reflection of the 
number of staff and their family 
members who contracted COVID-19. 
During the year, 102 Maritime NZ 
employees contracted COVID-19. 
While most reported mild symptoms, 
a few experienced ongoing issues. 

Te Kawa Mataaho employees took on 
average 8.3 days of sick and domestic 
leave during 2021-22.

overall 
favourable 
Health

Health and 
safety event 
notifications

average 
days lost
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Building our people and leadership capability

We are continuing to grow our manager, leader and staff development. 
We are also working to create a diverse, inclusive and modern workplace 
that promotes equality and culture, enables positive working relationships 
and enhances our success as a regulatory, compliance and response agency.

The COVID-19 pandemic has provided a few hurdles for 
our people capability-building programme. Our learning 
and development function made good progress, despite 
face-to-face workshops being delayed by changing alert 
levels. Similarly, our ability to source the best workers was 
affected by a tight labour market linked to border closures, 
which limited the pool of applicants on working visas.

We have maintained our focus on health and safety at 
work and staff wellbeing. The anxiety and stress created 
by the constant ‘new normal’ means staff resilience is 
continually challenged.

We have made significant progress in recruiting for vacant 
positions, with the remaining frontline and service delivery 
roles filled or being recruited. This lets us further deliver the 
benefits from our previous funding review.

All new staff, people managers and emerging leaders 
undertake structured learning programmes.

Our on-boarding programme
Our staff on-boarding programme includes a mix of online 
core learning modules (the learning canoe), on Te Waka 
Ako, our learning and development system. Modules 
covered include maritime legislation, Te Tiriti o Waitangi 
(the Treaty of Waitangi), code of conduct, health and safety, 
information and cyber security, and role-specific courses.

Online learning is complemented by a two-day in-person 
group orientation workshop (held virtually during lockdown 

periods) for new starters. Our approach is designed to 
ensure staff feel supported from day one, and receive a 
consistent experience, no matter what their role is or which 
part of our organisation they are joining. 

Furthermore, all staff need to complete the six modules 
of the ‘G-Reg’ New Zealand Certificate in Regulatory 
Compliance (Core Knowledge) and attend a follow-up 
workshop after completion of each module.

Developing leadership
Management and leadership development continues to 
be an important priority. Our programmes allow managers 
and leaders to broaden and expand their management 
and leadership toolkit in an increasingly fast-paced and 
challenging work environment. 

Our Management@MNZ programme is mandatory for 
people managers and consists of three two-day workshops 
over six months, with action learning groups between 
workshops. It uses a blend of theory, research, leading 
practice and participant experience. It is designed to give a 
thorough grounding in the skills and knowledge to become 
a confident and effective people leader in the New Zealand 
public sector. In 2021/22, we ran one programme with 
14 participants.

We also delivered a Coaching for Performance 
Conversations course for 24 staff, which is now a core 
requirement for our people managers.
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Interagency collaboration increases capability 

Close relationships between the learning and development teams of Maritime NZ 
and WorkSafe NZ have supported the sharing of resources and training between 
the agencies, providing great benefits for both organisations. 

Training on Health and Safety 
at Work Act 2015
In 2021, four maritime officers and 
specialist investigators completed 
Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 
training under the expert guidance 
of WorkSafe NZ’s principal technical 
trainer. This is an important step in 
staff obtaining the legal powers to 
carry out their duties under the 
Health and Safety at Work Act 2015. 

Deb Ebbett, Manager of Learning and 
Development at Maritime NZ, says 
that, since 2020, WorkSafe NZ 
has supported 23 maritime officers 
and specialist investigators through 
this technical training. “This ongoing 
sharing of resource is a great 
example of successful cross-agency 
collaboration in action,” she says. 

The trainees shared positive 
feedback about the quality of 
content and facilitation, and how the 
training methods used helped with 
understanding complex topics, how 
to implement, and move from theory 
to practice.

Investigation training modules
The Learning and Development, 
Investigations and Legal teams at 
Maritime NZ delivered a major project, 
with the development of eight online 
investigations modules over 2021 
and early 2022. 

The content covers everything from 
initial actions and planning, to working 
with victims and vulnerable people and 
preparing victim impact statements. 
The modules are a precursor to 
the Investigations Skills workshop 
delivered by specialist investigators 
at Maritime NZ, and have also been 
shared with WorkSafe NZ at its request.

Mariana Niehaus, Manager of Learning 
and Development for WorkSafe NZ, 
says the modules complement the 
Good Practice curriculum, which 
includes topics such as investigation 
skills and victim impact interviewing. 

“The great thing about the modules is 
that they support just-in-time learning 
for those Health and Safety Inspectors 
carrying out front-line interactions with 
dutyholders,” she says.

Feedback from participants has 
been positive. 

The structure made for easy 
engagement, discussions, and 
learning while giving us freedom 
to work through the learning in 
our own, focused environments. 
There is no way around the 
heavy legislative topics, but the 
facilitator found a comfortable 
way to engage with, and keep 
all participants engaged, 
throughout the week. I truly feel 
I understand the correct way 
to use the tool HSWA [Health 
and Safety at Work Act] 2015 
and the powers dedicated 
to us under it as inspectors. 
(Maritime Officer)

CASE STUDY
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Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga – enabling 
our commitment to Papa Pounamu 
Te kōkiri i te kanorau me te ngākau 
tuwhera puta noa i te Ratonga Tūmatanui: 
Driving diversity and inclusion across 
the public service

Established in 2017, the Papa Pounamu programme is a Te Kawa Mataaho 
initiative to drive diversity and inclusion practices across the public service. 
Papa Pounamu has five priority focus areas, each of which we are implementing 
to create a positive impact across the organisation.

As an organisation, we remain committed to these 
priorities. In March 2022 an additional resource (1 FTE) was 
added to the People Capability team to provide capacity 
for HR projects. The role includes a dedicated focus on 
our diversity, equity and inclusion work programme and, 
more recently, we have appointed a chief advisor Māori 
partnerships to progress our te ao Māori strategy and plans.

During 2021/22 the following actions and work programmes 
have been undertaken.

Addressing bias and discrimination
The Gender Equality Working Group, in partnership with 
the Public Sector Association, has continued to focus on 
removing the gender pay gap. As at 30 June 2022, a gender 
pay comparison of salaries for women and men across 
each salary band did not indicate any significant gender pay 
inequity within Maritime NZ. Work by the Gender Equality 
Working Group to bring focus and action to this objective 
has resulted in significant improvement since 2019. This will 
continue to be monitored, to ensure we maintain this balance.

Discussions have begun around the next focus area(s) 
for the Gender Equality Working Group, including the 
possibility of widening the scope to include other diversity 
and inclusion priorities. 

Strengthening cultural competency
Phase 2 of our organisational strategy, Te Korowai o 
Kaitiakitanga, has a work stream focused on culture and 
who we want to be as an organisation, which we have 
called Weaving the Cloak. Focus areas include our values, 
te ao Māori, diversity and inclusion and flexibility, including 
how we stay connected. 

In June 2022, we began a series of employee workshops 
called ‘The Conversation’ to discuss these focus areas. At 
each session we explored why these topics were important, 
what was working well, opportunities for improvement and 
what success looked like five years from now. 

The insights gathered from these workshops will be used to 
inform our ongoing work in building a diverse, inclusive and 

equitable work environment. They will also help shape our 
diversity, equity and inclusion strategy and work programme 
for the coming years.

Building inclusive leadership
Our manager and leadership development continues to 
be a priority. Managers had dedicated ‘Weaving the Cloak’ 
sessions and were asked to think about their role as a 
leader in the organisation, and how they could positively 
contribute to achieving our organisational culture goals.

Developing relationships that are 
responsive to diversity
In December 2021 the IMO Council established an annual day 
to celebrate women in the maritime industry. In May 2022 we 
partnered with the Women’s International Shipping and Trading 
Association to host a series of events around New Zealand on 
18 May, to celebrate the inaugural International Day for Women 
in Maritime. Our chief executive and chair attended these 
events and, at each one, a staff member shared stories of her 
rewarding career in the maritime industry. We also have a staff 
member who has recently been appointed to the Women’s 
International Shipping and Trading Association Board.

In May 2022 we took part in a survey on gender equality 
and women’s empowerment in the maritime sector in Asia 
and the Pacific. Maritime SheEO conducted this research 
to assess participating organisations’ activities, identify 
key opportunities and challenges they face and, ultimately, 
support the design of a roadmap towards gender equality 
and women's empowerment.

Supporting and engaging with 
employee-led networks
In May 2022 Maritime NZ staff were invited to participate 
in a workshop to explore what initiatives, groups and/
or opportunities women would like, including setting up a 
women’s network. Additional employee-led networks will 
be explored in the second half of 2022.
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Being a good employer 

36 For more, see: https://www.hrc.co.nz/resources/business/reporting-crown-entities-good-employers/what-good-employer/

37 For more, see: https://www.hrc.co.nz/resources/business/reporting-crown-entities-good-employers/employment-elements/

We embrace the principles of being a ‘good employer’ that the Human Rights Commission recommends.36 
A summary below shows our activities this year against the seven elements of being a ‘good employer’.37

ELEMENT OUR ACTIVITY THIS YEAR

LEADERSHIP, 
ACCOUNTABILITY 
AND CULTURE

•  Focus on people capability including a comprehensive range of learning and development 
opportunities comprising secondments and management opportunities, as well as formal, 
informal and on-the-job learning.

•  Focus on people management capability including core management and leadership 
programmes, coaching and action learning.

RECUITMENT, 
SELECTION 
AND INDUCTION

•  Committed to diversity and inclusion, the elimination of conscious and unconscious 
bias, and equal employment opportunities.

•  Specialist recruitment staff coordinate a transparent hiring process, to ensure we 
meet legislative requirements and select the best people for the right position.

•  Accredited employer with Immigration New Zealand.
•  New staff undertake our six month on-boarding programme.

EMPLOYEE 
DEVELOPMENT, 
PROMOTION AND EXIT

•  G-Reg core regulatory practice knowledge qualification (Level 3) required for all staff.
•  Focus on providing role and individual learning and development opportunities (particularly 

frontline staff) with the on-going development and implementation of learning initiatives, 
internal secondment opportunities and selection processes that are transparent and 
equitable. All promotions are based on merit.

•  Framework for performance development and remuneration.

FLEXIBILITY AND 
WORK DESIGN

•  Policies and our flexible working approach support flexible working arrangements, 
including flexible hours and working from home or alternative locations, recognising 
the flexibility required to support family and other obligations, embedding a culture of 
flexi-work for all staff with appropriate checks and balances to ensure external, 
organisational, team and individual needs are met. 

•  Encourage staff to take annual leave in the year it is accrued and to manage their hours 
to maintain wellbeing.

•  Professional ergonomic workstation assessments are undertaken for all new and existing 
staff, and recommendations for purchase of ergonomic equipment are actioned.

REMUNERATION, 
RECOGNITION 
AND CONDITIONS

•  Job evaluation processes include ongoing review of position descriptions, to ensure 
they accurately reflect the work being done.

•  Independent specialist provider carries out job evaluations for new or significantly 
amended roles.

•  Remuneration structure is reviewed annually and is referenced against market information 
by an external organisation with expertise in this field.

•  Introduce transparent step-based progression system for staff under 100 percent 
position in range in employee’s salary band to move them quicker towards 100 percent.

HARRASMENT 
AND BULLYING 
PREVENTION

•  Zero tolerance of bullying, ensuring matters are dealt with promptly and appropriately.
•  Robust anti-harassment policy and procedures in place. 
•  Policies and procedures provide guidance to staff available through our intranet, including 

the Code of Conduct, aligned to the wider Public Services Commission Standards of 
Integrity and Conduct.

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
ENVIRONMENT

•  Committed to providing a healthy and safe working environment supported by our 
health, safety and wellbeing (HSW) policy statement, various associated HSW policies 
and procedures, and HSW training for staff.

•  Mandatory online module about health and safety as well as modules about the Health 
and Safety at Work Act 2015 as part of the on-boarding programme.

•  HSW Committee, chaired by the Director and Chief Executive, includes representatives 
from all levels and groups across the organisation and from the Public Service Association.

•  Actively encourage HSW reporting, with particular focus on pain and discomfort reporting.
•  Manage the HSW risk associated with workstation ergonomics especially as more people 

have had to work from home due to COVID-19 lockdowns and isolation requirements. 
Reports of pain and discomfort are followed up promptly with a specialist occupational 
therapist assessment.

•  Confidential Employee Assistance Programme available to staff.
•  Annual flu vaccination available for staff.

https://www.hrc.co.nz/resources/business/reporting-crown-entities-good-employers/what-good-employer/
https://www.hrc.co.nz/resources/business/reporting-crown-entities-good-employers/employment-elements
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Figure 16: Highest rated responses in our HSW survey
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Building our health, safety 
and wellbeing culture

We strive to lead the maritime domain in embedding a strong health, safety 
and wellbeing (HSW) culture.

To achieve a strong culture, we must:

•  ensure our staff are engaged in and committed to health 
and safety and have opportunities to participate

•  ensure our staff have the knowledge and skills to be able 
to assess and manage the risks they face in their work

•  collaborate with others to effect change and system-wide 
health and safety outcomes.

We have robust HSW policies in place that are reviewed 
regularly to keep pace with changes, such as those 
presented by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our HSW 
Committee, chaired by the Director and Chief Executive 
and comprising members from across the organisation, 
meets regularly to drive activities and improvements in our 
HSW culture.

Measuring progress
Maritime NZ staff completed the 2021 SafePlus HSW survey 
(figures 16 and 17). The survey covers the core elements 
of health and safety leadership, worker engagement and 
risk management. The survey was run in November and 
December 2021, with a 65 percent participation rate.

All staff members, Board members, temporary staff and 
individual contractors based on Maritime NZ premises were 
invited to participate in the survey. 

The overall survey result of 73 percent favourable shows 
an encouraging level of support for, and confidence in, 
our organisational HSW management system. This result 
is especially positive given the changing and challenging 
environment as a result of COVID-19-related disruptions to 
work and personal lives.

The survey results also provided helpful indications of areas 
on which we can focus to drive further improvement in our 
internal HSW management. 

Over the year, we have undertaken a variety of HSW 
activities, including:

•  ensuring all frontline workers were vaccinated against 
COVID-19

•  conducting risk assessments to determine whether 
all employees were required to be vaccinated against 
COVID-19

•  holding HSW Committee elections to select health and 
safety representatives. We received a good response 
from the election, which ensured sufficient cross-
organisational representation

•  recommencing Red Cross essential first aid training 
workshops for our staff

•  running a mental health awareness week with a theme of 
‘Take time to kōrero’. This focused on connecting with the 
people in our lives and creating space for conversations 
about mental health and wellbeing. Whether it is checking 
in with a mate, having a kōrero over some kai or saying 
hello to a stranger, a little chat can go a long way

•  providing and updating information and guidance for how 
to operate safely at the different COVID-19 alert levels 
and ‘Traffic Light’ settings

•  contracting Benestar, a specialist employee assistance 
provider, to provide confidential counselling and support 
for our people.
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Figure 17: SafePlus core elements
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Our carbon neutral journey

Reducing emissions: our path towards carbon neutrality

38 Ministry for the Environment. 2022. Measuring emissions: A guide for organisations: 2022 detailed guide. Wellington: Ministry for the Environment. 
This guidance uses the 100-year global warming potentials in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Fourth Assessment Report and published 
emissions factors.

Our environmental sustainability reporting
As a Crown agent, Maritime NZ is part of the Carbon 
Neutral Government Programme, which has been set 
up to accelerate the reduction of greenhouse emissions 
within the public sector. This programme is important to 
us and has further strengthened our efforts to advance 
our sustainable workforce and workplace goals and to 
demonstrate leadership and showcase positive action to 
the maritime sector.

We are committed to operating efficiently and effectively 
while seeking to reduce the impact of our operations on the 
environment. Our emissions reduction efforts will reduce our 
greenhouse gas emissions towards being carbon neutral 
by 2025 in a way that is befitting a maritime environmental 
protection agency. 

We have chosen financial year 2019/20 as our base year 
for measuring change over time, because this was the last 
period when operational activities were not severely affected 
by the COVID-19 pandemic; 2020/21 and 2021/22 were 
not representative of ‘typical’ years for us.

Our journey ahead
We are working on various actions to reduce emissions to 
support our efforts to make practicable emission reductions 
without critical impacts on service delivery. We have initiatives in 
place to support our reduction efforts in the areas we have 
control over and can measure robustly. Our decarbonisation 
journey will be an iterative one that will take time. 

In a typical year, staff air travel is our largest source of 
emissions, with most coming from international air travel. 
While processes are already in place to manage approval 
of air travel, we believe we can review and strengthen 
these and better prioritise and manage the demand for air 
travel. The pandemic has also taught us a great deal about 
working effectively online, and we will continue to use and 
invest in good technology to provide an alternative to air 
travel. 

To support a reduction in our fuel consumption (our third 
highest emissions source), we have undertaken a full fleet 
audit, optimisation study and transition plan. This planning 
will help us identify any risks and advantages associated 
with the use of electric vehicles in our fleet. We anticipate 
we will be able to transition most of our light vehicle fleet to 
electric vehicles by 2025/26, to the extent that is possible 
given our role and operational requirements.

As part of our commitment, we will reinvigorate our internal 
sustainability group who will liaise with staff on reduction 
initiatives and help staff to decarbonise through their daily 
decisions and habits. This group has been in hiatus since 

the arrival of COVID-19 due to the redirection of resources 
following the COVID-19 response. 

In 2022/23, we intend to make good progress on our 
transition to low emissions vehicles and better manage 
the demand for air travel.

Our challenges
Our role operating the RCCNZ means coordinating 
search and rescue emergencies in New Zealand’s search 
and rescue region, which covers over 30 million square 
kilometres. We ensure a 24-hour national land, sea and 
air search and rescue coordination service as part of an 
integrated search and rescue system. In 2021/22, this 
response work resulted in 36 lives saved, 248 people 
rescued and 301 assisted (for more, see page 54).

The number of lives rescued has increased by 50 percent 
since 2015/16, which is a reflection of the rise in recreational 
and adventure-based activities over this period. This trend 
is mirrored in the increase in beacon registrations over time, 
with all beacon-related cases triaged through RCCNZ. 
Since the start of the pandemic, we have also seen a 
general rise in on-water activities. These increases explain 
the increase in our search and rescue related emissions 
over the past two financial years. 

Our search and rescue response activity is considered a 
non-negotiable preservation of life activity. As such, it is not 
an activity that can be reduced nor is it likely to be helped 
by technological advances in the short to near term. In 
the longer term, potential advances in aviation fuel and 
search and location technologies may allow for emission 
reductions, but this is uncertain. The demand for search 
and rescue services, however, will continue to increase. 

Our emissions and progress (total 
annual emissions and their sources)

To help us with compiling our carbon 
inventory, we participate in the Toitū 
carbonreduce programme and are 
proud to have achieved certification. 

Our approach, emissions data and 
calculations have been independently 
verified against ISO14064-1:2018 
by Toitū Envirocare, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Manaaki Whenua 
Landcare Research, which is a 
Crown research institute. 

These emissions results align with the Ministry for the 
Environment’s 2022 measuring emissions guidance.38 
As shown in table 3, in our base year of 2019/20, our 
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most significant emission sources were: international air 
travel (42 percent our emissions), domestic air travel 
(19 percent), air rotary search and rescue activity 
(16 percent) and fuel emissions from our vehicle fleet 
(9 percent). In that year, we emitted 1,436.6 tonnes 
of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2-e). In the past two 
years, the proportions of these emission types changed 
significantly, as a result of travel restrictions.

In 2020/21, our business activities led to 960 tCO2-e, a 
decrease of 33 percent compared with our baseline year. 
In 2021/22, we emitted 882.2 tCO2-e, a reduction on the 

previous year of 8 percent and 39 percent lower than our 
2019/20 base year.

While the emission reductions during this period can 
primarily be attributed to the impacts of COVID-19 border 
closures, meaning international travel was not feasible 
during 2020 and 2021, the work to consciously reduce our 
travel is under way. We have also completed several data 
improvement collection activities that remove assumptions 
in our methodology, for example, in the areas of our search 
and rescue activity and office waste.

Table 3: Emissions profile broken down by scope and total annual emissions (tCO2-e) for financial years

SCOPE SOURCE OF GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

TONNES 
(CO2-e) %

TONNES 
(CO2-e) %

TONNES 
(CO2-e) %

SCOPE 

1 

CATEGORY 1: DIRECT EMISSIONS 

Mobile combustion
Petrol fleet vehicles 45.05 3% 42.82 4% 35.59 4%

Diesel fleet vehicles 88.28 6% 103.86 11% 59.76 7%

SCOPE 

2
CATEGORY 2: INDIRECT EMISSIONS FROM IMPORTED ENERGY

Electricity
Electricity (from offices 
and lighthouses)

47.33 3% 47.23 5% 44.18 5%

SCOPE 

3
CATEGORY 3: INDIRECT EMISSIONS FROM TRANSPORTATION

Business travel

International air travel 607.29 42% 3.01 0% 47.23 5%

Domestic air travel 274.44 19% 254.92 27% 190.84 22%

Taxi 6.09 0% 6.64 1% 2.63 0%

Rental car, purchase card 
fuel purchases, private 
mileage, and contractor 
use of vehicles

16.16 1% 17.37 2% 11.96 1%

Helicopters 20.87 1% 24.56 3% 24.34 3%

Accommodation 47.25 3% 30.57 3% 19.01 2%

Employee working 
from home

Electricity and waste 
consumed by staff when 
working from home

11.42 1% 20.51 2% 16.16 2%

Freight services Mail, couriers and freight 0.11 0% 5.12 1% 3.10 0%

CATEGORY 4: INDIRECT EMISSIONS FROM PRODUCTS AND SERVICES USED BY THE ORGANISATION

Energy-related 
activities

Transmission and 
distribution losses for 
electricity consumed

4.14 0% 4.05 0% 3.61 0%

Waste
Office waste 16.77 1% 21.57 2% 4.57 1%

Industrial waste 1.11 0% 8.81 1% 1.01 0%

Purchased goods 
and services

Paper use* 2.37 0% 2.07 0% 0.92 0%

Water supply (offices) 1 0% 1.29 0% 1.28 0%

Waste water 12.15 1% 15.63 2% 16.40 2%

Construction materials 
used in lighthouse 
maintenance*

0.12 0% 1.09 0% 0.04 0%

Total emissions before SAR activity 1,201.95 84% 611.12 64% 482.63 55%

Search and rescue 
activity helicopter 
tasking

RCCNZ tasking of air 
rotary assets for search 
and rescue activity*

234.64 16% 348.92 36% 399.61 45%

  GRAND TOTAL (including SAR activity) 1,436.59 100% 960.04 100% 882.24 100%

* Not a Carbon Neutral Government Programme mandatory source. 
Note: RCCNZ = Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand; SAR = search and rescue.
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Our reduction targets 

39 The greenhouse gas reporting protocol requires that all emission sources be placed into one of three scope activities, where Scope 1 is direct greenhouse 
gas emissions from sources that are owned and controlled. Scope 2 activities are indirect greenhouse gas emissions that are used by the organisation, such 
as purchased electricity usage. Scope 3 are other indirect emissions that are generated from sources that the organisation does not own or control, such as 
air travel.

We have set an internal target of a reduction of 21 percent 
from our base year figures in scope 1, scope 2 and scope 3 
mandatory emissions by July 2025 (figure 18).39 This is a 
highly ambitious target that reflects Maritime NZ’s intent 
to respond to the urgency of the climate crisis through 
pursuing science-aligned targets (1.5 degrees Celsius 
emissions reduction pathway).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We also are pursuing intensity targets to reduce emissions 
per FTE by 35 percent and per $ million operating revenue 
by 25 percent from our base year.

Since our baseline year, we have experienced growth 
in the number of FTE staff and operating revenue and 
expenditure, see table 4. This growth is essential to 
continued operational service delivery, but it is likely to 
make achieving the targets for reductions (measured 
against the 2019/20 year extremely challenging if we 
are to continue to meet service delivery expectations.

Figure 18: Total emissions (tCO2-e) 2019/20 to 2021/22 compared with the 1.5 degrees Celsius pathway
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Table 4: Total gross greenhouse gas emissions by emission intensity key performance indicators, 
2019/20 to 2021/22

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

FTE staff 253 325 339

Operating revenue ($m)* 70 65 79

Expenditure ($m)* 62 70 78

EMISSIONS INTENSITY      

Total gross emissions per FTE in tCO2-e per annum 5.68 2.95 2.60

Total gross emissions per million dollars of revenue in tCO2-e 20.46 14.77 11.15

Total gross emissions per million dollars of expenditure in tCO2-e 23.10 13.70 11.34

* Includes all three entities Maritime NZ, Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand and Oil Pollution Fund. 
Note: FTE = full-time equivalent; tCO2-e = tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent. 

Overall, a clear reduction has occurred in our emissions intensity, as shown in figure 19.
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Figure 19: Total gross greenhouse gas emissions by emission intensity key performance indicators, 
2019/20 to 2021/22
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Building our information and 
intelligence capability

To be an increasingly effective regulator means we continually need to develop, 
maintain and grow our ability to create, use and share high-quality data and 
intelligence. 

Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga has helped to shape the 
organisation’s information and intelligence needs, and a 
work programme is being developed to determine key 
projects and priorities to be delivered over the coming 
years. Our intent is to work towards having improved 
capabilities, technology and digital platforms that will allow 
us, and those we work with, to make accurate and timely 
decisions and to paint the sector intelligence picture. 

We are leveraging technology and developing our 
information and intelligence skills to create, use and share 
high-quality data, information and insights.

In 2021/22, despite the challenges of COVID-19 
disruptions, and the need to focus on identifying and 
supporting Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga, we made steady 
progress on our information and intelligence work 
programmes. 

Highlights include:

•  the ongoing development of a data and analytics platform 
to support building a sector intelligence picture, which will 
create a Maritime NZ Data Lake to enable cross-system 
insights through access to internal and external data to 
evolve reporting functions to proactive analytical functions

•  the delivery of an enterprise approach to geospatial 
technology with the ESRI ArcGIS solution rolled out in 
quarter two to support Maritime NZ geospatial capability 
development. This has meant real-time geospatial 
data are now collected from ‘No Excuses’ on-water 
observation campaigns 

•  the creation of a section 31 Notification Power BI 
dashboard for in-house use by staff.

Notably, our research, analysis and intelligence capability 
is now fully staffed and has additional temporary 
resources to support the work programme. Significant 
achievements include:

•  agreement to the refreshed Transport Evidence Base 
Implementation Plan jointly developed by the government 
transport sector agencies (inclusive of Te Manatū Waka, 
Waka Kotahi, Maritime NZ and Civil Aviation Authority) 
setting out agreed actions (as aligned with Research, 
Analysis and Intelligence team work programme) to 
deliver the key evidence activities identified in the 
Transport Evidence Base Implementation Plan 

•  development and alignment of a standard memorandum 
of understanding with regional councils that enables 
protected two-way information sharing between 
regulatory partners

•  a signed-off strategic intelligence programme and 
production of intelligence products, such as a strategic 
intelligence assessment of international maritime supply 
chains 

•  a longitudinal analysis of fatal accidents in the Recreation 
Boating System Summary Report was published.

We recognise the importance and interconnectivity of 
information communications and technology systems 
integration, applications development, data analytics and 
mobility. We are making many improvements in these 
areas, particularly in retiring manual systems and processes 
to allow our staff to work more efficiently. This year, we 
continued the development and release of Triton capability, 
including compliance module functionality, such as 
payments processing improvements and ad hoc invoicing 
for activities not currently captured in a dedicated workflow, 
and other systems enhancements.

However, COVID-19 disruptions and funding pressures 
meant we did not make as much progress on some 
projects as we would have liked, particularly the Financial 
Management Information System replacement. We have 
undertaken explorative work in this space, however, to 
understand business requirements and system options.
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Maintaining our financial sustainability

Financial uncertainty continued into the 2021/22 financial year with Maritime Levy 
heavily impaired due to COVID-19 disruptions and border closures.

We also faced increased cost pressures due to the 
COVID-19 operating environment and through our 
ongoing work in leading engagement with the maritime 
industry on behalf of Government. This support to the 
Government’s Border and Transport sector COVID-19 
response and recovery activities created significant in-year 
costs pressures and meant costs were absorbed through 
re-prioritisation of regulatory and other activities. 

Previously in April 2020, Cabinet approved a multi-year 
liquidity facility of $40 million for Maritime New Zealand and 
the Oil Pollution Fund to access through to 30 June 2022. 
The intent of the appropriation was to address levy shortfalls 
should maritime and oil pollution levy revenue streams 
be materially impacted by COVID-19 in order to maintain 
capability and performance of maritime safety, security and 
response functions. 

Through 2021/22 Maritime New Zealand drew down 
$15.2 million to cover levy shortfall. The Oil Pollution 
Fund did not draw down on the liquidity facility due 
to COVID-19-related delays in completing capital and 
operating expenditure projects. 

Maritime New Zealand and the Oil Pollution Fund has 
access to untagged cash reserves of $5 million and 
$1 million respectively to deal with non-COVID related 
business risks.

Through Budget 22 funding was provided to cover levy 
impairment was extended by Government to provide 
funding to maintain our core functions, along with additional 
funding to meet our HSWA obligations and MARPOL 
Annex VI implementation. 

Furthermore, the Crown has provided funding support 
for Maritime NZ and the Oil Pollution Fund to maintain 
regulatory and response capability and performance. 
Support will continue until the sector and/or Maritime NZ 
achieves a pathway back to financial sustainability through 
the upcoming funding review (for more see Note 1 on 
page 99).

Cabinet also agreed to provide a letter of comfort to the 
Maritime NZ Board and further Crown liquidity support for 
Maritime New Zealand (including the Oil Pollution Fund) to 
maintain core capability and capacity be addressed through 
Budget processes.
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Statement of performance 
Tauākī whakatutukitanga

PART B

Photo: Kerensa Pickett on Unsplash
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Statement of responsibility 

We are responsible for the preparation 
of Maritime NZ’s financial statements 
and statement of performance, and 
for the judgements made in them.

We are responsible for any end of year performance 
information provided by Maritime NZ under section 19A 
of the Public Finance Act 1989.

We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining 
a system of internal control designed to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability 
of financial reporting.

In our opinion, these financial statements and statement 
of performance fairly reflect the financial position and 
operations of Maritime NZ for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Signed for and on behalf of the Board.

Jo Brosnahan, QSO 
Board Chair, Maritime NZ 
 
Dated: 29 November 2022

Roy Weaver 
Deputy Chair, Maritime NZ 
 
Dated: 29 November 2022
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Vote Transport: 
Non-departmental output expense

To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities 
undertaken by Maritime NZ that are funded through Vote Transport non-
departmental output expenses are indicated within each relevant output class in 
the Statement of Performance. Relevant financial information is also provided in 
the tables following each output class performance summary on pages 83 to 92.

40 The numbers included only relate to Maritime NZ’s portion of the funding, not the total appropriation funding.

41 Footnote as above.

A summary of appropriations funded through Vote Transport and from Vote Transport Information Supporting the Estimates 
2021/22 is provided in the table below.

NON-
DEPARTMENTAL 
OUTPUT EXPENSE

WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED WITH THIS 
APPROPRIATION

ACTUAL 
2021/22 

$000

SUPP.  
ESTIMATES  

2021/22 
$000

APPROP. 
ESTIMATES 

2021/22 
$000

ACTUAL 
2020/21 

$000

Maritime 
Regulatory 
and Response 
Services (M72) 
(A26)

This appropriation is limited to the purchase of search and 
rescue activities and a search and rescue coordination 
service, building capability to respond to maritime pollution 
incidents, the development and delivery of regulatory services 
that are the responsibility of Maritime NZ, and the provision of 
advice and services by Maritime NZ to support ministers to 
discharge their portfolio responsibilities relating to transport.

9,246 9,299 9,299 –

Search and 
Rescue Activities 
(M72) Transferred 
to Maritime 
Regulatory and 
Response Services 
in 2021/22

This appropriation is limited to the purchase of search and 
rescue activities and a search and rescue coordination 
service, including follow-up inquiries and reporting associated 
with the searches and rescues undertaken.

3,231

Policy Advice and 
Related Outputs 
– Maritime (M72), 
Transferred 
to Maritime 
Regulatory 
and Response 
Services in 
2021/22

The overarching purpose of this appropriation is to regulate 
and enhance safety in New Zealand’s maritime environment.

Maritime Incident Response

This category is limited to building capability to respond to 
complex maritime pollution incidents.

817

Maritime Safety and Marine Protection Services

This category is limited to the development and delivery of 
regulatory services that are the responsibility of Maritime NZ 
under legislation. 

1,955

Policy Advice – Maritime

This category is limited to the provision of advice (including 
second opinion advice and contributions to policy advice led 
by other agencies) to support decision making by Ministers on 
government policy matters and ministerial servicing.

3,349

Search and 
Rescue and 
Recreational 
Boating Safety 
Activities PLA 
(M72)40

This appropriation is intended to achieve a sustained reduction 
in the identified systemic risks within the New Zealand search 
and rescue system to reduce the number of preventable 
search and rescue related fatalities in New Zealand.

14,072 14,272 12,472 13,264

Health and Safety 
at Work activities 
– Maritime (M72) 

This appropriation is limited to health and safety activities for 
the maritime sector, for which Maritime NZ has designated 
responsibility.

6,194 6,194 6,194 6,194

Protection of 
Transport Sector 
Agency Core 
Functions (M72)41 

This appropriation is limited to purchase of core services from 
Maritime New Zealand that are no longer able to be cost-
recovered from third parties as a result of COVID-19.

15,155 21,700 16,300 –
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Vote Transport: 
Non-departmental capital expenditure

To comply with obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities 
undertaken by Maritime NZ that are funded through Vote Transport non-
departmental capital expenditure and a summary of appropriations and 
performance measures are detailed in the table below.

NON-
DEPARTMENTAL 
OUTPUT EXPENSE

WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED 
WITH THIS APPROPRIATION

ACTUAL 
2021/22 

$000

SUPPLEMENTARY 
ESTIMATES  

2021/22  
$000

APPROPRIATION 
ESTIMATES 

2021/22  
$000

ACTUAL 
2020/21 

$000

Maritime 
New Zealand 
Capital Expenditure 
PLA 

The estimated amount to be spent 
in relation to Maritime NZ costs, as 
authorised by section 9(1) of the Land 
Transport Management Act 2003.

181 286 105 265

ASSESSMENT OF PERFORMANCE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

2021/22 
BUDGETED 
STANDARD

ACTUAL 
2020/21

Successful implementation of planned systems capability improvements Achieved Achieved Achieved
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Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our outputs 

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on New Zealand and around the world 
have been felt widely. As we entered the financial year, significant uncertainty was 
still felt regarding the implications of the pandemic for people, the global economy 
and the maritime sector. 

42 Measure description as per the 2021/22 Statement of Performance Expectations. Wording per the Vote is: Maintain appropriate capability for core functions 
– appropriate resourcing to meet service level requirements.

The financial forecasts were based on current understanding 
of the situation using the best information available at the 
time. The forecasts took account of our current financial 
situation including financial reserves, Treasury scenarios 
regarding the economic impacts of COVID-19, scenarios 
relating to maritime industry activity and government 
measures to support border and transport agencies to 
maintain core services. 

Our non-financial performance measures were based on 
our estimates of a ‘usual’ year, to maintain our year-on-year 
benchmark. However, we recognised we may not be able 
to meet some measures where non-controllable factors 
emerged and not enough certainty was in place to provide 
a meaningful alternative forecast or set of measures. 

In our 2021/22 Statement of Performance Expectations, 
we included a       symbol against certain measures deemed 
at risk due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In many cases, 
we have been able to eliminate or mitigate the potential 
risks. Where we have been able to meet or exceed 
performance targets deemed at risk, we have included 
a       symbol. Where we were not able to meet performance 
targets, we have provided a variance explanation. 

In addition to the output classes on the following pages, two 
new non-financial performance measures were introduced. 
These cover the performance expectations of the Crown 
against the funding provided to Maritime NZ to protect core 
services where third party revenue has been significantly 
affected by COVID-19. 

APPROPRIATION MEASURES FOR THE PROTECTION OF TRANSPORT SECTOR AGENCY CORE 
FUNCTIONS 

ACTUAL 
2021/22

2021/22 
BUDGETED 
STANDARD

Maintain appropriate capability for core functions42 Achieved Achieved

Mitigate costs to the Crown – implement the plan for mitigating costs and any variations as 
agreed with the Ministry of Transport

Achieved Achieved
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Statements of performance 

Output class 1: Regulation He Waeture

Under this output class, we administer the regulation for the maritime system 
in New Zealand, as well as New Zealand’s international maritime obligations. 
We also support the Minister of Transport and other parts of government to 
make informed decisions relating to the maritime system.

43 Papers are limited to policy analysis, briefings, reports to the Minister of Transport and Te Manatū Waka for ministerial consideration and ministerial reports, 
that is, where we have provided formal advice.

44 Assessment is applied using the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet’s Policy Projects Policy Quality Framework. The score (out of 5) is determined 
by an internal panel established to fulfil the role that looks at criteria based on: context (does it explain why the decision-maker is getting the advice?), 
analysis (is it clear, logical and informed by evidence?), advice (does it engage the decision-maker and tell the full story?) and action (does it identify who 
is doing what next?).

45 The Transport regulatory programme comprises the annual transport rules and policy analyses agreed by Cabinet.

46 International engagement objectives are determined in accordance with the agreed process to prioritise issues that align with New Zealand’s interests 
under Maritime NZ’s international engagement strategy.

47 Maritime NZ has two standing annual reporting obligations (to the International Oil Pollution Compensation Funds and MARPOL oil reporting). 
Other international reporting obligations may occur during in the year, depending on the requirements of the International Maritime Organization 
and other international bodies.

Output 1.1: Operational maritime policy advice

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

*1.1.1 The average score for papers43 to the Minister of Transport or  
Te Manatū Waka, that are assessed,44 is at least 3.5 out of 5

83.33% ≥80% New measure

1.1.2 The percentage of the Transport regulatory programme completed 
subject to variations agreed with Te Manatū Waka45 

100% 100% 100% 

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expense

Output 1.2: International obligations and relations

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

1.2.1 The percentage of international engagement objectives met that 
align with identified priorities46 

100% ≥95% 100%

1.2.2 The percentage of international reporting obligations to 
international organisation completed by due date47 

100% ≥95% 100% 
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Output 1.3: Parliamentary and government accountability

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

1.3.1 The percentage of replies to ministerial correspondence and 
parliamentary questions that meet Maritime NZ’s quality criteria48 

96.27% 100% 95.12%

Provided as context:

The number of ministerial correspondence and parliamentary 
questions received

77 N/A 40

Variance explanation

In 2021/22, a significant increase occurred in the volume, size and complexity of the ministerial correspondence and parliamentary 
questions we were required to respond to, with 77 requests compared with 40 last year, an increase of 92.5 percent. The increase in 
requests was managed within existing resources. Our primary quality criterion relates to timeliness, and we responded to all but one set 
of questions within agreed timeframes. In the instance where we required longer than initially requested to respond, we were able to 
provide answers within timeframes agreed with the Minister’s office. Under Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga, the former Government Services 
team, which dealt with Official Information Act 1982 (OIA) requests, ministerial correspondence and parliamentary questions, has been 
merged into the wider Partnerships group, which should achieve efficiencies in how we respond in future.

1.3.2 The percentage of Official Information Act 1982 requests 
responded to in accordance with Maritime NZ’s quality 
criteria49 

96.15% 100% 98.87%

Provided as context: 

The number of Official Information Act 1982 requests received 

130 N/A 112

Variance explanation

During 2021/22, we responded to 125 OIA requests, and all but five responses (96.15%) met our quality criteria, which are primarily 
based on timeframes: in the case of an OIA request, completion within 20 working days or an extension agreed with the requestor. 
Throughout the year, we received 130 OIA requests, well up on the 112 received last year, and an increase of 13 percent, which placed 
considerable pressure on the small team coordinating all responses. Many of these requests were complex and large. Some OIA requests 
remain open, having been received late in the year.

Output class 1: Total revenue and expenses

  ACTUAL 
2021/22 

$000

BUDGET 
2021/22  

$000

ACTUAL 
2020/21 

$000

Crown*  5,124  4,974 3,349

Fuel Excise Duty  223  222 217

Funding from Crown agencies  3,066  2,896 2,787

Maritime Levy*  2,851  2,977 3,238

Other third party revenue  231  277 228

Total revenue  11,495  11,346 9,819

Total expenditure  10,577  10,971 10,582

Net surplus/(deficit)  918  375 (763)

* Refer to note 24 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

48 Our primary means of determining if quality is met relates to timeliness, as well as other factors, including that the request has been appropriately scoped; 
that the tone and quality of the writing in the response is appropriate; and that sign-off processes were robust.

49 Our primary means of determining if quality is met relates to timeliness, as well as other factors, including that the request has been appropriately scoped; 
that withholding grounds have been properly applied, if applicable; that the tone and quality of the writing in the response is appropriate; that sign-off 
processes were robust; and the legislative requirements under the Official Information Act 1982 were met.
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Output class 2: Compliance He Whakaū

Under this output class, we make sure participants in the maritime system operate 
safely and securely to ensure that health, safety, security and marine protection 
standards are met and risks are well managed by administering entry controls, 
monitoring and enforcement.

50 Maritime NZ operates within the New Zealand national security framework and this provides Maritime NZ with situational advice and warning to assess 
security for New Zealand ports. Information received may warrant the increase of security settings for New Zealand ports to allow them to set heightened 
security measures. Having access to reliable information means Maritime NZ has good situational awareness and ports have the ability to react in a timely 
manner. No significant port security incidents have occurred since the Maritime Security Act was passed in 2004, defined as reported incidents that meet 
the threshold that requires the Maritime NZ Director to consider raising the security levels of ports. 

51 The N/A result is because no significant security threats arose during 2021/22. 

52 An application is complete when adequate information has been received to make an assessment and excludes time spent waiting for an applicant to 
provide additional information necessary to make a decision. 

53 This includes maritime documents, marine protection documents, ship registration certificates, exemptions from rules, seafarer certificates and other 
documents issued by Maritime NZ’s Certification Team. It excludes MOSS entry applications because this process has an agreed 90 working day timeframe. 

54 For 2021/22 reporting purposes, we have included the time seafarer applications (one of the five application types used to calculate this measure) have been 
put on hold due to manual processes, which makes this difficult to measure accurately. We have previously not included a seafarers’ application on-hold time.

Output 2.1: Maritime security

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

2.1.1 The percentage of identified security threats to New Zealand port 
facilities and ships in New Zealand waters that are appropriately 
responded to50 

N/A51 100% N/A

Output 2.2: Certification and registration

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

2.2.1 The percentage of applications for maritime documents, marine 
protection documents, statutory certificates and permits 
processed within 20 working days measured from receipt of a 
complete52 application to a decision being made53 

32.06%54 ≥70% 36.99%

Provided as context: 

The number of applications for maritime documents, marine 
protection documents, statutory certificates and permits received

3,854 N/A 3,585

Provided as context: 

The number of applications for maritime documents, marine 
protection documents, statutory certificates and permits 
processed

 3,540 N/A 3,365

Variance explanation

The percentage of applications processed within 20 working days (32.06 percent) was not as high as we would have liked. This was 
due to ongoing resourcing constraints, staff turnover and recruitment challenges in filling roles, increased application volumes, as well 
as improvements needed with our systems and processes. In contrast to previous years’ measurements, this year, we did not ‘stop 
the clock’ for those seafarer applications on hold (some applications are placed on hold while waiting for further information from the 
applicant). As part of the Te Korowai project, a more robust process has been implemented to manage on-hold applications to prevent a 
build up of applications that have been on hold for a time. We will also be looking at improving the guidance available to seafarers so they 
fully understand the requirements to meet the certificate they are applying for. 



86 MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

Output 2.3: Inspection and audit

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

2.3.1 The percentage of ships inspected that are assessed as meeting 
Maritime NZ's Port State Control high-risk criteria55 

75.78% ≥70% New measure

2.3.2 The percentage of scheduled inspections of active New Zealand 
flag state ships56 completed

100% 100% New measure

*2.3.3 The percentage of active Maritime Operator Safety System 
operators that are audited as scheduled under the Maritime 
Transport Act 1994 and have an assessment under the Health 
and Safety at Work Act 201557 

90.96% ≥80% New measure

2.3.4 The number of Port State Control inspections completed 161 200 New measure

Variance explanation

COVID-19 border controls and lockdowns continued to reduce access to ships in quarter one and quarter two of 2021/22. In addition, 
reoccurring capacity constraints and the need to allocate resources to high risk competing priorities like port assessments hindered 
our ability to conduct PSC inspections throughout the year. We understand our challenges in this area and will be forming a maritime 
inspections team, which will increase our capacity and be dedicated to our work in the port safety space.

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output 2.4: Investigation and enforcement

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

*2.4.1 The percentage of investigations concluded within 12 months of 
being opened58 

96.82% ≥95% 95.28%

*2.4.2 The percentage of prosecutions brought under the Maritime 
Transport Act 1994 and/or Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 
that result in the relevant parties being held to account59 

80% ≥80% 84.21%

Provided as context:

The number of prosecutions60 

44 N/A 56

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

55 This performance measure was introduced in 2021/22 to replace the following measure: 2.3.1: The percentage of higher risk ships entering NZ that are 
inspected. We changed the wording in 2021/22 to reflect the high-risk criteria that we adopted last year. ‘High risk’ is assessed as per the Asia Pacific Port 
State Control Manual; this includes multiple factors, such as general particulars of the ship, Port State Control inspection history and Tokyo MOU information.

56 Flag state ships means those New Zealand flagged ships operating under the International Safety Management Code.

57 MOSS is one of New Zealand’s primary regulatory frameworks for enabling safe people and operations. MOSS audits of operators are undertaken to 
assess performance against this framework. This performance measure was introduced in 2021/22 to replace the following measure: 2.3.2 The percentage 
of higher risk MOSS operators that are audited under the Maritime Transport Act and have an assessment under the Health and Safety at Work Act. 
We changed the wording to reflect a broader focus on active MOSS operators rather than just higher risk operators.

58 ‘Concluded’ includes when a decision is made to take no further action, to prosecute or take alternative compliance action, such as audit, inspection or 
Enforceable Undertakings (an alternative to prosecution when a duty holder has breached (including an alleged breach) Part 4 of the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 2015). 

59 Held to account’ is interpreted to include a conviction or another compliance outcome in the public interest (in line with the Solicitor-General guidelines). 
A decision to withdraw charges against a party (eg, as part of an arrangement to plead guilty to other charges or where it is no longer in the public interest 
to progress a prosecution) should not be interpreted as failing to hold a party to account, nor should a situation where a judge has decided to discharge 
someone without conviction (because that only occurs once the judge has determined that the party was indeed guilty but has decided not to record 
a conviction in respect of the relevant offending for compassionate grounds).

60 Includes a count of prosecutions that are still active and have not been decided by the courts at year end, as well as concluded prosecutions 
and Enforceable Undertakings. The figure for 2021/22 is made up of 19 cases concluded in the financial year and 25 before the court at year end 
(30 June, 2022). Of the 19 cases concluded, 14 were sentenced in court, four were withdrawn and one dismissed. Two of the four withdrawn cases 
were due to Enforceable Undertaking agreements.
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Output class 2: Total revenue and expenses

  ACTUAL 
2021/22 

$000

BUDGET 
2021/22  

$000

ACTUAL 
2020/21 

$000

Crown*  8,604  7,922 547

Fuel Excise Duty  2,151 2,151 2,093

Working Safer Levy  4,088 4,089 4,088

Maritime Levy*  12,938  13,500 12,720

User Charges*  1,232  1,573 1,397

Other third party revenue  409  106 673

Total revenue  29,422  29,341 21,518

Total expenditure  28,572  28,281 24,996

Net surplus/(deficit)  850  1,060 (3,478)

* Refer to note 24 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.
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Output class 3: Response He Whakautu

Under this output class, we maintain readiness and respond to maritime and marine 
pollution incidents and provide coordination of land, sea and air search and rescue.

61 MIRT exercises are conducted to test the individual plans in Maritime NZ’s Integrated Maritime Incident Readiness and Response Strategy. Exercises 
conducted by the MIRT may focus on Maritime NZ’s response as a whole or functions within, for example, salvage oversight. On completion of each 
exercise, a ‘lessons learnt’ plan is developed to ensure any shortfalls in processes, actions or overall response capability are identified and resolved. 
This measure captures both MIRT and Marine Pollution Response Service (MPRS) exercises and workshops, to build integrated response capability. 
In Vote Transport Supplementary Estimates 2021/22, the target for this measure was amended from four to 12. This happened in error. The target of 
12 was intended for 2022/23, as per the Statement of Performance Expectations 2022/23. The above target (four) is per our 2021/22 Statement of 
Performance Expectations.

62 This measure is reported annually due to the number of exercises and workshops completed over a year. Exercise and workshop participants rate their 
competence on a scale of 1 to 5.

63 This measure required data to be collected in 2021/22 before a target could be set.

64 Regional councils submit maintenance records to MPRS, which undertakes annual inspections of all regional councils’ stockpiles. MPRS also maintains 
the national oil spill equipment stockpile.

65 The field exercises will have members of the National Response Team deployed either on the water or beach environment conducting oil spill response 
activities.

66 Exercises test regional council oil spill plans and enable Maritime NZ to assess regional council oil spill capability. Sixteen regions complete two exercises 
per year, so 32 exercises in total.

67 This measure will be reported annually due to the number of exercises completed over a year. Exercise participants will rate their competence on a scale 
of 1 to 10.

68 The average rating result was from 27 participants (out of 52) who answered the question ‘How does Exercise Whai Mana prepare you to be competent 
in your response role?’.

69 This measure required data to be collected in 2021/22 before a target could be set.

Output 3.1: Maritime incident readiness and response

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

*3.1.1 The number of Maritime Incident Response Team exercises and 
workshops completed annually61 

11 4 14

3.1.2 The average annual rating by Maritime Incident Response Team 
exercise and workshop participants of their level of competence in 
a response from post-exercise and workshop survey62 

3.5 N/A63 New measure

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output 3.2: Marine pollution readiness and response

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

3.2.1 The percentage of regional (19) and national (3) equipment stockpiles 
where equipment maintenance has been conducted within the past 
12 months64 

100% 100% 100%

3.2.2 The number of National Response Team field oil response 
exercises conducted annually65 

2 1 1

3.2.3 The percentage of regional councils that undertake two oil spill 
exercises annually66 

75% ≥95% 96.88%

Variance explanation

COVID-19 restrictions meant regional councils were unable to complete the required number of oil spill exercises. Exercises test the 
currency of oil spill plans and, ultimately, the capability to respond to an oil spill. The COVID-19 restrictions were of a short duration and 
have not affected regional council ability to respond to an oil spill in an effective and efficient manner.

3.2.4 The average annual rating by National Response Team field oil spill 
response exercise participants of their level of competence in a 
response from post-exercise survey67 

9 out 1068 N/A69 New measure



Annual Report 2021/22 89

Output 3.3: Search and rescue coordination

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

*3.3.1 The percentage of time the Rescue Coordination Centre 
New Zealand is operational70 

100% 100% 100%

Provided as context:

The number of search and rescue incidents71 

1,102 N/A 1,126

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output class 3: Total revenue and expenses
  ACTUAL 

2021/22 
$000

BUDGET 
2021/22 

$000

ACTUAL 
2020/21 

$000

Crown*  3,942 3,995 4,048

Fuel Excise Duty*  4,059  3,083 3,900

Oil Pollution Levy*  6,086  7,074 6,612

Other third party revenue  548  342 373

Total revenue  14,635  14,494 14,933

Total expenditure  13,829  14,079 13,658

Net surplus/(deficit)  806  415 1,275

* Refer to Note 24 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

* The output financials exclude an intergroup charge between the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and Maritime NZ for support costs that 
  have been eliminated on consolidation.

70 'Operational’ is defined as two qualified SAR officers are on duty and normal operations are being delivered.

71 SAR incidents include Category II search and rescue operations, which require RCCNZ to coordinate major maritime and aviation search and rescue 
missions within New Zealand’s search and rescue region and all missions from someone activating a distress beacon (including land-based operations). 
Category I incidents are coordinated by NZ Police.
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Output class 4: Safety infrastructure 
Ngā Hanga Whakahaumaru

Under this output class, we provide and maintain maritime safety infrastructure, 
including New Zealand’s distress beacon system, distress and safety 
communications and aids to navigation.

72 This measure includes the public-facing beacons website and the registrations database.

73 Scheduled maintenance is product specific and influenced by international standards and advice for the maintenance of each product. Existing maintenance 
contracts are in place, with the appropriate maintenance timelines.

74 The Medium Earth Orbit (MEO)/Geostationary Earth Orbit (GEO) Local User Terminal (LUT) is the New Zealand ground station that receives the 406 distress 
alerts from vessels (EPIRB), aircraft (ELT) and personal locator beacons (PLB).

75 The target is based on the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities (IALA) guideline, which describes the different 
categories and methods of measurement. Outages are recorded by Maritime NZ in a database. The start is when the outage is first reported and the finish 
is when the site is repaired. Outages are reported by the Maritime NZ monitoring system (if monitored), the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand, 
the Maritime Operations Centre (MOC) from a vessel via maritime radio, or by a member of the public.

76 See footnote 75 above.

77 Scheduled maintenance is product specific and influenced by international standards and advice for the maintenance of each product. Existing maintenance 
contracts are in place, with the appropriate maintenance timelines.

78 To meet the reliability targets and best practice, Maritime NZ carries out proactive maintenance of its aids to navigation network, to ensure it is fit for 
purpose. Aids to navigation include 96 lights and 46 daymarks, buoys and automatic identification systems.

Output 4.1: Distress beacon systems

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

4.1.1 The percentage of time ground-based satellite equipment is 
operational

99.85% ≥99.5% 100%

*4.1.2 The percentage of time the beacons’ database system72 is 
available to the public

99.79% ≥99.5% New measure

Provided as context:

The number of beacon registrations

12,861 N/A 14,888

Provided as context:

The number of beacon registrations updated by beacon owners

5,751 N/A 13,528

4.1.3 The percentage of scheduled maintenance73 of the distress 
beacons ground site completed74 

99.97% ≥90% New measure

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output 4.2: Aids to navigation

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

*4.2.1 The percentage of time lighthouses are operational 
(per IALA category 1)75 

99.99% ≥99.8% 99.99%

4.2.2 The percentage of time that day beacons/buoys are operational 
(per IALA category 3)76 

99.98% ≥97% 100%

4.2.3 The percentage of scheduled maintenance77 of aids to navigation78 
completed

100% ≥90% New measure

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.
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Output 4.3: Distress safety communications

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

4.3.1 The percentage of time communication services are available79 99.88% ≥99.8% 99.89%

*4.3.2 The percentage of time the Maritime Operations Centre is 
operational80 

99.93% ≥99.8% 100%

4.3.3 The percentage of scheduled maintenance81 of radio sites82 
completed

80.65% ≥90% New measure

Variance explanation

Over three-quarters of scheduled maintenance of radio sites (80.65 percent) did occur, but this is below the target of greater than or equal 
to 90 percent due to adverse weather conditions at the scheduled time and unavailability of specialist technicians.

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output class 4: Total revenue and expenses

  ACTUAL 
2021/22 

$000

BUDGET 
2020/21 

$000

ACTUAL 
2020/21 

$000

Crown Funding*  3,319  3,158 1,408

Fuel Excise Duty  3,189  2,565 2,723

Maritime Levy*  3,070  3,203 3,700

Other third party revenue  55  15 97

Total revenue  9,633  8,941 7,928

Total expenditure*  8,508  8,798 8,800

Net surplus/(deficit)  1,125  143 (872)

* Refer to note 24 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

79 This measure assesses the availability of the very high frequency (VHF) services, high frequency (HF) voice and HF digital selective calling (DSC) that make up 
part of the Maritime NZ distress and safety radio service. Outages are logged by an MOC operator. The start is ‘fault first found’ and end is ‘fault repaired’. 
The measure also demonstrates how Maritime NZ meets the provisions of the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) Chapter IV 
regulation 5 and requirements contained in the Maritime Transport Act 1994 section 200 and section 435. Maritime NZ has outsourced this service to 
Kordia. The target is based on Global Maritime Distress and Safety System (GMDSS) best practice.

80 This measure assesses whether the MOC is fully operational and available to receive distress calls, issue maritime safety information broadcasts, and 
respond to requests for help or information over the maritime network. The data is reported in the monthly MOC report, with issues reviewed during 
contractor meetings. Performance should be 100 percent, unless a major outage or disaster occurs that means the MOC cannot be operational. 
The measure also demonstrates how Maritime NZ meets the provisions of SOLAS Chapter IV regulation 5 and requirements contained in the Maritime 
Transport Act 1994 section 200 and section 435. Maritime NZ has outsourced this service to Kordia. The target is based on GMDSS best practice.

81 Scheduled maintenance is product specific and influenced by international standards and advice for the maintenance of each product. Existing maintenance 
contracts are in place, with the appropriate maintenance timelines. Maritime NZ has fully outsourced this service to Kordia, which has an annual plan to 
maintain the MOC and wider radio network to meet the availability targets Maritime NZ set in the National Maritime Distress and Safety Communications 
Service agreement, which are based on best practice. 

82 This measure includes 29 VHF and two HF sites.
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Output class 5: Engagement Whai Wāhitanga

Under this output class, we engage with industry participants, organisations, 
recreational boaties and the public to raise awareness of good safety practices and 
risks. We promote maritime safety, security and marine protection, and support the 
economic success of the maritime industry, without compromising its regulatory, 
compliance and response focus.

83 Examples of recreational boating campaigns are observational surveys, ‘No Excuses’, and education campaigns, for example, our Kia Mataara campaign.

84 The measure in 2020/21 was a combination of both recreational and commercial information and education campaigns.

85 Commercial campaigns are focused on areas of highest need and are responsive to current issues.

86 This includes new documents and updates, and revisions to existing documents, and is subject to fluctuation due to a reactive component responding to 
issues that emerge during the year.

87 Quality criteria are defined as design, number of respondents, quality of output and completion date, as outlined in the contract tender documentation and 
as agreed with the provider. Surveys include a quarterly tracking survey about recreational boating safety and participation.

88 Each year, Maritime NZ looks to align grants to New Zealand Safer Boating Forum member organisations, to target the highest risk factors and regions for activities that 
are likely to have the most impact. Recipients are chosen via a panel comprising Maritime NZ and Water Safety New Zealand, based on agreed assessment criteria.

Output 5.1: Information, education and engagement

PERFORMANCE MEASURE
ACTUAL 
2021/22

TARGET 
2021/22

ACTUAL 
2020/21

*5.1.1 The number of recreational boating information and education 
campaigns delivered83 

16 3–5 annually

884 
5.1.2 The number of commercial information and education campaigns 

delivered85 
18 3–5 annually

5.1.3 The number of Maritime NZ guidance documents and publications 
to industry that are published86 

66 30–40 97

*5.1.4 The percentage of recreational boating surveys undertaken that 
meet Maritime NZ’s quality criteria87 

100% 100% New measure

*5.1.5 The percentage of safer boating grant funding88 allocated to key 
target areas

92.06% ≥95% New measure

Variance explanation

Two programmes that were allocated Fuel Excise Duty funding returned some of the funds due to the programmes being affected by COVID-19 
meaning the planned programmes could not be delivered. Some funds were reallocated to support the purchase of collateral for the 2022/23 year.

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output class 5: Total revenue and expenses

  ACTUAL 
2021/22 

$000

BUDGET 
2021/22  

$000

ACTUAL 
2020/21 

$000

Crown*  3,412  3,250 –

Fuel Excise Duty  4,451  4,451 4,331

Working Safer Levy 2,106  2,106 2,106

Maritime Levy*  3,070  3,203 3,469

Other third party revenue  55  15 95

Total revenue  13,094  13,025 10,001

Total expenditure  15,475  13,971 11,265

Net surplus/(deficit)  (2,381)  (946) (1,264)

* Refer to note 24 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.
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Financial statements 
Ngā tauākī pūtea

PART C
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Maritime New Zealand 
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense 

for the year ended 30 June 2022

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

REVENUE                    

Funding from the Crown 2            44,666            41,965            28,810 

Maritime levy              21,929            22,882            23,127 

Other revenue 2              6,213              5,870              6,298 

Interest revenue                   112                 101                 113 

Total revenue              72,920            70,818            58,348 

EXPENSES        

Personnel costs 3            42,587            41,794            38,847 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 12,13              2,818              2,958              2,521 

Capital charge 4              1,107              1,017              1,084 

Finance costs 5                   82                   72                 101 

Other expenses 6            25,820            24,522            21,684 

Total expenditure              72,414            70,363            64,237 

Surplus/(deficit)                   506                 455      (5,889)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE        

Gain on property revaluations 19                   63                    –                      –   

Total comprehensive revenue and expense                   569                 455           (5,889)

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Maritime New Zealand 
Statement of financial position 

as at 30 June 2022

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

CURRENT ASSETS        

Cash and cash equivalents 7              4,742              7,039              6,478 

Receivables 8              5,808              4,050              4,505 

Derivative financial instruments 10                   42                     –                     – 

Investments 9              5,750              3,000              4,250 

Prepayments                   904                 720                 657 

Inventories 11                 138                 150                 136 

Total current assets              17,384            14,959            16,026 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS        

Derivative financial instruments 10                 116                 100                     – 

Property, plant and equipment 12            10,587            10,676            10,863 

Intangible assets 13              5,587              7,193              5,658 

Total non-current assets              16,290            17,969            16,521 

Total assets              33,674            32,928            32,547 

CURRENT LIABILITIES        

Payables 14              3,710              3,500              3,502 

Borrowings 15                 302                 302                 299 

Employee entitlements 16              4,079              3,300              3,521 

Provisions 17                 200                     –                   34 

Derivative financial instruments 10                     –                     –                     4 

Total current liabilities                8,291              7,102              7,360 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES        

Borrowings 15                 603                 611                 905 

Provisions 17                   12                 130                 172 

Derivative financial instruments 10                     –                     –                   92 

Total non-current liabilities                   615                 741              1,169 

Total liabilities                8,906              7,843              8,529 

NET ASSETS              24,768            25,085            24,018 

EQUITY        

Contributed Capital 19            25,954            26,008            25,773 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 19            (2,540)            (2,214)            (3,046)

Property revaluation reserves 19              1,354              1,291              1,291 

TOTAL EQUITY              24,768            25,085            24,018 

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.



96 MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Maritime New Zealand 
Statement of changes in equity 

for the year ended 30 June 2022

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Balance at 1 July              24,018            24,580            29,642 

Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year                   569                 455 (5,889)

Capital contribution from the Crown 19                 181                   50                 265 

Balance at 30 June              24,768            25,085            24,018 

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Maritime New Zealand 
Statement of cash flows 

for the year ended 30 June 2022

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES        

Receipts from the Crown              44,063            41,965            28,810 

Receipts from maritime levy              21,439            22,882            23,022 

Receipts from other revenue                6,213              5,870              6,298 

Interest received                     97                 101                 171 

Payments to employees            (42,029)          (41,494)          (38,362)

Payments to suppliers            (26,193)          (24,522)          (20,318)

Payments for capital charge              (1,107)            (1,017)            (1,084)

Goods and services tax (net)                 (326)            –               (180)

Net cash flows from operating activities                2,157              3,785           (1,643)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES        

Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment                       2            –            – 

Receipts from maturity of investments                4,500            –            17,900 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment              (1,121)            (1,414)               (734)

Purchase of intangible assets              (1,084)            (2,000)            (1,514)

Acquisitions of investments              (6,000)            –          (12,500)

Net cash flows from investing activities   (3,703)           (3,414)              3,152 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES        

Payments under finance leases 15               (371)               (368)               (368)

Capital contribution                   181                   50            – 

Net cash flows from financing activities                (190)              (318)              (368)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (1,736)                   53              1,141 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year                6,478              6,986              5,337 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7              4,742              7,039              6,478 

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Maritime New Zealand 
Statement of cash flows 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued)

RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Surplus/(deficit)                 506            (5,889)

ADD/(LESS) NON CASH ITEMS    

Depreciation and amortisation expense              2,818              2,521 

Net (gains)/losses on derivative financial instruments               (253)                 242 

Total non-cash items              2,565              2,763 

ADD/(LESS) ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING OR FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment                   48                 232 

Interest payments on finance leases                   72                   71 

Total items classified as investing/financing activities                 120                 303 

ADD/(LESS) MOVEMENTS IN STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS    

(Increase)/decrease in receivables            (1,460)               (127)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments               (247)                   29 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories                   (2)                   (3)

Increase/(decrease) in payables                 111                 765 

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements                 558                 486 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions                     6                   30 

Net movements in working capital items           (1,034)              1,180 

Net cash from operating activities              2,157           (1,643)

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from 
Financing Activities

 

FINANCE 
LEASE 

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

Balance at 1 July 2021 1,204

Cash outflows (excluding interest paid) (299)

Balance at 30 June 2022 905
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity
Maritime NZ is a Crown entity as defined by the Crown 
Entities Act 2004, and is domiciled and operates in 
New Zealand. The relevant legislation governing Maritime NZ’s 
operations includes the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the 
Maritime Transport Act 1994. Maritime NZ’s ultimate parent 
is the New Zealand Crown. 

Maritime NZ’s primary objective is to provide maritime 
regulatory, compliance and response services for the benefit 
of the New Zealand public. Maritime NZ does not operate 
to make a financial return. Maritime NZ has designated itself 
as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of financial 
reporting. 

The financial statements for Maritime NZ are for the year 
ended 30 June 2022 and were approved by the Authority 
on 29 November 2022.

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, and the accounting policies have been 
consistently applied throughout the year. 

The Authority, after making enquiries, has a reasonable 
expectation that Maritime NZ has access to adequate 
resources and assurance to continue operations for the 
foreseeable future based on current operating arrangements 
and with support from the Crown. The Authority has 
reached this conclusion having regard to circumstances 

which it considers likely to affect Maritime NZ during the 
period of one year from the date of signing the 2021/22 
financial statements, and other circumstances that could 
affect the validity of the going concern assumption. 
The key considerations are set out below.

The financial position and key financial indicators of 
Maritime NZ remain strong at 30 June 2022. The year-to-
date financial results at the date of signing these financial 
statements are materially in line with the budget contained 
in the financial projections included in the 2022/23 
Statement of Performance Expectations (budgeting a 
surplus of $1.298m), and any variances are well within 
the scope and levels of funding available through the 
Crown appropriation for support of $29.8m ($23.3m 
increase for 2022/23 and $6.5m carried forward from 
2021/22) for Maritime NZ and the Fund in 2022/23 and 
cash reserves held.

The Crown has provided funding support in favour of 
Maritime NZ and the Oil Pollution Fund to maintain 
regulatory and response capability and performance. 
This support takes the form of an appropriation to 
compensate for COVID-19 levy impairment through to 
30 June 2024, with funding allocation for 2023/24 to 
be allocated through Budget 2023. The Authority has 
also received a letter of support from the Ministers of 
Finance and Transport to enable Maritime NZ to satisfy 
the going concern basis, which states that the Government 
acknowledges that support may be required until MNZ 
returns to financial sustainability. Cabinet agreed to 
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provide such support until the sector recovers and/or MNZ 
achieves a pathway back to financial sustainability through 
the upcoming funding review. In addition, the Ministers of 
Finance and Transport issued an invitation to Maritime NZ 
in September 2022 to submit a series of bids for Budget 
2023 to seek any additional financial support required for 
2023/24. 

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of Maritime NZ have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Crown 
Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement to comply 
with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand 
(NZ GAAP).

Maritime NZ is a Tier 1 entity and the financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with PBE standards.

These financial statements comply with PBE Standards.

Presentation currency and rounding
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($000).

Standards issued and not yet effective 
and not early-adopted                             
Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective, 
that have not been early adopted, and which are relevant 
to Maritime NZ, are:

PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments
The XRB issued PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments 
in March 2019. This standard supersedes PBE IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments, which was issued as an interim 
standard. It is effective for reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2022. Although Maritime NZ has not 
assessed the effect of the new standard, it does not expect 
any significant changes as the requirements are similar to 
PBE IFRS 9. Maritime NZ does not intend to early adopt 
the standard.

PBE FRS 48 Service Performance Reporting
PBE FRS 48 replaces the service performance reporting 
requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 and is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Annual 
Report was prepared with consideration of the standards, 
and the statement of performance meets some of the 
new principles, particularly in relation to developing and 
presenting our non-financial performance measurement 
results (for more, see Appendix 5).

Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies
Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to 
which they relate. Significant accounting policies that do not 
relate to a specific note are outlined below.

Income tax
Maritime NZ is a public authority and consequently is 
exempt from the payment of income tax. Accordingly, 
no provision for income tax has been made. 

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Items in the financial statements are presented exclusive 
of GST, except for receivables and payables, which are 
presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not 
recoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as part of the 
related asset or expense. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, Inland Revenue is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 

The net GST paid to, or received from, Inland Revenue 
including the goods and services tax relating to investing 
and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash 
flow in the Statement of Cash Flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive 
of GST.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of 
Performance Expectations, as approved by the Authority 
at the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures 
have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP using 
accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted 
by the Authority in preparing the financial statements.

Cost allocation
Maritime NZ has determined the cost of outputs by using 
the cost allocation system outlined below: 

• all direct costs for operational activities are assigned to 
the applicable outputs of that activity

• all corporate costs that cannot be attributed to a specific 
output fall into the overhead cost pool

• the overhead cost pool is then allocated across all 
outputs using the cost of personnel time attributed to 
each activity as the driver. 

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which 
forward exchange contracts are held) are translated into 
New Zealand dollars (the functional currency) using the spot 
exchange rate prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions, and from the translation at 
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the 
surplus or deficit.
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Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, Maritime NZ has 
made estimates and assumptions concerning the future. 
These estimates and assumptions might differ from the 
subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are:

• expected credit losses – refer to Note 8

• useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment – refer to Note 12.

• fair value of land – refer to Note 12.

• useful lives of software assets – refer to Note 13.

These significant estimates and assumptions are included 
in the relevant note.

Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies 
No critical judgements have been applied in the preparation 
of these financial statements other than those noted in the 
going concern disclosure.

NOTE 2: REVENUE 

Accounting Policy
The specific accounting policies for significant revenue 
items are explained below:

Funding from the Crown 
Maritime NZ receives funding from the Crown and is 
restricted in its use for the purpose of Maritime NZ meeting 
its objectives, as specified in its founding legislation and 
the scope of the relevant appropriations of the funder. 
Maritime NZ considers that there are no conditions attached 
to the funding and it is recognised as revenue at the point 
of entitlement. The fair value of revenue from the Crown has 
been determined to be equivalent to the amounts due in the 
funding arrangements. 

A breakdown of the Crown funding is in the table below:

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Crown 24,400  9,352 

Fuel excise duty 14,072 13,264 

Working safer levy 6,194 6,194 

Total Crown revenue 44,666 28,810 

 
Funding from levies
Maritime levies charged on foreign vessels are based 
on information from the New Zealand Customs Service 
regarding port visits. Maritime levies charged on domestic 
commercial vessels are based on vessels registered with 
Maritime NZ and are recognised in the period to which the 
levy relates. 

Provision of services
Revenue derived from the provision of services to 
third parties is recognised in proportion to the stage of 
completion at balance date. 

Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is recognised by accruing on a time 
proportion basis the interest due for the investment.

Breakdown of other revenue and 
further information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Seafarer licensing fees  642  749 

Ship registration fees  137  110 

Maritime operator fees  454  537 

Services provided in respect of 
supporting the NZ Oil Pollution Fund 

 890  815 

Services provided in respect of 
supporting the Ministry of Transport 
Policy Rules Programme

 800  800 

Services provided in respect of the 
Pacific Maritime Safety Programme

 2,266  1,987 

Other income  760  1,293 

Net unrealised gain on derivative 
financial instruments

 253  – 

Net realised foreign exchange gains  11  7 

Total other revenue  6,213  6,298 
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NOTE 3: PERSONNEL COSTS

Accounting Policy

Salaries and wages 
Salaries and wages are recognised as an expense as 
employees provide services.

Superannuation schemes – defined contribution 
schemes
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver and Tower LifeSaver 
are accounted for as defined contribution superannuation 
schemes and are expensed in the surplus or deficit as 
incurred. 

Breakdown of personnel costs and 
further information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Salaries and wages   38,780   35,074 

Other personnel costs    1,694    1,981 

Employer contributions to defined 
contribution plans

   1,843    1,585 

Increase/(decrease) in employee 
entitlements (note 16)

   270    207 

Total personnel costs   42,587   38,847 

Employee Remuneration
Total remuneration paid or payable that is or exceeds 
$100,000 is set out below. 

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR 
PAYABLE

ACTUAL 
2022

ACTUAL 
2021

100,000–109,999 18 19

110,000–119,999 29 30

120,000–129,999 33 28

130,000–139,999 23 18

140,000–149,999 25 27

150,000–159,999 22 6

160,000–169,999 6 6

170,000–179,999 11 10

180,000–189,999 11 8

190,000–199,999 1 3

200,000–209,999 1 2

210,000–219,999 3 3

220,000–229,999 2 2

230,000–239,999 1 –

240,000–249,999 1 –

250,000–259,999 – 1

260,000–269,999 1 2

280,000–289,999 1 2

380,000–390,000 1 –

Total employees  190  167 

The above figures are based on an individual’s full package 
including all allowances and benefits. During the year ended 
30 June 2022, no employees received compensation and 
other benefits in relation to cessation (2021: $nil). 

Authority Member Remuneration
The total value of remuneration paid or payable to Authority 
members during the year was as follows: 

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR 
PAYABLE

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Jo Brosnahan (Chair)       39       39 

Belinda Vernon (Deputy Chair, 
Chair of Audit and Risk Committee)

      24       24 

Kylie Boyd (resigned July 2020)        –        2 

Roy Weaver       20       20 

Denis O’Rourke (partial leave of absence 
August–October 2020)

      20       15 

Danny Tuato’o (commenced August 2020)       20       18 

Total Board member remuneration       123       118 

There have been no payments made to committee 
members appointed by the Authority, who were not 
Authority members, during the financial year.

Maritime NZ has provided a deed of indemnity to directors 
for certain activities undertaken in the performance of 
Maritime NZ’s functions.

Maritime NZ has put into effect directors’ and officers’ 
liability and professional indemnity insurance cover during 
the financial year in respect of the liability or costs of 
Authority members and employees.

No Authority members received compensation or other 
benefits in relation to cessation (2021:$nil).
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NOTE 4: CAPITAL CHARGE

Accounting Policy
The capital charge is expensed in the financial year to which 
the charge relates.

Further information on the capital charge
The capital charge paid to the Crown is calculated based 
on Maritime NZ’s taxpayer equity as at 30 June and 
31 December each year. The capital charge rate for the 
year ended 30 June 2022 was 5%. (2021: 5%). 

NOTE 5: FINANCE COSTS

Accounting Policy
Borrowing costs are expensed in the financial year in which 
they are incurred. 

Breakdown of finance costs

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Interest on finance lease    72    71 

Discount unwind on provisions (Note 17)    10    30 

Total finance costs    82    101 

NOTE 6: OTHER EXPENSES

Accounting Policies 

Operating leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset to the lessee. Lease payments 
under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives 
received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a 
reduction of rental expense over the lease term.

Breakdown of other expenses and 
further information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Fees to auditors – fees to Audit 
New Zealand for audit of financial 
statements

 109  94 

Administration  1,491  1,556 

Bad debts written off  63  137 

Donations – –

Allowance for credit losses on 
receivables (Note 8)

 56  (80)

Maintenance  1,692  1,787 

Education and awareness programme 
expenses

 3,787  2,269 

Operating expenses  3,210  2,661 

Operating lease expenses  2,242  2,121 

Professional and safety services  9,419  7,557 

Search and rescue deployment costs  2,776  2,221 

Net losses on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment

 18  4 

Impairment of intangible assets  109  227 

Losses on derivative financial 
instruments

–  243 

Travel  848  887 

Total other expenses  25,820  21,684 
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Operating leases as lessee
The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid 
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Not later than 1 year    5,219    5,118 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   10,897   10,017 

Later than 5 years    142    97 

Total non-cancellable operating 
leases

  16,258   15,232 

Maritime NZ leases accommodation across 12 properties 
that cover a total of 15 separate leases, with lease 
expiry dates between 2022 and 2037. Maritime NZ has 
recognised a make-good provision of $212k (2021: $206k) 
in respect of these leases (refer Note 17). 

Maritime NZ also has an operating lease in respect of the 
national maritime distress and safety communications 
network which amounts to $8.802m (2021: $11.736m) 
with a lease expiry date in 2025. There are no restrictions 
placed on Maritime NZ by any of its leasing arrangements.

NOTE 7: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Accounting Policy
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 
held on call with banks, and other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Breakdown of cash and cash 
equivalents and further information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Cash at bank and on hand    4,742    6,478 

Total cash and equivalents    4,742    6,478 

While cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2022 are 
subject to the expected credit loss requirements of 
PBE IFRS 9, no loss allowance has been recognised 
because the estimated loss allowance for credit losses 
is trivial.

There are no assets recognised in a non-exchange 
transaction that are subject to restrictions. 

NOTE 8: RECEIVABLES

Accounting Policy
Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, 
less an allowance for credit losses. Maritime NZ applies the 
simplified expected credit loss model of recognising lifetime 
expected credit losses for receivables.

In measuring expected credit losses, short-term receivables 
have been assessed on a collective basis as they possess 
shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped 
based on the days past due.

Short-term receivables are written off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovery include the debtor 
being in liquidation.

Breakdown of receivables and further 
information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Receivables (gross) 6,247 4,888

Less: Allowance for credit losses  (439)  (383)

Receivables  5,808  4,505 

RECEIVABLES COMPRISE:    

Receivables from the sale of goods and 
services (exchange transactions)

872  1,202 

Receivables from maritime levies 
and Crown revenue (non-exchange 
transactions)

4,936  3,303 

The expected credit loss for receivables at 30 June 2022 
are based on an analysis of Maritime NZ’s losses over the 
last two previous periods and review of specific debtors. 
The expected credit loss for receivables at 1 July 2021 are 
based on an analysis of Maritime NZ’s losses over the last 
two previous periods, and review of specific debtors.
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The allowance for credit losses at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 was determined as follows: 

  RECEIVABLES DAYS PAST DUE

30 JUNE 2022 CURRENT

MORE 
THAN 

30 DAYS

MORE 
THAN 

60 DAYS

MORE 
THAN 

90 DAYS TOTAL

Gross carrying amount ($000)  4,938  826  18 465  6,247 

Lifetime expected credit loss ($000)  15  9  1  414  439 

Expected credit loss rate 0% 1% 5% 89%  

  RECEIVABLES DAYS PAST DUE

30 JUNE 2021 CURRENT

MORE 
THAN 

30 DAYS

MORE 
THAN 

60 DAYS

MORE 
THAN 

90 DAYS TOTAL

Gross carrying amount ($000)    4,321    145    22 400    4,888 

Lifetime expected credit loss ($000)    25     9     2 347    383 

Expected credit loss rate 1% 6% 9% 87%  

 
The movement in credit losses is as follows:

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Opening allowance for credit losses at 1 July    383    463 

Increase in loss allowance made during the year    56    (80)

Balance at 30 June    439    383 

NOTE 9: INVESTMENTS

Accounting Policy

Bank term deposits
Bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount 
invested. Interest is subsequently accrued and added to 
the investment balance. A loss allowance for expected 
credit losses is recognised if the estimated loss allowance 
is not trivial.

Breakdown of investments and further 
information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Term deposits      5,750      4,250 

Total investments      5,750      4,250 

All Maritime NZ investments are term deposits with an initial 
maturity date of less than 12 months.

Maritime NZ considers there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk for investments in term deposits 
because the issuer of the investment continues to have 
low credit risk at balance date. Term deposits are held with 
banks that have a minimum A- recognised credit rating, 
which indicates the bank has a strong capacity to meet its 
financial commitments.

No loss allowance for expected credit losses has been 
recognised because the estimated 12 month expected loss 
allowance for credit losses is trivial.

The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities of 
12 months or less approximate their fair value.
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NOTE 10: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting Policy

Derivative financial instruments
Financial instruments are used to manage exposure to 
foreign exchange risk arising from Maritime NZ’s operational 
activities. Maritime NZ does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments for trading purposes. Maritime NZ has 
not adopted hedge accounting.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured to their fair value at each balance date with the 
resulting gain or loss recognised in surplus or deficit.

A forward foreign exchange derivative is classified as current 
if it is due for settlement within 12 months of balance date. 
Otherwise the full fair value of the forward foreign exchange 
derivatives is classified as non-current.

Further information on derivative 
financial instruments
The notional principal amounts of outstanding forward 
exchange contracts were NZ$2.17m (2021: NZ$2.59m). 
The foreign currency principal amounts were US$1.43m 
(2021: US$1.72m).

The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts have 
been determined using a discounted cash flows valuation 
technique based on quoted market prices (observable 
inputs). The inputs into the valuation model are from 
independently sourced market parameters such as currency 
rates. Most market parameters are implied from forward 
foreign exchange contract prices.

NOTE 11: INVENTORIES

Accounting Policy
Inventories held by Maritime NZ are for the purpose 
of consumption or in the provision of non-commercial 
goods or services. Inventories that are not supplied on a 
commercial basis are measured at cost (determined on the 
weighted average cost method), adjusted for any loss of 
service potential. 

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are 
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Any write-down from cost to net realisable value, or for the 
loss service potential, is recognised in surplus or deficit in 
the year of the write-down.

Breakdown of inventories and further 
information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Spare parts       138       136 

Total inventory       138       136 

The write-down of inventories held for distribution 
amounted to nil (2021: $nil) reflecting the current age and 
condition. There have been no reversals of write-downs. 
No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however, 
some inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.

NOTE 12: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting Policy
Property, plant and equipment consist of eight asset classes 
which are measured as follows:

• land, at fair value

• lighthouses, at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses

• navigational lights, buoys and day beacons, at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

• plant and equipment, at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses

• motor vehicles, at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

• furniture, fittings and office equipment, at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

• computer equipment, at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses

• leasehold improvements, at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations
Land has been revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure 
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from fair 
value, and is revalued at least every three years.

Maritime NZ accounts for revaluations of land on a class of 
assets basis. 
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The results of revaluing are credited or debited to other 
comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated 
to an asset revaluation reserve in equity for that class of 
asset. Where this would result in a debit balance in the 
asset revaluation reserve, this balance is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation 
that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in 
the surplus or deficit will be recognised first in the surplus 
or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then 
recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense. 

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
item will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. 

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and 
is not depreciated.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment 
is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired 
through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. 

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the item 
will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. 

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are expensed in the surplus or deficit as they 
are incurred.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains 
and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus 
or deficit. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts 
included in revaluation reserves in respect of those assets 
are transferred to accumulated surplus/(deficit) within equity. 

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, 
plant and equipment other than land, at rates that will write 
off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated 
residual values over their useful lives. The useful lives and 
associated depreciation rates of major classes of property, 
plant and equipment have been estimated as follows:

ASSET TYPE
USEFUL LIFE 

(YEARS)
DEPRECIATION 
METHOD

Lighthouses 10–40 straight-line

Navigational lights, buoys & 
day beacons

10–20 straight-line

Plant & equipment 5–20 straight-line

Motor vehicles 5 straight-line

Furniture, fittings & office 
equipment

5 straight-line

Computer equipment 3 straight-line

Leasehold improvements 2–9 straight-line

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
unexpired period of the lease, or the estimated remaining 
useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Maritime NZ does not hold any cash-generating assets. 
Assets are considered cash-generating where their primary 
objective is to generate a commercial return. 

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value, less costs to sell, and value in use. 

Value in use is the present value of an asset’s remaining 
service potential. It is determined using an approach 
based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach, 
restoration cost approach, or a service units’ approach. 
The most appropriate approach used to measure value in 
use depends on the nature of the impairment and availability 
of information. 

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and 
the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable 
service amount. For revalued assets, the impairment 
loss is recognised against the revaluation reserve for that 
class of asset. Where that results in a debit balance in the 
revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the surplus 
or deficit. 

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total 
impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is 
credited to other comprehensive revenue and expense 
and increases the asset revaluation reserve for that class 
of asset. However, to the extent that an impairment loss 
for that class of asset was previously recognised in the 
surplus or deficit, a reversal of the impairment loss is also 
recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions

Estimating useful lives and residual values of 
property, plant and equipment
At each balance date, the useful lives and residual 
values of its property, plant and equipment are reviewed. 
Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual 
value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires 
a number of factors to be considered such as the physical 
condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset 
by Maritime NZ, and expected disposal proceeds from the 
future sale of the asset. 

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will 
affect the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus or 
deficit, and carrying amount of the asset in the Statement 
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of Financial Position. Maritime NZ minimises the risk of this 
estimation uncertainty by: 

• physical inspections of assets 

• asset replacement programmes 

• review of second-hand market prices for similar assets 

• analysis of prior asset sales. 

Maritime NZ has not made significant changes to past 
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values.

Estimating the fair value of land
The most recent valuation of land was performed as primary 
inspections and desktop assessment by an independent 
registered valuer, L. Musson of Beca Projects NZ Ltd. 
The valuation is effective as at 30 June 2022. Fair value of 
land, using market-based evidence, is based on the highest 
and best use of the land, with reference to comparable 
land values. 

Movements for each class of property, plant & equipment are as follows:

 
LIGHTHOUSES 

$000

BUOYS, DAY 
BEACONS, 

NAVIGATIONAL 
LIGHTS 

$000

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

$000

MOTOR 
VEHICLES 

$000

FURNITURE, 
FITTINGS 
& OFFICE 

EQUIPMENT 
$000

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT 

$000

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENT 

$000
LAND 
$000

WORK IN 
PROGRESS 

$000
TOTAL 

$000

COST OR VALUATION           

 Balance at 1 July 2020 2,602 2,510 15,366 28 1,318 2,004 990 1,291 348 26,457

 Additions 19 34 – – 139 303 – – 239 734

 Revaluations – – – – – – – – – –

 Transfer from WIP – 8 – – 6 313 – – (327) –

 Disposals (66) (4) – – (24) (430) (17) – – (541)

 Balance at 30 June 2021 2,555 2,548 15,366 28 1,439 2,190 973 1,291 260 26,650

 Balance at 1 July 2021 2,555 2,548 15,366 28 1,439 2,190 973 1,291 260 26,650

 Additions 50 26 – – 63 149 215 – 676 1,179

 Revaluations – – – – – – – 63 – 63

 Transfer from WIP 30 27 – – 145 35 – – (237) –

 Disposals (5) (6) (5) – (160) (60) (158) – – (394)

 Balance at 30 June 2022 2,630 2,595 15,361 28 1,487 2,314 1,030 1,354 699 27,498

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 

 Balance at 1 July 2020 1,378 2,045 8,455 28 941 1,518 598 – – 14,963

 Depreciation expense 97 66 638 – 108 352 99 – – 1,360

 Elimination on disposal (66) (3) – – (24) (430) (13) – – (536)

 Balance at 30 June 2021 1,409 2,108 9,093 28 1,025 1,440 684 – – 15,787

 Balance at 1 July 2021 1,409 2,108 9,093 28 1,025 1,440 684 – – 15,787

 Depreciation expense 94 64 638 – 153 442 108 – – 1,499

 Elimination on disposal (5) (3) (3) – (155) (60) (149) – – (375)

 Balance at 30 June 2022 1,498 2,169 9,728 28 1,023 1,822 643 – – 16,911

 Carrying amounts at 30 June 2021 1,146 440 6,273 – 414 750 289 1,291 260 10,863

 Carrying amounts at 30 June 2022 1,132 426 5,633 – 464 492 387 1,354 699 10,587

Restrictions
There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ’s 
property, plant and equipment. The equipment purchased 
under finance lease (distress radio network) is effectively 
secured as the right to the leased asset reverts to the 
lessor in the event of default. No other property, plant and 
equipment is pledged as security for liabilities.

Finance leases
The net carrying amount of plant and equipment held under 
finance leases is $848k (2021: $1.1 m). Note 15 provides 
further information about Finance leases.

Capital commitments
There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition 
of property, plant and equipment at the reporting date 
(2021: Nil). 
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Movements for each class of property, plant & equipment are as follows:

 
LIGHTHOUSES 

$000

BUOYS, DAY 
BEACONS, 

NAVIGATIONAL 
LIGHTS 

$000

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

$000

MOTOR 
VEHICLES 

$000

FURNITURE, 
FITTINGS 
& OFFICE 

EQUIPMENT 
$000

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT 

$000

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENT 

$000
LAND 
$000

WORK IN 
PROGRESS 

$000
TOTAL 

$000

COST OR VALUATION           

 Balance at 1 July 2020 2,602 2,510 15,366 28 1,318 2,004 990 1,291 348 26,457

 Additions 19 34 – – 139 303 – – 239 734

 Revaluations – – – – – – – – – –

 Transfer from WIP – 8 – – 6 313 – – (327) –

 Disposals (66) (4) – – (24) (430) (17) – – (541)

 Balance at 30 June 2021 2,555 2,548 15,366 28 1,439 2,190 973 1,291 260 26,650

 Balance at 1 July 2021 2,555 2,548 15,366 28 1,439 2,190 973 1,291 260 26,650

 Additions 50 26 – – 63 149 215 – 676 1,179

 Revaluations – – – – – – – 63 – 63

 Transfer from WIP 30 27 – – 145 35 – – (237) –

 Disposals (5) (6) (5) – (160) (60) (158) – – (394)

 Balance at 30 June 2022 2,630 2,595 15,361 28 1,487 2,314 1,030 1,354 699 27,498

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 

 Balance at 1 July 2020 1,378 2,045 8,455 28 941 1,518 598 – – 14,963

 Depreciation expense 97 66 638 – 108 352 99 – – 1,360

 Elimination on disposal (66) (3) – – (24) (430) (13) – – (536)

 Balance at 30 June 2021 1,409 2,108 9,093 28 1,025 1,440 684 – – 15,787

 Balance at 1 July 2021 1,409 2,108 9,093 28 1,025 1,440 684 – – 15,787

 Depreciation expense 94 64 638 – 153 442 108 – – 1,499

 Elimination on disposal (5) (3) (3) – (155) (60) (149) – – (375)

 Balance at 30 June 2022 1,498 2,169 9,728 28 1,023 1,822 643 – – 16,911

 Carrying amounts at 30 June 2021 1,146 440 6,273 – 414 750 289 1,291 260 10,863

 Carrying amounts at 30 June 2022 1,132 426 5,633 – 464 492 387 1,354 699 10,587
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NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting Policy

Software acquisition and development
Computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of 
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. 

Costs that are directly associated with the development of 
software for internal use are recognised as an intangible 
asset. Direct costs include software development and 
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads. 

Other software-related costs are recognised as follows: 

• staff training costs are expensed when incurred

• costs associated with maintaining computer software 
are expensed when incurred

• costs associated with the development and maintenance 
of Maritime NZ’s website are expensed when incurred. 

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life 
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use 
and ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. 
The amortisation charge for each period is expensed 
in the surplus or deficit. 

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major 
classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:

ASSET TYPE
USEFUL LIFE 

(YEARS)
AMORTISATION 
METHOD

Acquired 3–5 straight-line

Internally generated 3–8 straight-line

Impairment of intangible assets
Refer to the policy for impairment of property, plant and 
equipment in Note 12. The same approach applies to the 
impairment of intangible assets. 

Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions

Estimating useful lives of software costs
Maritime NZ’s internally generated software largely 
comprises of customisations to a regulatory systems 
enterprise database to support Maritime NZ’s regulatory 
functions. Internally generated software has a finite life, 
which requires Maritime NZ to estimate the useful life of 
the software assets. 

In assessing the useful lives of software assets, a number 
of factors are considered, including:

• the period of time the software is intended to be in use

• the effect of technological change on systems and 
platforms

• the expected time frame for the development of 
replacement systems and platforms.

An incorrect estimate of the useful lives of software assets 
will affect the amortisation expense recognised in the 
surplus or deficit, and the carrying amount of the software 
assets in the statement of financial position.
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Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows: 

 

ACQUIRED 
SOFTWARE 

$000

INTERNALLY 
GENERATED 
SOFTWARE 

$000

WORK IN 
PROGRESS 

$000
TOTAL 

$000

 Balance at 1 July 2020  1,678  9,881  775  12,334 

 Additions  62  1,262  190  1,514 

 Transfer from work in progress  –  448  (448)  – 

 Disposals  –  –  (227)  (227)

 Balance at 30 June 2021  1,740  11,591  290  13,621 

 Balance at 1 July 2021  1,740  11,591  290  13,621 

 Additions  –  709  651  1,360 

 Transfer from work in progress  –  162  (162)  – 

 Disposals  (205)  (861)  –  (1,066)

 Impairment  –  –  (109)  (109)

 Balance at 30 June 2022  1,535  11,601  670  13,806 

 ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT        

 Balance at 1 July 2020  1,498  5,305  –  6,803 

 Amortisation expense  72  1,088  –  1,160 

 Disposals  –  –  –  – 

 Balance at 30 June 2021  1,570  6,393  –  7,963 

 Balance at 1 July 2021  1,570  6,393  –  7,963 

 Amortisation expense  47  1,272  –  1,319 

 Disposals  (203)  (860)  –  (1,063)

 Balance at 30 June 2022  1,414  6,805  –  8,219 

 CARRYING AMOUNTS        

 Carrying amounts at 30 June 2021  170  5,198  290  5,658 

 Carrying amounts at 30 June 2022  121  4,796  670  5,587 

 
The carrying amounts at 30 June 2021 have been restated due to a calculation error in the amount reported in the 
30 June 2021 published notes to the financial statements, in addition to a reclassification of the opening balances at 
1 July 2021 between acquired software and internally generated software. 

Restrictions
There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ’s intangible assets, and no intangible assets pledged as security 
for liabilities.

Capital commitments
The amount of contractual capital commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets at the reporting date is $276k for 
internally generated software (2021: $nil).
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NOTE 14: PAYABLES

Accounting Policy
Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.

Breakdown of payables

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS    

Creditors      1,346       951 

Accrued expenses      2,084      1,967 

Total Payables under exchange transactions      3,430      2,918 

PAYABLES UNDER NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS    

Taxes payable (goods and services tax, fringe benefit tax and rates)       12       92 

Other       268       492 

Total payables under non-exchange transactions       280       584 

Total Payables      3,710      3,502 

NOTE 15: BORROWINGS

Accounting Policy

Finance leases
A finance lease transfers to the lessee substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset, 
whether or not title is eventually transferred. At the start of 
the lease term, Maritime NZ recognises finance leases as 
assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position at 
the lower of the fair value of the leased item or the present 
value of the minimum lease payment. The finance charge 
is charged to the surplus or deficit over the lease period so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over 
its useful life. If there is no reasonable certainty whether 
Maritime NZ will obtain ownership at the end of the lease 
term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term and its useful life. 

Breakdown of borrowings and further 
information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

CURRENT PORTION    

Finance lease    302    299 

Total current portion    302    299 

NON-CURRENT PORTION    

Finance lease    603    905 

Total non-current portion    603    905 

Total Borrowings    905    1,204 

Finance leases as lessee
Maritime NZ entered into a finance lease of equipment used 
for the national maritime distress and safety radio service 
for 11 years from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2025 with Kordia 
Limited. The net carrying amount of the equipment held 
under finance leases is shown in note 12.

Security
Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured, as the right to 
the leased asset reverts to the lessor in the event of default.

Fair value
The fair value of finance leases is $905k (2021: $1.2m). 
Fair value has been determined using contractual cash 
flows discounted using a rate based on market borrowing 
rates at balance date.
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Analysis of finance lease

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE 

Not later than one year    373    371 

Later than one year and not later than five years    747    1,120 

Later than five years –     – 

Total minimum lease payments    1,120    1,491 

Future finance charges    (215)    (287)

Present value of minimum lease payments    905    1,204 

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE    

Not later than one year    302    299 

Later than one year and not later than five years    603    905 

Later than five years –     – 

Total present value of minimum lease payments    905    1,204 

NOTE 16: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Accounting Policy

Short-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 
months after the end of the year in which the employee 
provides the related service are measured based on 
accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include 
salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual 
leave earned but not yet taken at balance date.

A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where 
there is a contractual obligation or where there is past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation and a 
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Accrued salaries and wages and annual leave are classified 
as current liabilities.

Long-term employee entitlements
Maritime NZ does not have long-term employee entitlements.

Breakdown of employee entitlements

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Annual leave      2,305      2,035 

Accrued salary and wages      1,774      1,486 

Total employee entitlements      4,079      3,521 

NOTE 17: PROVISIONS

Accounting Policy

Provisions
Maritime NZ recognises a provision for future expenditure of 
uncertain amount or timing when: 

• there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event

• it is probable that an outflow of future economic benefits 
or service potential will be required to settle the obligation

• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation, 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time, value of money, and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Maritime NZ’s provision is solely in relation to lease 
make good.



114 MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

Breakdown of provisions and further 
information

Lease make-good provision
In respect of its leased premises, Maritime NZ is required 
at the expiry of the lease term to make good any damage 
caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, 
and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by Maritime NZ. 
In many cases, Maritime NZ has the option to renew these 
leases, which impacts on the timing of expected cash 
outflows to make good the premises. Information about 
Maritime NZ’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note 6.

Movements for each class of provision are 
as follows:

LEASE MAKE-GOOD
ACTUAL 

$000

Balance at 1 July 2020       176 

Additional provisions made        5 

Discount unwind provision (Note 5)       25 

Balance at 30 June 2021       206 

Balance at 1 July 2021       206 

Additional provisions made        5 

Amounts used       (3)

Unused amounts reversed       (6)

Discount unwind provision (Note 5)       10 

Balance at 30 June 2022       212 

NOTE 18: CONTINGENCIES

Accounting Policy
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that 
they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets are 
disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised.

Contingent liabilities
Maritime NZ has no contingent liabilities (2021: $nil).

Contingent assets
Maritime NZ has no contingent assets (2021: $nil).

NOTE 19: EQUITY

Accounting Policy
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets 
and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified 
into the following components:

• contributed capital

• accumulated surplus/(deficit)

• property revaluation reserves.

Property revaluation reserves
These reserves relate to the revaluation of property to 
fair value.

Breakdown of equity and further 
information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL    

Balance at 1 July as previously reported   25,773   25,508 

Capital contribution    181    265 

Balance at 30 June   25,954   25,773 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 

Balance at 1 July as previously reported   (3,046)    2,843 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year    506   (5,889)

Balance at 30 June   (2,540)   (3,046)

PROPERTY REVALUATION RESERVES

Balance at 1 July    1,291    1,291 

Revaluations    63 –

Balance at 30 June    1,354    1,291 

PROPERTY REVALUATION RESERVES CONSIST OF:

Land    1,354    1,291 

Total equity 30 June   24,768   24,018 
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Capital management
Maritime NZ’s capital is its equity, which comprises 
contributed capital, accumulated funds and revaluation 
reserves. Equity is represented by net assets. Maritime NZ 
is subject to the financial management and accountability 
provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose 
restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of 
securities, issuing of guarantees and indemnities, and the 
use of derivatives.

Maritime NZ has complied with the financial management 
requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004 during 
the year.

Maritime NZ manages its equity as a by-product of 
prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments, and general financial dealings to ensure that 
Maritime NZ effectively achieves its objectives and purpose, 
while remaining a going concern.

NOTE 20: RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Maritime NZ is controlled by the Crown. 

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are:

• within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship

• on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect Maritime NZ would have 
adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances.

Further, transactions with other government agencies (for example, government departments and Crown entities) are not 
disclosed as related party transactions when they are on normal terms and conditions consistent with the normal operating 
arrangements between government agencies. 

The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above:

TRANSACTION REF
TRANSACTION VALUE 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 

BALANCE OUTSTANDING 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

   
2022 
$000

2021 
$000

2022 
$000

2021 
$000

Maritime NZ – provision of salaries and administrative 
support to the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

1 855 815 4 6

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and in doing so incurs costs directly. These costs are 
    recovered from the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund on a cost-recovery basis.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties (2021: $nil).

Key management personnel compensation
The aggregate values of transactions and outstanding balances involving key management personnel and entities over which 
they have control or significant influence were as follows:

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

AUTHORITY MEMBERS    

Remuneration       123       118 

Full-time equivalent members        5        5 

LEADERSHIP TEAM    

Remuneration 2,142          2,172 

Full-time equivalent members        8        8 

Total key management personnel remuneration 2,265      2,290 

Total full-time equivalent personnel       13       13 

 
Key management personnel include all Authority members, the chief executive, and the remaining eight members 
of the executive team (2021: all Authority members, chief executive plus seven executive team members). 

The full-time equivalent figure for the Authority is the number of appointed Authority members at balance date.
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NOTE 21: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instrument categories
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:   

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST    

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 7)      4,742      6,478 

Receivables (excluding tax) (Note 8)      5,560      4,505 

Investments – term deposits (Note 9)      5,750      4,250 

Total financial assets measured at amortised cost     16,052     15,233 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST    

Payables (excluding tax) (Note 14)      3,700      3,411 

Borrowings: Finance leases (Note 15)       905      1,204 

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost      4,605      4,615 

FINANCIAL ASSET FAIR VALUE THROUGH SURPLUS/DEFICIT    

Derivative financial instrument assets (Note 10)       158        – 

FINANCIAL LIABILITY FAIR VALUE THROUGH SURPLUS/DEFICIT    

Derivative financial instrument liabilities (Note 10)       –       96 

Financial instrument risks
Maritime NZ’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
Maritime NZ has a series of policies to manage these risks and seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments. 
These policies do not allow any transactions to be entered into that are speculative in nature.

Market risk

Fair-value interest rate risk
Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest 
rates. Maritime NZ’s exposure to fair-value interest rate risk is limited to its bank deposits, which are held at fixed rates of 
interest. Maritime NZ does not actively manage its exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash-flow interest rate risk
Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose Maritime NZ to cash-flow interest rate risk. 
Maritime NZ’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate 
movements. Maritime NZ currently has no variable interest rate investments.

Sensitivity analysis
At 30 June 2022, if interest rates on transaction accounts and term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all 
other variables held constant, the surplus for the year would have been $3k (2021: $6k) higher/lower. This movement is 
attributable to increased or decreased interest received on term deposits.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. Maritime NZ purchases goods and services overseas, which requires it to enter into transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. Maritime NZ does not 
operate any overseas-currency bank accounts.

It is Maritime NZ’s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and liabilities by entering 
into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk exposure where the contract value exceeds a 
pre-defined NZ dollar amount.
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to Maritime NZ, causing it to incur a loss. 

Maritime NZ is exposed to credit risk from cash and term deposits with banks, receivables, and derivative financial 
instrument assets. For each of these, the maximum credit exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in the 
statement of financial position.

Risk management
For receivables, Maritime NZ monitors and manages receivables based on their ageing and adjusts the expected credit loss 
allowance accordingly. Where there are significant concentrations of credit risk, Maritime NZ maintains a relationship with the 
counter-party and puts in place appropriate payment arrangements that are regularly monitored.

Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, Maritime NZ invests surplus cash with registered banks with a Standard 
and Poor’s credit rating of at least A- for investments. Maritime NZ limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial 
institution to no more than 50% of total investments held. Maritime NZ enters into derivative financial instruments only with 
either the registered banks identified above, or the New Zealand Government’s debt management office. Maritime NZ’s 
investments in term deposits are considered to be low-risk investments. The credit ratings of banks are monitored for 
credit deterioration.

No collateral is held as security against these financial instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.

Impairment
Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and term deposit investments are subject to the expected credit loss model. 
The notes for these items provide relevant information on impairment.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Maritime NZ will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. 
Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the ability to close out market positions. 
Maritime NZ manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash-flow requirements.

Maritime NZ maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac.

Contractual maturity analysis of derivative financial instruments
The table below analyses derivative financial instrument liabilities that are settled net and all gross settled derivatives into their 
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at balance date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 
disclosed are the undiscounted contractual cash flows.

 

LIABILITY 
CARRYING 

AMOUNT 
$000

ASSET 
CARRYING 

AMOUNT 
$000

CONTRACTUAL 
CASH FLOWS 

$000

LESS THAN 
6 MONTHS 

$000
6–12 MONTHS 

$000

OVER 
12 MONTHS 

$000

2022            

Forward foreign exchange contracts        –       158        

• cash outflows          2,169 222 228 1,719

• cash inflows          2,293 244 248 1,801

             

2021            

Forward foreign exchange contracts       96        –        

• cash outflows          2,587 206       212      2,169 

• cash inflows          2,450 205       208      2,037 
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NOTE 22: COVID-19 DISCLOSURE

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared 
the outbreak of COVID-19 a pandemic. Since this time 
the New Zealand Government has implemented a range 
of restrictions and border controls to limit the spread of 
the virus.

COVID-19 had a significant impact on the operations of 
Maritime NZ during 2021/22. Key impacts include:

• disruption arising from restrictions on general movement 
of the global and domestic population that affected the 
global and domestic supply chain and wider economy 
throughout the year. This impacted Maritime NZ financially 
through a decrease in the number of port visits by foreign 
passenger and non-passenger vessels (decline in levy 
revenue)

• international travel was essentially prohibited for most 
of the year and changes in alert levels and traffic light 
settings in August through to March significantly disrupted 
domestic travel for several short periods (reduced travel 
costs).

The global impacts of COVID-19 continue to attract 
considerable uncertainty around the national and global 
economic impact over the next 12 months and beyond. 
During the year, the New Zealand Government has 

eased restrictions with the replacement of Alert Levels 
framework with a new traffic light framework to manage 
life with COVID-19 and reduce the impact of outbreak, in 
addition to indicating to reopen the maritime border to all 
vessels including cruise ships. However, it is expected that 
global economic restrictions will continue to disrupt the 
maritime trade and tourism industry at both a national and 
international level, resulting in uncertainties around future 
vessel movements and cruise ship visitations that lead to 
uncertainties around future levy revenue.

In April 2020, the NZ Government approved contingency 
funding of up to $40 million in favour of Maritime NZ and the 
Oil Pollution Fund for the purpose of maintaining regulatory, 
compliance and response capability should funding streams 
be adversely impacted by COVID-19 through to 30 June 2022, 
and subsequently increased appropriation to $45m and 
extended through to 30 June 2024. Drawdowns on this 
contingency funding commenced in July 2021 and will 
continue to be required through to June 2023 and beyond. 
Refer to Note 1 for arrangements in place to ensure 
Maritime NZ continues to have the resources to support 
and regulate the maritime industry through this period of 
uncertainty during 2022/23 and beyond.

NOTE 23: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

After balance date, a capability and capacity change 
decision document was released in July 2022 documenting 
the new organisational structure. As a result, a small 
number of positions within Maritime NZ were disestablished 
and redundancy compensation were paid out for these 

individuals. The costs of the redundancy compensation will 
be included in the 2022/23 surplus/deficit. 

There were no other significant events after balance date. 

NOTE 24: EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET

Explanations for major variations from Maritime NZ’s 
budgeted figures in the Statement of Performance 
Expectations 2021/22 are as follows.

Statement of comprehensive revenue 
and expense

Revenue variances
Maritime Levy and Fees: The Budget assumed that the 
ongoing effect of COVID-19 would reduce levy-generating 
activity volumes by 9% on foreign cargo vessel port visits, 
100% reduction in foreign passenger ship port visits due 
to border closures to foreign visitors, and no reduction 
on the levy for the domestic fleet, seafarer and operator 
certification activity. The actual impacts of COVID-19 on 
foreign cargo ship port visits was 14% reduction on port 
visits and levy. The levy on the domestic fleet was 7% above 
budget as some new vessels were added to the network. 

Feeable activities were 22% below budget due to a 
reduction of seafearer certification as there was a decrease 
in external courses available for seafearers, which meant 
less certificates issued. Total levy and feeable income was 
below budget by $1.3m.

Funding from the Crown:  During the year, Maritime NZ 
drew down an additional $1.1m of Crown liquidity funding 
(appropriation carried forward from 2020/21) and an 
additional $1.6m in Search & Rescue Funding that 
exceeded the budgeted provision. 
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Expenditure variances
Personnel: The Budget assumed all vacant positions 
will be filled during the year. During the year, contractors 
have been used to fill vacant positions and to provide 
resource to help reduce the workload of permanent staff. 
The COVID-19 response team was required for the entire 
financial year and contractors have been employed to 
provide advice for strategic projects (such as Te Korowai o 
Kaitiakitanga and National Office Relocation). This resulted 
in a total increase against budget of $0.8m. 

Other Expenses: Search and Rescue costs were higher 
than budget by $1.7m, partially offset by lower travel costs 
as a result of COVID-19 restrictions. 

Statement of financial position

Asset variances
Cash and cash equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents 
are lower than budget as some cash have been transferred 
to cash deposits.

Debtors and other receivables: Debtors and other 
receivables are higher than budget due to receiving $1.6m 
of Crown liquidity funding retrospectively in July.

Intangible assets: Asset purchases for 2021/22 is lower 
than budget as some programmes have been delayed due 
to COVID-19, and have been carried forward to 2022/23.

Liability variances
Provision for employee entitlements: Provision for 
employee entitlements are higher than budget due to a 
greater number of days accrued for salaries at year end 
(2022: 9 days compared to budget assumption of 5), and 
an increase in permanent staff as additional staff has been 
on boarded during the year.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the readers of Maritime New Zealand’s financial statements and performance 
information for the year ended 30 June 2022

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand. 
The Auditor-General has appointed me, Matthew Geddes, 
using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to 
carry out the audit of the financial statements and the 
performance information, including the performance 
information for appropriations, of Maritime New Zealand 
on his behalf.

Opinion
We have audited:

• the financial statements of Maritime New Zealand 
on pages 94 to 119, that comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2022, the statement 
of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year ended on that date and the notes to the financial 
statements including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information; and

• the performance information of Maritime New Zealand on 
pages 18 to 62 and 80 to 92.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements of Maritime New Zealand on 
pages 94 to 119:

 – present fairly, in all material respects:

 - its financial position as at 30 June 2022; and

 - its financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended; and

 – comply with generally accepted accounting practice 
in New Zealand in accordance with the Public Benefit 
Entity Reporting Standards; and

• the performance information on pages 18 to 62 and 
80 to 92:

 – presents fairly, in all material respects, Maritime 
New Zealand’s performance for the year ended 
30 June 2022, including:

 - for each class of reportable outputs:

 - its standards of delivery performance achieved as 
compared with forecasts included in the statement 
of performance expectations for the financial year; 
and 
 
 
 

 - its actual revenue and output expenses as 
compared with the forecasts included in the 
statement of performance expectations for the 
financial year; and

 - what has been achieved with the appropriations; 
and

 - the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred 
compared with the appropriated or forecast 
expenses or capital expenditure; and

 – complies with generally accepted accounting practice 
in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 29 November 2022. This is the 
date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis for our opinion is explained below, and we 
draw attention to the impact of Covid-19 on Maritime 
New Zealand. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of 
the Board and our responsibilities relating to the financial 
statements and the performance information, we comment 
on other information, and we explain our independence.

Emphasis of matter – Impact of Covid-19
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the 
disclosures about the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on 
Maritime New Zealand as set out in the basis of preparation 
section on pages 99 to 100 and note 22 on page 118 
to the financial statements, and pages 82 to 92 of the 
performance information.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
Professional and Ethical Standards and the International 
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the 
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section 
of our report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with 
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Board for 
the financial statements and the 
performance information
The Board is responsible on behalf of Maritime New Zealand 
for preparing financial statements and performance 
information that are fairly presented and comply with 
generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 
The Board is responsible for such internal control as it 
determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial 
statements and performance information that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements and the performance 
information, the Board is responsible on behalf of 
Maritime New Zealand for assessing Maritime New Zealand’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. The Board is also 
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to 
terminate the activities of Maritime New Zealand, or there 
is no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities 
Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the 
audit of the financial statements and 
the performance information
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements and the performance 
information, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with 
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, 
and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of 
readers, taken on the basis of these financial statements 
and the performance information.

For the budget information reported in the financial 
statements and the performance information, our 
procedures were limited to checking that the information 
agreed to Maritime New Zealand’s statement of 
performance expectations.

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the 
electronic publication of the financial statements and the 
performance information.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s 
Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
Also:

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements and the performance 
information, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of Maritime New Zealand’s internal control.

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Board.

• We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported 
performance information within Maritime New Zealand’s 
framework for reporting its performance.

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting by the Board and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on Maritime New Zealand’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements and the performance 
information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
Maritime New Zealand to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements and the performance 
information, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements and the performance information 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.
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Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included on pages 
1 to 17, 63 to 79, 123 to 126 and 145 to 160, but does 
not include the financial statements and the performance 
information, and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements and the performance 
information does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements and 
the performance information, our responsibility is to read 
the other information. In doing so, we consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements and the performance information or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of Maritime New Zealand in 
accordance with the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate 
the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical 
Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for Assurance 
Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board.

Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no 
relationship with, or interests, in Maritime New Zealand.

 
 
 
 
 
Matthew Geddes 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand 
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Appendices 
Tāpiritanga
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Jo Brosnahan, QSO 
Board Chair, Maritime NZ 
 
Dated: 29 November 2022

APPENDIX 1

Financial Statements 
for the New Zealand 
Oil Pollution Fund 

Chair’s report

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund comprises levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and offshore oil 
installations and pipelines. The levy is risk based, to reflect the level of risk attributable to different categories of ships and 
types of oil.

The Oil Pollution Advisory Committee endorses an annual budget for consideration by the Authority, which in turn 
recommends a capital and operating budget for approval by the Minister of Transport.

The accumulated monies in the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the on-going annual contributions from levies are 
applied, in accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and maintenance of an effective marine 
oil pollution response system for New Zealand.
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Jo Brosnahan, QSO 
Board Chair, Maritime NZ 
 
Dated: 29 November 2022

Roy Weaver 
Deputy Chair, Maritime NZ 
 
Dated: 29 November 2022

Statement of responsibility 
for the New Zealand 
Oil Pollution Fund
We are responsible for the preparation of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements, and for the judgements 
made in them.

We are responsible for the end of year performance information provided by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund which is 
provided in Output Class 3 on page 88 of the Annual Report.

We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.

In our opinion, these financial statements and end of year performance information fairly reflect the financial position and 
operations of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Signed for and on behalf of the Authority.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense 

for the year ended 30 June 2022

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

REVENUE        

Oil pollution levy    6,086  7,074  6,612 

Other revenue     84   70   17 

Interest revenue     42   40   38 

Total revenue    6,212  7,184  6,667 

EXPENSES        

Personnel costs 2  1,329  1,320  1,287 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 7  774  791  727 

Finance costs     4 –   9 

Other expenses 3  3,295  4,481  3,856 

Total expenses    5,402  6,592  5,879 

Surplus/(deficit)    810  592  788 

Total comprehensive revenue and expense    810  592  788 

 
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
Statement of changes in equity 

for the year ended 30 June 2022

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Balance at 1 July   17,893 17,806 17,105

Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year   810 592 788

Balance at 30 June   18,703 18,398 17,893

Explanations of major variances against budget are detailed in Note 18.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
Statement of financial position 

as at 30 June 2022

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

CURRENT ASSETS        

Cash and cash equivalents 4  4,256  1,504  1,866 

Receivables 5  456  600  967 

Investments    1,500  2,000  4,000 

Prepayments     47  100   70 

Inventories 6  557  1,638  608 

Total current assets    6,816  5,842  7,511 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS        

Property, plant and equipment 7  12,785  13,656  11,297 

Total non-current assets    12,785  13,656  11,297

Total assets    19,601  19,498  18,808 

CURRENT LIABILITIES        

Payables 8  669  900  702 

Employee entitlements 9  144  140  133 

Derivative financial instruments 10   1   –   – 

Provisions 11   13   –   11 

Total current liabilities    827  1,040  846 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES        

Provisions 11   71   60   69 

Total non-current liabilities     71   60   69 

Total liabilities    898  1,100  915 

Net assets    18,703  18,398  17,893 

EQUITY        

General funds 12  18,703  18,398  17,893 

Total equity    18,703  18,398  17,983 

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 18.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund 
Statement of cash flows 

for the year ended 30 June 2022

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES        

Receipts from oil pollution levy       6,569     7,074     6,368 

Receipts from other revenue        76      70      17 

Interest received        46      40      38 

Payments to employees      (1,319)    (1,320)    (1,295)

Payments to suppliers      (3,137)    (4,964)    (3,575)

Goods and services tax (net)        19       –      20 

Net cash flows from operating activities       2,254     900     1,573 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES        

Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment        26       –      22 

Receipts from maturity of investments       4,750       –     5,250 

Purchase of property, plant & equipment      (2,390)    (2,490)    (1,167)

Acquisitions of investments      (2,250)       –    (7,000)

Net cash flows from investing activities       136    (2,490)    (2,895)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents       2,390    (1,590)    (1,322)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year       1,866     3,094     3,188 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year       4,256     1,504     1,866 

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 18.
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Notes index

1 Statement of accounting policies

2 Personnel costs

3 Other expenses 
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Notes to the financial statements 
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Reporting Entity
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund) has been 
established by Maritime NZ pursuant to section 330 of 
the Maritime Transport Act 1994. The Fund is domiciled 
in New Zealand and its ultimate parent is the New Zealand 
Crown. 

The Fund’s primary objective is to meet the on-going costs 
of maintaining New Zealand’s oil spill response capability, 
including contingency plans, equipment, and training and 
response costs (where they are unable to be recovered from 
the spiller). Levies imposed on shipping and oil sites are 
paid into the Fund to finance these costs. 

Accordingly, the Authority has designated the Fund as 
a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of financial 
reporting. 

While the financial statements of the Fund form part of 
the financial reports of the Authority, they are presented 
separately in order to clearly identify the revenue and 
expenditure associated with the Authority’s oil pollution 
response activities. 

The financial statements for the New Zealand Oil Pollution 
Fund are for the year ended 30 June 2022 and were 
approved by the Authority on 29 November 2022. 

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, and the accounting policies have been 
applied consistently throughout the year.

The Authority, after making enquiries, has a reasonable 
expectation that the Fund has access to adequate 
resources and assurance to continue operations for the 
foreseeable future based on current operating arrangements 

and with support from the Crown. The Authority has 
reached this conclusion having regard to circumstances 
which it considers likely to affect the Fund during the period 
of one year from the date of signing the 2021/22 financial 
statements, and other circumstances that could affect 
the validity of the going concern assumption. The key 
considerations are set out below.

The financial position and key financial indicators of the 
Fund remain strong at 30 June 2022. The year-to-date 
financial results at the date of signing these financial 
statements are materially in line with the budget contained 
in the 2022/23 Statement of Performance Expectations 
(budgeting a surplus of $27k), and any variances are well 
within the scope and levels of funding available through 
the Crown appropriation for support of $29.8m ($23.3m 
increase for 2022/23 and $6.5m carried forward from 
2021/22) for Maritime NZ and the Fund in 2022/23 and 
cash reserves held.

The Crown has provided funding support in favour 
of Maritime NZ and the Oil Pollution Fund to maintain 
regulatory and response capability and performance. 
This support takes the form of an appropriation to 
compensate for COVID-19 levy impairment through to 
30 June 2024, with funding allocation for 2023/24 to 
be allocated through Budget 2023. The Authority has 
also received a letter of support from the Ministers of 
Finance and Transport to enable the Fund to satisfy the 
going concern basis, which states that the Government 
acknowledges that support may be required until the 
Fund returns to financial sustainability. Cabinet agreed 
to provide such support until the sector recovers and/or 
the Fund achieves a pathway back to financial sustainability 
through the upcoming funding review.
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Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Maritime Transport 
Act 1994 and comply with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand (NZ GAAP). 

The Fund is a Tier 2 public benefit entity and the financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with 
PBE standards. The Fund is eligible to report as a Tier 2 
reporting entity on the basis that it does not have public 
accountability and is not large due to its annual expenses 
being less than $30 million.

These financial statements comply with the PBE Standards 
Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Presentation currency and rounding
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($000). 

Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies
Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to 
which they relate. Significant accounting policies that do not 
relate to a specific note are outlined below.

Revenue

Funding from levies
Oil pollution levies charged on foreign vessels are based on 
information from the New Zealand Customs Service regarding 
port visits. Oil pollution levies charged on domestic commercial 
vessels are based on vessels registered with Maritime NZ and 
are recognised in the period to which the levy relates. 

Provision of services
Revenue derived from the provision of services to third 
parties is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion 
at balance date. 

Interest revenue 
Interest revenue is recognised by accruing on a time 
proportion basis the interest due for the investment.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the financial year in which 
they are incurred.

Investments

Bank term deposits
Bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount 
invested. Interest is subsequently accrued and added to the 
investment balance. A loss allowance for expected credit losses 
is recognised if the estimated loss allowance is not trivial.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward 
exchange contracts are held) are translated into New Zealand 
dollars (the functional currency) using the spot exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions, and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies, are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Items in the financial statements are presented exclusive 
of GST, except for receivables and payables, which are 
presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not 
recoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as part of the 
related asset or expense. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, Inland Revenue is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 

The net GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including the 
GST relating to investing and financing activities, is classified 
as an operating cash flow in the Statement of Cash Flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive 
of GST.

Income tax
The Fund is a public authority and consequently is exempt 
from the payment of income tax. Accordingly, no provision 
has been made for income tax.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of 
Performance Expectations, as approved by the Authority 
at the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures 
have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using 
accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted 
by the Authority in preparing these financial statements.

Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, the Fund has made 
estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These 
estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent 
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are:

• expected credit losses (refer note 5)

• useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment (refer note 7)

• potential inventory obsolescence or loss of service 
potential (refer note 6).

Critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies 
No critical judgements have been applied in the preparation 
of these financial statements other than those noted in the 
going concern disclosure.
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NOTE 2: PERSONNEL COSTS

Accounting Policy

Salaries and wages 
Salaries and wages are recognised as an expense as 
employees provide services.

Superannuation schemes – defined contribution 
schemes
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver are accounted for 
as defined contribution superannuation schemes and are 
expensed in the surplus or deficit as incurred. 

Breakdown of personnel costs and 
further information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Salaries and wages     1,216     1,185 

Other personnel costs      38      32 

Employer contributions to defined 
contribution plans

     66      68 

Increase/(decrease) in employee 
entitlements (Note 9)

     9      2 

Total personnel costs     1,329     1,287 

Employee remuneration
Total remuneration paid or payable that is or exceeds 
$100,000 is set out below:

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

100,000–109,999          2          3 

110,000–119,999          2           – 

120,000–129,999          1          2 

130,000–139,999           –          2 

140,000–149,999          1          1 

150,000–159,999          1           – 

Total employees          7          8 

The above figures are based on an individual’s full package 
including all allowances and benefits. During the year ended 
30 June 2022 no employees received compensation and 
other benefits in relation to cessation (2021: $nil). 

NOTE 3: OTHER EXPENSES

Accounting Policy

Operating leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset to the lessee. Lease payments 
under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives 
received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a 
reduction of rental expense over the lease term.

Breakdown of other expenses and 
further information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Fees to auditors – fees to Audit New 
Zealand for audit of financial statements

  13   13 

Administration  108  186 

Allowance for credit losses on 
receivables (Note 5)

  5   – 

Services provided by Maritime NZ  855  815 

Consultancy  –   60 

Equipment and maintenance  184  363 

Industry liaison   –   1 

Operating expenses  170  169 

Operating lease expenses  169  166 

Professional and safety services  643  634 

Regional Council expenses  549  755 

Travel   52   70 

Training and national exercises  430  523 

Net losses on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment

 77   22 

Impairment of intangible assets 32 –

Loss on foreign exchange   8   79 

Total other expenses  3,295  3,856 
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Operating leases as lessee
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Not later than 1 year     45     168 

Later than 1 year and not later than 
5 years

     –     43 

Later than 5 years      –      – 

Total non-cancellable operating 
leases

    45     211 

The Fund leases one property for operating purposes. 
The lease has a right of renewal with effect in September 
2022 and final expiry date of September 2028. The Fund 
does not have the option to purchase the premises at the 
end of the lease term. The Fund has recognised a make-
good provision of $84k (2021: $80k) in respect of this lease 
(Note 11).

Note 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Accounting policy
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 
held on call with banks, and other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Breakdown of cash and cash 
equivalents and further information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Cash at bank and on hand       4,256       1,866 

Total cash and equivalents       4,256       1,866 

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity 
dates of three months or less approximates their fair 
value. There are no assets recognised in a non-exchange 
transaction that are subject to restrictions. 

NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES

Accounting Policy
Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, 
less an allowance for credit losses. The Fund applies the 
simplified expected credit loss model of recognising lifetime 
expected credit losses for receivables.

In measuring expected credit losses, short-term receivables 
have been assessed on a collective basis as they possess 
shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped 
based on the days past due.

Short-term receivables are written off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovery include the debtor 
being in liquidation.

 
 
 

Breakdown of receivables and further 
information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Receivables (gross)     461     967 

Less: Allowance for credit losses     (5)      – 

Receivables     456     967 

RECEIVABLES COMPRISE:    

Receivables from the sale of goods and 
services (exchange transactions)

     –      3 

Receivables from oil pollution levies 
(non-exchange transactions)

    456     964 

There have been no changes during the reporting period in 
the estimation techniques or significant assumptions used 
in measuring the loss allowance.
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NOTE 6: INVENTORIES

Accounting Policy
Inventories are held for distribution or for use in the provision 
of goods and services. The inventories are held for non-
commercial use and are measured at cost (determined on 
the weighted average cost method), adjusted for any loss 
of service potential.

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are 
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.

Any write-down from cost to net realisable value, or the loss 
of service potential is recognised in surplus or deficit in the 
year of write-down.

The impairment approach for oil spill dispersant is based 
on a series of annual impairment assessments that reflect 
the likely pattern of deterioration indicated by historic lab 
analysis and international experience. The pattern adopted 
is that no impairment is recorded for the first 10 years of 

product life and that an impairment loss of 10% per annum 
is recorded through the second 10 years of the product 
life-cycle.

Breakdown of inventories and further 
information

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Oil spill response and dispersants      1,174       1,176 

Less provision for impairment of service 
performance

      (617)      (568)

Total inventory        557        608 

There have been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories 
are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some 
inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.

NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting Policy
Property, plant and equipment consists of six asset 
classes which are all measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
item will flow to the Fund and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. 

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and 
is not depreciated.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment 
is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired 
through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. 

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the item will 
flow to the Fund and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. 

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are recognised as expenses in the surplus or 
deficit as they are incurred.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in 
the surplus or deficit. 

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all 
property, plant and equipment at rates that will write off the 
cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual 
values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated 
depreciation rates of major classes of property, plant and 
equipment have been estimated as follows:

ASSET TYPE
USEFUL LIFE 

(YEARS)
DEPRECIATION 
METHOD

Plant & equipment 5–50 straight-line

Motor vehicles 5 straight-line

Furniture, fittings & office 
equipment

5 straight-line

Computer equipment 3 straight-line

Leasehold improvements 2–9 straight-line

Vessels 10–35 straight line

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
unexpired period of the lease, or the estimated remaining 
useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Fund does not hold any cash-generating assets. 
Assets are considered cash-generating where their primary 
objective is to generate a commercial return. 

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable service amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value, less costs to sell, and value in use. 



Annual Report 2021/22 135

Value in use is the present value of an asset’s remaining 
service potential. It is determined using an approach 
based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach, 
restoration cost approach, or a service units’ approach. The 
most appropriate approach used to measure value in use 
depends on the nature of the impairment and availability of 
information. 

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the 
carrying amount is written down to the recoverable service 
amount. For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the 
total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. 

Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions

Estimating useful lives and residual values 
of property, plant and equipment
At each balance date, the useful lives and residual values 
of the Fund’s property, plant and equipment are reviewed. 
Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual 
value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires 
a number of factors to be considered such as the physical 
condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset 
by the Fund, and expected disposal proceeds from the 
future sale of the asset. 

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will 
affect the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus or 
deficit, and carrying amount of the asset in the Statement 
of Financial Position. The Fund minimises the risk of this 
estimation uncertainty by: 

• physical inspections of assets 

• asset replacement programmes 

• review of second-hand market prices for similar assets 

• analysis of prior asset sales. 

The Fund has not made significant changes to past 
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values 
except where individual assets have been impaired or 
written off during the financial year due to observable 
changes in the asset itself.
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Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 

PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT 

$000
VESSELS 

$000
MOTOR VEHICLES 

$000

FURNITURE, FITTINGS 
AND OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT 

$000

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT 

$000

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS 

$000
WORK IN PROGRESS 

$000
TOTAL 

$000

COST OR VALUATION                

Balance at 1 July 2020  14,356  461  299  75  46  84  2,181  17,502 

Additions  292  –  163  5  –  –  707  1,167 

Transfer from WIP  2,181  –  –  –  –  –  (2,181)  – 

Disposals  (1,263)  –  (30)  –  (18)  –  –  (1,311)

Balance at 30 June 2021  15,566  461  432  80  28  84  707  17,358 

Balance at 1 July 2021  15,566  461  432  80  28  84  707  17,358 

Additions 584  –  – – 11  –  1,795  2,390 

Transfer from WIP 642  –  – 13 1  –  (656)  – 

Disposals  (1,089)  –  (37)  –  –  –  –  (1,126)

Impairment (110) – – – – – – (110)

Balance at 30 June 2022  15,593  461  395  93  40  84  1,846  18,512 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES         

Balance at 1 July 2020  5,783  356  282  75  43  63  –  6,602 

Depreciation expense  668  26  27  –  2  4  –  727 

Elimination on disposal  (1,221)  –  (30)  –  (18)  –  –  (1,269)

Balance at 30 June 2021  5,230  382  279  75  27  67  –  6,061 

Balance at 1 July 2021  5,230  382  279  75  27  67  –  6,061 

Depreciation expense  723  9  33  2  2  5  –  774 

Elimination on disposal  (992)  –  (37)  –  –  –  –  (1,029)

Impairment (78) – – – – – – (78)

Balance at 30 June 2022  4,883  391  275  77  29  72  –  5,728 

CARRYING AMOUNTS                

At 30 June 2021  10,336  79  153  5  1  17  707  11,297 

At 30 June 2022  10,710  70  120  16  11  12  1,846  12,785 

Restrictions 
There are no restrictions over the title of the Fund’s property, plant and equipment, and no property, plant and equipment 
is pledged as security for liabilities.

Capital commitments
There are contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment of $644k at the reporting date 
(2021: $257k). 
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Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 

PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT 

$000
VESSELS 

$000
MOTOR VEHICLES 

$000

FURNITURE, FITTINGS 
AND OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT 

$000

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT 

$000

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS 

$000
WORK IN PROGRESS 

$000
TOTAL 

$000

COST OR VALUATION                

Balance at 1 July 2020  14,356  461  299  75  46  84  2,181  17,502 

Additions  292  –  163  5  –  –  707  1,167 

Transfer from WIP  2,181  –  –  –  –  –  (2,181)  – 

Disposals  (1,263)  –  (30)  –  (18)  –  –  (1,311)

Balance at 30 June 2021  15,566  461  432  80  28  84  707  17,358 

Balance at 1 July 2021  15,566  461  432  80  28  84  707  17,358 

Additions 584  –  – – 11  –  1,795  2,390 

Transfer from WIP 642  –  – 13 1  –  (656)  – 

Disposals  (1,089)  –  (37)  –  –  –  –  (1,126)

Impairment (110) – – – – – – (110)

Balance at 30 June 2022  15,593  461  395  93  40  84  1,846  18,512 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES         

Balance at 1 July 2020  5,783  356  282  75  43  63  –  6,602 

Depreciation expense  668  26  27  –  2  4  –  727 

Elimination on disposal  (1,221)  –  (30)  –  (18)  –  –  (1,269)

Balance at 30 June 2021  5,230  382  279  75  27  67  –  6,061 

Balance at 1 July 2021  5,230  382  279  75  27  67  –  6,061 

Depreciation expense  723  9  33  2  2  5  –  774 

Elimination on disposal  (992)  –  (37)  –  –  –  –  (1,029)

Impairment (78) – – – – – – (78)

Balance at 30 June 2022  4,883  391  275  77  29  72  –  5,728 

CARRYING AMOUNTS                

At 30 June 2021  10,336  79  153  5  1  17  707  11,297 

At 30 June 2022  10,710  70  120  16  11  12  1,846  12,785 

Restrictions 
There are no restrictions over the title of the Fund’s property, plant and equipment, and no property, plant and equipment 
is pledged as security for liabilities.

Capital commitments
There are contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment of $644k at the reporting date 
(2021: $257k). 
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NOTE 8: PAYABLES

Accounting Policy
Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded 
at the amount payable.

Breakdown of payables

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS 

Creditors 174 203 

Accrued expenses 495 499 

Total payables under exchange 
transactions

669 702 

Total payables 669 702 

NOTE 9: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Accounting Policy

Short-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 
12 months after the end of the year in which the employee 
provides the related service are measured based on 
accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include 
salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual 
leave earned but not yet taken at balance date.

Breakdown of employee entitlements

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Annual leave 103 94 

Accrued salary and wages 41 39 

Total employee entitlements 144 133 

NOTE 10: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting Policy

Derivative financial instruments
Financial instruments are used to manage exposure to 
foreign exchange risk arising from the Fund’s operational 
activities. The Fund does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments for trading purposes. The Fund has 
not adopted hedge accounting.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured to their fair value at each balance date with the 
resulting gain or loss recognised in surplus or deficit.

A forward foreign exchange derivative is classified as current 
if it is due for settlement within 12 months of balance date. 
Otherwise the full fair value of the forward foreign exchange 
derivatives is classified as non-current.

Further information on derivative financial 
instruments
The notional principal amounts of outstanding forward 
exchange contracts were NZ$379k (2021: $39k). 
The foreign currency principal amounts were €223k 
(2021: €23k). The unrealised loss to report on these 
instruments at 30 June 2022 is NZ$1k.

The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts have 
been determined using a discounted cash flows valuation 
technique based on quoted market prices (observable 
inputs). The inputs into the valuation model are from 
independently sourced market parameters such as currency 
rates. Most market parameters are implied from forward 
foreign exchange contract prices.
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NOTE 11: PROVISIONS

Accounting Policy

Provisions
A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain 
amount or timing when: 

• there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event

• it is probable that an outflow of future economic benefits 
or service potential will be required to settle the obligation

• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation, 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time, value of money, and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Breakdown of provisions and further 
information

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, the Fund is required at the 
expiry of the lease term to make good any damage caused 
to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to 
remove any fixtures or fittings installed by the Fund. In many 
cases, the Fund has the option to renew these leases, 
which impacts on the timing of expected cash outflows 
to make good the premises. Information about the Fund’s 
leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note 3.

Movements for each class of provision are 
as follows:

LEASE MAKE-GOOD
ACTUAL  

$000

Balance at 1 July 2020 71 

Discount unwind provision 9 

Balance at 30 June 2021 80 

Balance at 1 July 2021 80 

Discount unwind provision 4 

Balance at 30 June 2022 84 

NOTE 12: EQUITY

Accounting Policy
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets 
and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified 
into the following components:

• contributed capital

• accumulated surplus/(deficit)

Breakdown of equity

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL    

Balance at 1 July as previously reported 15,282 15,282

Capital contribution – –

Balance at 30 June 15,282 15,282

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

Balance at 1 July as previously reported 2,611 1,823

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 810 788

Balance at 30 June 3,421 2,611

Total equity 30 June 18,703 17,893

NOTE 13: CONTINGENCIES

Contingent liabilities
The Fund has no contingent liabilities (2021: $nil).

Contingent assets
The Fund has no contingent assets (2021: $nil).
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NOTE 14: RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Fund is ultimately controlled by the Crown. 

Related party disclosures have not been made for 
transactions with related parties that are:

• within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship

• on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than 
those that it is reasonable to expect the Fund would have 
adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the 
same circumstances.

Further, transactions with other government agencies (for 
example, government departments and Crown entities) are 
not disclosed as related party transactions when they are 
on normal terms and conditions consistent with the normal 
operating arrangements between government agencies. 

The following transactions were carried out with related 
parties other than those described above.

TRANSACTION REF
TRANSACTION VALUE 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

BALANCE OUTSTANDING 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2022 
$000

2021 
$000

2022 
$000

2021 
$000

Maritime New Zealand – salaries and administration cost 
recovered by Maritime New Zealand

1                 855  815   4    6 

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. The costs relating to this administration have been paid 
    to Maritime NZ on a cost-recovery basis. 

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties (2021: $nil).

NOTE 15: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST    

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)            4,256            1,866 

Receivables (Note 5)               456               967 

Investments – term deposits            1,500            4,000 

Total financial assets at amortised cost            6,212            6,833 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST    

Payables (Note 8)               669               702 

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost               669              702 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH SURPLUS/DEFICIT    

Derivative financial instrument liabilities (refer note 10)                   1 – 

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value through surplus/deficit 1              – 
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NOTE 16: COVID-19 DISCLOSURE

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared 
the outbreak of COVID-19 a pandemic. Since this time 
the New Zealand Government has implemented a range 
of restrictions and border controls to limit the spread of 
the virus.

COVID-19 had a significant impact on the operations of the 
Fund during 2021/22. Key impacts include:

• disruption arising from restrictions on general movement 
of the global and domestic population that affected the 
global and domestic supply chain and wider economy 
throughout the year. This impacted the Fund financially 
through a decrease in the number of port visits by foreign 
passenger and non-passenger vessels, and a reduction in 
the volume of oil cargo carried including a change in the 
mix (decline in levy revenue)

• international travel was essentially prohibited for most 
of the year and changes in alert levels and traffic light 
settings in August through to March significantly disrupted 
domestic travel for several short periods (reduced travel 
costs)

• the disruptions caused by COVID-19 resulted in some 
planned training and workshops being delayed or 
cancelled (reduced operating costs).

The global impacts of COVID-19 continue to attract 
considerable uncertainty around the national and global 
economic impact over the next 12 months and beyond. 
During the year, the New Zealand Government has 
eased restrictions with the replacement of Alert Levels 
framework with a new traffic light framework to manage 
life with COVID-19 and reduce the impact of outbreak, in 
addition to indicating to reopen the maritime border to all 
vessels including cruise ships. However, it is expected that 
global economic restrictions will continue to disrupt the 
maritime trade and tourism industry at both a national and 
international level, resulting in uncertainties around future 
vessel movements and cruise ship visitations that lead to 
uncertainties around future levy revenue.

In April 2020, the NZ Government approved contingency 
funding of up to $40 million in favour of Maritime NZ and the 
Oil Pollution Fund for the purpose of maintaining regulatory, 
compliance and response capability should funding streams 
be adversely impacted by COVID-19 through to 30 June 
2022, and subsequently increased appropriation to $45m 
with an extension through to 30 June 2024. Drawdowns on 
this contingency funding commenced in July 2022 and will 
continue to be required through to June 2023 and beyond. 
Refer to Note 1 for arrangements in place to ensure 
Maritime NZ continues to have the resources to support 
and regulate the maritime industry through this period of 
uncertainty during 2022/23 and beyond.

NOTE 17: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

There were no significant events after the balance date.

NOTE 18: EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET

Statement of comprehensive revenue 
and expense
Explanations for major variations from the Fund’s budgeted 
figures in the Statement of Performance Expectations 
2021/22 are provided below.

Revenue variances
Oil Pollution levy: The 2021/22 budget estimated a 9% 
reduction in levy revenue across port visits from foreign 
ships, and 10% reduction of oil cargo carried by foreign and 
domestic tankers. Levy revenue for the 2021/22 financial 
year was affected by the closure of Marsden Point Refinery 
in March, with a change in the type of oil imported into 
New Zealand (less crude and more refined) and the ceasing 
of operations of the two domestic tankers that serviced 
New Zealand ports. The net effect of this change is a 
reduction of revenue against budget of $1m and a reduction 
against last year of $0.5m. 

Expenditure variances
Other expenses: The effects of COVID-19 has reduced 
operating expenditure mainly in travel, regional council 
training and incident response training as Auckland was in 
lockdown for 4 months. Total expenditure was $1.2m below 
budget and $0.6m below last year.

Statement of financial position

Asset variances
Cash and cash equivalents and investments: Cash and 
cash equivalents and Investments are higher than budget 
due to cancellation of planned dispersant purchases and 
delay in equipment purchases from overseas suppliers 
(this has been carried forward to 2022/23). 

Inventories: Planned inventory purchases have been 
cancelled due to supplier issues and change in inventory 
requirements for New Zealand. 



142 MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

Property, plant and equipment: The procurement and 
delivery of plant and equipment has been delayed due to 
manufacturing and shipping delays from overseas suppliers 
due to COVID-19.

Statement of cash flows

Cash flows from Operating Activities
Payment to suppliers: Cancellation of dispersant order 
and reduction of operating expenditure has caused this 
variance to budget of $1.8m.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the readers of New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2022

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand 
Oil Pollution fund (the Fund). The Auditor-General has 
appointed me, Matthew Geddes, using the staff and 
resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of 
the financial statements of the Fund on his behalf. 

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Fund 
on pages 127 to 142, that comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2022, the statement 
of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year ended on that date and the notes to the financial 
statements including accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

In our opinion the financial statements of the Fund on 
pages 127 to 142:

•  present fairly, in all material respects:

 –  its financial position as at 30 June 2022; and

 –  its financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended; and

•  comply with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity 
Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Our audit was completed on 29 November 2022. This is the 
date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis for our opinion is explained below, and we 
draw attention to the impact of Covid-19 on the Fund. 
In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board 
and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements, 
we comment on other information, and we explain 
our independence.

Emphasis of matter – Impact of Covid-19
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the 
disclosures about the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on the 
Fund as set out in the basis of preparation section on page 
130, and note 16 on page 141 to the financial statements.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
Professional and Ethical Standards and the International 
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the 
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section 
of our report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with 
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the 
financial statements 
The Board is responsible on behalf of the Fund for preparing 
financial statements that are fairly presented and that 
comply with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand. 

The Board is responsible for such internal control as it 
determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is 
responsible on behalf of the Fund for assessing the Fund’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. The Board is also 
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting, unless there is an intention to liquidate the Fund 
or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime Transport 
Act 1994, Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance 
Act 1989. 

Responsibilities of the auditor for the 
audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements, as a whole, are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with 
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
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are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, 
and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of 
readers taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

For the budget information reported in the financial 
statements, our procedures were limited to checking 
that the information agreed to the Fund’s statement of 
performance expectations.

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the 
electronic publication of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s 
Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
Also:

•  We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•  We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Fund’s internal control.

•  We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Board.

•  We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting by the Board and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

•  We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Board regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other Information
The Board is responsible for the other information.  
The other information comprises the information included 
on pages 1 to 17, 63 to 79, 123 to 126 and 145 to 160, 
but does not include the financial statements, and our 
auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of audit 
opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information. In doing 
so, we consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Independence
We are independent of the Fund in accordance with 
the independence requirements of the Auditor-General’s 
Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence 
requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1: 
International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners 
issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board. 

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with, or 
interests in, the Fund.

Matthew Geddes 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand 
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Maritime NZ and 
Rescue Coordination 
Centre NZ additional 
financial information
The financial statements of Maritime NZ consolidate the activities of the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand with 
Maritime NZ’s regulatory and compliance activities. This appendix provides additional financial information that does not form 
part of Maritime NZ’s audited accounts, to give readers more detail about the cost of operating Rescue Coordination Centre 
New Zealand.

APPENDIX 2 
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Maritime NZ and Rescue Coordination Centre NZ 
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense 

for the year ended 30 June 2022

    MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

REVENUE  

Crown 2 34,781 33,680 19,533 9,885 8,285 9,277 44,666 41,965 28,810

Maritime levy   21,929 22,882 23,127 – – – 21,929 22,882 23,127

Other revenue 2 5,848 5,712 6,046 365 158 252 6,213 5,870 6,298

Interest revenue   65 25 82 47 76 31 112 101 113

Total revenue   62,623 62,299 48,788 10,297 8,519 9,560 72,920 70,818 58,348

EXPENSES  

Personnel costs 3 39,894 38,546 35,902 2,693 3,248 2,945 42,587 41,794 38,847

Depreciation & amortisation costs 12,13 2,351 2,412 2,114 467 546 407 2,818 2,958 2,521

Capital charge 4 616 617 616 491 400 468 1,107 1,017 1,084

Finance costs 5 82 72 101 – – – 82 72 101

Other expenses 6 19,680 19,899 16,124 6,140 4,623 5,560 25,820 24,522 21,684

Total expenses   62,623 61,546 54,857 9,791 8,817 9,380 72,414 70,363 64,237

Surplus/(deficit)   – 753 (6,069) 506 (298) 180 506 455 (5,889)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE 

Gain on property revaluations   63 – – – – – 63 – –

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   63 753 (6,069) 506 (298) 180 569 455 (5,889)

Maritime NZ and Rescue Coordination Centre NZ 
Statement of changes in equity 

as at 30 June 2022 

    MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Balance at 1 July   14,211 14,341 20,280 9,807 10,239 9,362 24,018 24,580 29,642

Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year   63 753 (6,069) 506 (298) 180 569 455 (5,889)

Capital contribution from the Crown 19 – – – 181 50 265 181 50 265

Balance at 30 June   14,274 15,094 14,211 10,494 9,991 9,807 24,768 25,085 24,018
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Maritime NZ and Rescue Coordination Centre NZ 
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense 

for the year ended 30 June 2022

    MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

REVENUE  

Crown 2 34,781 33,680 19,533 9,885 8,285 9,277 44,666 41,965 28,810

Maritime levy   21,929 22,882 23,127 – – – 21,929 22,882 23,127

Other revenue 2 5,848 5,712 6,046 365 158 252 6,213 5,870 6,298

Interest revenue   65 25 82 47 76 31 112 101 113

Total revenue   62,623 62,299 48,788 10,297 8,519 9,560 72,920 70,818 58,348

EXPENSES  

Personnel costs 3 39,894 38,546 35,902 2,693 3,248 2,945 42,587 41,794 38,847

Depreciation & amortisation costs 12,13 2,351 2,412 2,114 467 546 407 2,818 2,958 2,521

Capital charge 4 616 617 616 491 400 468 1,107 1,017 1,084

Finance costs 5 82 72 101 – – – 82 72 101

Other expenses 6 19,680 19,899 16,124 6,140 4,623 5,560 25,820 24,522 21,684

Total expenses   62,623 61,546 54,857 9,791 8,817 9,380 72,414 70,363 64,237

Surplus/(deficit)   – 753 (6,069) 506 (298) 180 506 455 (5,889)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE 

Gain on property revaluations   63 – – – – – 63 – –

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   63 753 (6,069) 506 (298) 180 569 455 (5,889)

Maritime NZ and Rescue Coordination Centre NZ 
Statement of changes in equity 

as at 30 June 2022 

    MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

Balance at 1 July   14,211 14,341 20,280 9,807 10,239 9,362 24,018 24,580 29,642

Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year   63 753 (6,069) 506 (298) 180 569 455 (5,889)

Capital contribution from the Crown 19 – – – 181 50 265 181 50 265

Balance at 30 June   14,274 15,094 14,211 10,494 9,991 9,807 24,768 25,085 24,018
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Maritime NZ and Rescue Coordination Centre NZ 
Statement of financial position 

as at 30 June 2022

    MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 

$00

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

CURRENT ASSETS                    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,843 4,663 4,997 1,899 2,376 1,481 4,742 7,039 6,478

Receivables 8 5,903 4,000 3,521 (95) 50 984 5,808 4,050 4,505

Derivative financial instruments 10 – – – 42 – – 42 – –

Investments 9 2,000 850 2,000 3,750 2,150 2,250 5,750 3,000 4,250

Prepayments   865 700 599 39 20 58 904 720 657

Inventories 11 138 150 136 – – – 138 150 136

Total current assets   11,749 10,363 11,253 5,635 4,596 4,773 17,384 14,959 16,026

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  

Derivative financial instruments 10 – – – 116 100 – 116 100 –

Property, plant and equipment 12 5,669 6,062 5,568 4,918 4,614 5,295 10,587 10,676 10,863

Intangible assets 13 5,207 6,162 5,333 380 1,031 325 5,587 7,193 5,658

Total non-current assets   10,876 12,224 10,901 5,414 5,745 5,620 16,290 17,969 16,521

Total assets   22,625 22,587 22,154 11,049 10,341 10,393 33,674 32,928 32,547

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Payables 14 3,488 3,350 3,337 222 150 165 3,710 3,500 3,502

Borrowings 15 302 302 299 – – – 302 302 299

Employee entitlements 16 3,746 3,100 3,196 333 200 325 4,079 3,300 3,521

Provisions 17 200 – 34 – – – 200 – 34

Derivative financial instruments 10 – – – – – 4 – – 4

Total current liabilities   7,736 6,752 6,866 555 350 494 8,291 7,102 7,360

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Borrowings 15 603 611 905 – – – 603 611 905

Provisions 17 12 130 172 – – – 12 130 172

Derivative financial instruments 10 – – – – – 92 – – 92

Total non-current liabilities   615 741 1,077 – – 92 615 741 1,169

Total liabilities   8,351 7,493 7,943 555 350 586 8,906 7,843 8,529

NET ASSETS   14,274 15,094 14,211 10,494 9,991 9,807 24,768 25,085 24,018

EQUITY  

Contributed Capital 19 12,320 12,320 12,320 13,634 13,688 13,453 25,954 26,008 25,773

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 19 600 1,483 600 (3,140) (3,697) (3,646) (2,540) (2,214) (3,046)

Property revaluation reserves 19 1,354 1,291 1,291 – – – 1,354 1,291 1,291

TOTAL EQUITY   14,274 15,094 14,211 10,494 9,991 9,807 24,768 25,085 24,018
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Maritime NZ and Rescue Coordination Centre NZ 
Statement of financial position 

as at 30 June 2022

    MARITIME NEW ZEALAND RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND GROUP

  NOTES

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$000

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

ACTUAL 
2022 
$00

BUDGET 
2022 
$000

ACTUAL 
2021 
$000

CURRENT ASSETS                    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,843 4,663 4,997 1,899 2,376 1,481 4,742 7,039 6,478

Receivables 8 5,903 4,000 3,521 (95) 50 984 5,808 4,050 4,505

Derivative financial instruments 10 – – – 42 – – 42 – –

Investments 9 2,000 850 2,000 3,750 2,150 2,250 5,750 3,000 4,250

Prepayments   865 700 599 39 20 58 904 720 657

Inventories 11 138 150 136 – – – 138 150 136

Total current assets   11,749 10,363 11,253 5,635 4,596 4,773 17,384 14,959 16,026

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  

Derivative financial instruments 10 – – – 116 100 – 116 100 –

Property, plant and equipment 12 5,669 6,062 5,568 4,918 4,614 5,295 10,587 10,676 10,863

Intangible assets 13 5,207 6,162 5,333 380 1,031 325 5,587 7,193 5,658

Total non-current assets   10,876 12,224 10,901 5,414 5,745 5,620 16,290 17,969 16,521

Total assets   22,625 22,587 22,154 11,049 10,341 10,393 33,674 32,928 32,547

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Payables 14 3,488 3,350 3,337 222 150 165 3,710 3,500 3,502

Borrowings 15 302 302 299 – – – 302 302 299

Employee entitlements 16 3,746 3,100 3,196 333 200 325 4,079 3,300 3,521

Provisions 17 200 – 34 – – – 200 – 34

Derivative financial instruments 10 – – – – – 4 – – 4

Total current liabilities   7,736 6,752 6,866 555 350 494 8,291 7,102 7,360

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Borrowings 15 603 611 905 – – – 603 611 905

Provisions 17 12 130 172 – – – 12 130 172

Derivative financial instruments 10 – – – – – 92 – – 92

Total non-current liabilities   615 741 1,077 – – 92 615 741 1,169

Total liabilities   8,351 7,493 7,943 555 350 586 8,906 7,843 8,529

NET ASSETS   14,274 15,094 14,211 10,494 9,991 9,807 24,768 25,085 24,018

EQUITY  

Contributed Capital 19 12,320 12,320 12,320 13,634 13,688 13,453 25,954 26,008 25,773

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 19 600 1,483 600 (3,140) (3,697) (3,646) (2,540) (2,214) (3,046)

Property revaluation reserves 19 1,354 1,291 1,291 – – – 1,354 1,291 1,291

TOTAL EQUITY   14,274 15,094 14,211 10,494 9,991 9,807 24,768 25,085 24,018
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APPENDIX 3 

Governance and accountability

The Minister of Transport is responsible to Parliament for overseeing and managing 
the Crown’s interests in Maritime NZ.

The Minister expects Maritime NZ’s Board to set the 
direction of the entity, achieve the Government’s desired 
results as set out in the Maritime Transport Act 1994 (MTA) 
and other legislation and policy, and manage any maritime 
safety and security risks on behalf of the Crown. 

Members act in accordance with applicable statutory 
requirements (for example, the MTA and Crown Entities 
Act 2004), and in the interests of the role and functions of 
maritime safety and security. 

Board function 
Maritime NZ’s Board is made up of five to seven members 
appointed by the Governor-General on the recommendation 
of the Minister of Transport. The Board appoints the Director 
of Maritime NZ, who has independent statutory powers 
under the MTA. 

The Board is responsible and accountable for the 
management and strategic direction of Maritime NZ.

Accountability 
The responsible ministers provide Maritime NZ with an annual 
letter outlining their expectations. This guides the development 
of the Statement of Intent and Statement of Performance 
Expectations both of which are tabled in Parliament.

The Statement of Intent and Statement of Performance 
Expectations set out what Maritime NZ intends to deliver 
and are the primary sources from which Parliament and 
ministers are able to hold Maritime NZ to account. 

The Minister’s formal line of accountability with Maritime NZ 
is through the Board. The Board selects, appoints and 
monitors the performance of the Director of Maritime NZ, 
Kirstie Hewlett. The Director of Maritime NZ is responsible to 
the Board for the efficient and effective running of Maritime NZ. 

Executive Leadership Team 
The Executive Leadership Team comprises the Chief 
Executive and Director of Maritime NZ and Deputy Chief 
Executives from the seven business groups: 

•  Andrew Saunderson, Organisational Strategy and Systems

•  Anne Greenwood, People Capability

•  Deb Despard, Regulatory Operations

•  Peter Brunt, Regulatory Frameworks

•  Nigel Clifford, Response, Security and Safety Services

•  Kenny Crawford, Technical Advice and Support

•  Sharyn Forsyth, Partnerships.

Delegations 
Maritime NZ operates a financial delegations policy that 
allows individuals to carry out their role and function. The 
policy provides a check and balance, to ensure transactions 
that are of an exceptional nature, or are deemed to exceed 
a level of risk, are first approved by someone with the 
appropriate expertise, authority and experience. 

The Board delegates levels of authority to the Director of 
Maritime NZ and Maritime NZ managers. 

Audit and Risk Committee 
The Audit and Risk Committee (a sub-committee of the 
Board) comprises all Board members.

The Committee has the authority to make recommendations 
only and the objectives of the Committee are to ensure:

•  the robustness of risk management systems and practices

•  the independence and adequacy of the internal audit 
functions

•  compliance with regulations, standards and best-practice 
guidelines. 

Risk management 
The Board is responsible for ensuring Maritime NZ has a 
comprehensive risk register, which identifies all significant 
risks, corresponding mitigation actions and the regular 
monitoring of these mitigations. 

Internal audit 
The Audit and Risk Committee establishes a risk-based 
internal audit programme each year, covering the main 
functions and services of Maritime NZ. The programme also 
includes the flexibility to schedule reviews of areas of interest 
to the Director and the Committee as the need arises. 

Internal audit services are provided either internally or 
through contracted providers. 

Legislative compliance and ethics 
Maritime NZ is guided by its codes of conduct and the 
Public Service Commissioner’s Standards of Integrity 
and Conduct. Board members are required to complete 
a declaration of interests on appointment, and whenever 
changes occur during their term. 

A schedule of Board members’ interests is reviewed at 
every Board meeting.
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APPENDIX 4 

Data sources for “Why the 
maritime domain matters to 
New Zealand?” infographic

The Minister of Transport is responsible to Parliament for overseeing and managing 
the Crown’s interests in Maritime NZ.

Statistics NZ, Marine economy statistics (economic 
contribution, GDP proportion, wage and salary earner data): 
https://www.stats.govt.nz/indicators/marine-economy

Statistics NZ, overseas cargo statistics (value and volume 
of NZ exports and imports by NZ port): https://www.stats.
govt.nz/topics/imports-and-exports

Maritime NZ, Ship and port visits data 

https://www.stats.govt.nz/indicators/marine-economy
https://www.stats.govt.nz/topics/imports-and-exports
https://www.stats.govt.nz/topics/imports-and-exports
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Performance information 
standards 
We have a performance measurement framework designed 
to measure progress on how we deliver our safe, secure 
and clean outcomes. Important aspects of our reporting 
approach are outlined below. 

Aligning to performance reporting 
standards 
Each year, Maritime NZ undertakes a review of existing 
performance measures where it considers: 

•  whether operational changes mean the measure is not 
fit for purpose 

•  alternative ways of measuring our sub-outputs 

•  the appropriateness of performance standards (targets) 

•  any material changes that might affect delivery 

•  whether the measure wording still clearly conveys 
the intent 

•  whether new measures are required to capture shifting 
operational focus 

•  recommendations from external audits. 

We engage with colleagues across the public sector to 
share learnings and new approaches. We have recently 
implemented the internationally recognised PuMP 
performance measurement methodology when 
designing measures. 

Measure selection 
We take a ‘top-down’ approach to measurement selection, 
by developing measures related to our output classes 
and impact areas, which are in turn linked to our overall 
outcomes. 

Our sub-output indicators, which are aligned to our output 
classes, capture significant output activity that links directly 
to funded services we deliver. These may include measures 
relating to the performance of external contractors who 
deliver services for Maritime NZ (for instance, maintenance 
of radio sites and aids to navigation). 

Similarly, our impact indicators were chosen to provide 
measurable evidence of the impacts we seek to achieve 
over the medium to long term and that align to our 
outcomes of safe, secure, clean, as identified in the 
Statement of Intent 2021–2025. We believe this gives us 
an aggregated but comprehensive view of our performance. 

Our reporting users 
We have identified five specific users of our performance 
information whose reporting needs heavily influence our 
reporting approach: 

1.  our minister, the Minister of Transport, who requires high-
level information about our progress against his Letter 
of Expectations in our quarterly reporting and published 
accountability documents 

2.  our monitoring agency, Te Manatū Waka, which provides 
an independent view of our performance to the Minister 
of Transport 

3.  the Maritime NZ Board and its Audit and Risk Committee, 
which provide assurance that we are meeting the 
Minister’s expectations, based on regular reporting and 
published accountability documents 

4.  the Maritime NZ Executive Leadership Team, which 
use the information to monitor and address operational 
performance. This includes internal reporting against our 
key programmes and projects 

5.  sector interest groups (such as the New Zealand Safer 
Boating Forum) and stakeholders, this includes levy and 
tax payers. 

Relevant and informative reporting 
We know users have varied requirements for performance 
information. For instance, we provide the Minister of 
Transport with quarterly reporting, which covers our 
performance against each output we deliver, as well 
as organisational highlights, challenges, risks, financial 
performance and metrics around people and 
organisational health. 

Our public accountability documents are produced less 
regularly. Some are annual (the Statement of Performance 
Expectations and Annual Report) while the Statement of 
Intent is generally once every four years. 

Our work in the maritime sector is closely aligned with 
broader transport sector programmes and government 
priorities, so our performance reporting framework is closely 
linked to the Transport Outcomes Framework led by 
Te Manatū Waka (see page 12), wider governmental 
goals (such as COVID-19 recovery) and the Minister of 
Transport’s annual Letter of Expectations for Maritime NZ. 

Some of our data are also reported under the Transport 
Outcomes Framework to enable a wider system view of 
performance among transport sector agencies (for instance, 
maritime fatalities and oil spill statistics). 

APPENDIX 5

https://www.staceybarr.com/about/pump/
https://www.staceybarr.com/about/pump/
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Complying with reporting standards 
The 2022/23 Annual Report will be the first annual report 
where we are required to comply with the new standard 
for service performance reporting (Public Benefit Entity 
Financial Reporting Standard 48 – Service Performance 
Reporting) released by the Government’s External Reporting 
Board. While we have not strictly adhered to the new 
standard in this report, we have taken into account the 
new standard’s guidance on the qualitative characteristics 
of performance measurement when reviewing and 
developing our measures, including: 

•  relevance 

•  understandability 

•  faithful representation 

•  timeliness 

•  comparability 

•  consistency 

•  verifiability. 

The standard’s objective is to establish principles and 
requirements for an entity to present service performance 
information that is useful for accountability and decision-
making in a general purpose financial report. The standard 
sets new requirements or increased expectations for: 

•  identifying and selecting appropriate and meaningful 
performance information 

•  disclosing judgements made in selecting, aggregating 
and presenting performance information

•  providing comparative performance information 

•  ensuring consistency of reporting.
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Glossary 
Kuputaka

Carbon Neutral Government 
Programme 
The Carbon Neutral Government 
Programme was launched in 
December 2020 to accelerate the 
reduction of emissions within the 
public sector. The Government will 
join businesses and communities 
already leading the way to reduce 
their emissions as New Zealand 
transitions to a low-emissions 
economy. The programme’s aim is 
to make several organisations within 
the public sector carbon neutral 
from 2025. 

Deadweight tonnage 
Deadweight tonnage is the total weight 
of cargo, stores, fuel and water needed 
to submerge a ship from its light draught 
to its maximum permitted draught; it is 
given by the difference between the load 
displacement and light displacement. 
Deadweight tonnage, along with gross 
tonnage, is used to calculate the 
maritime levies of foreign passenger 
and foreign non-passenger vessels 
following each New Zealand port visit. 
Both tonnages are also used for annual 
domestic vessel levies’ calculations.

Enforceable undertaking 
An enforceable undertaking is an 
agreement between Maritime NZ and a 
duty holder. It is entered into voluntarily 
by the duty holder following a breach 
(including an alleged breach) of the 
Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 
and, once in place, is legally binding. 
It is generally used as an alternative 
to prosecution.

The agreement details the actions the 
duty holder will undertake to respond 
to the contravention. These actions are 
expected to:

•  support progressively higher 
standards of work health and safety 
for the benefit of the workers and/
or work and/or workplace, the wider 
industry or sector, and community

•  remedy the harm caused to any 
victim(s).

Equipment stockpiles 
The equipment used to respond to 
an oil spill is stored and maintained 
at Maritime NZ’s Marine Pollution 
Response Service warehouse in 
Te Atatu, Auckland. Over 20 equipment 
stockpiles are also located around 
the country. The amount and type of 
equipment available in each location 
is based on the anticipated risk and 
size of a spill. For example, regions 
with major oil terminals have larger 
stockpiles and specialist equipment. 

Gross tonnage 
Gross tonnage is a measurement of 
a ship’s overall internal volume. Gross 
tonnage, along with deadweight 
tonnage, is used to calculate the 
maritime levies of foreign passenger 
and foreign non-passenger vessels 
following each New Zealand port visit. 
Both tonnages are also used for annual 
domestic vessel levies’ calculations. 
Oil pollution levies are calculated on 
the basis of gross tonnage only.

Government Regulatory 
Practice Initiative 
This network of central and local 
government regulatory agencies 
was established to lead and contribute 
to regulatory practice initiatives. 
The Government Regulatory Practice 
Initiative (G-Reg) works on actions that 
improve leadership, culture, regulatory 
practice and workforce capability in 
regulatory organisations and systems. 
G-Reg offers courses, workshops and 
conferences. The Core Knowledge 
qualification (a Level 3 New Zealand 
Qualifications Authority-approved 
qualification) is the first on the 
regulatory learning pathway devised 
by the G-Reg initiative. This qualification 
is compulsory for all Maritime NZ staff. 

Health and Safety at Work 
Act 2015 
The Health and Safety at Work Act 
2015 is New Zealand’s workplace 
health and safety law. It introduced 
new responsibilities for managing 

the work-related risks that could 
cause serious injury, illness or even 
death. Maritime NZ administers the Act 
and associated regulations for work 
on board ships and where ships are 
places of work. 

International Association 
of Marine Aids to Navigation 
and Lighthouse Authorities
The International Association of Marine 
Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse 
Authorities (IALA), previously 
known as International Association 
of Lighthouse Authorities, is an 
international organisation founded in 
1957 to collect and provide nautical 
expertise and advice. IALA brings 
together representatives of the aids 
to navigation services of about 80 
countries for technical coordination, 
information sharing, and coordination 
of improvements to aids to navigation 
throughout the world. 

International Convention for 
the Prevention of Pollution 
from Ships and MARPOL 
Annex VI 
The International Convention for the 
Prevention of Pollution from Ships 
(MARPOL) is the main international 
convention aimed at the prevention 
of pollution from ships caused by 
operational or accidental causes. It was 
adopted at the International Maritime 
Organization (IMO) in 1973. 

New Zealand is party to the following 
MARPOL annexes: Annex I Regulations 
for the Prevention of Pollution by Oil; 
Annex II Regulations for the Control of 
Pollution by Noxious Liquid Substances 
in Bulk; Annex III Prevention of Pollution 
by Harmful Substances Carried by Sea 
in Packaged Form; Annex V Prevention 
of Pollution by Garbage from Ships; 
and Annex VI Prevention of Air Pollution 
from Ships. New Zealand has not yet 
acceded to Annex IV, which is focused 
on sewage pollution from ships.

MARPOL Annex VI is the part of the 
IMO Marine Pollution Convention that 
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seeks to address the impact of air 
pollution from shipping activities on 
human health and environments in 
and around port communities. It also 
focuses on the impacts of emissions 
from shipping activities on climate 
change and ozone layer depletion. 
New Zealand acceded to Annex VI 
on 26 May 2022. 

International Maritime 
Organization 
The International Maritime Organization 
is a specialised agency of the United 
Nations and is responsible for 
measures to improve the safety and 
security of international shipping and 
to prevent pollution from ships. It is 
also involved in legal matters, including 
liability and compensation issues and 
the facilitation of international maritime 
traffic. It currently has 175 member 
states. 

International Ship and Port 
Facility Security Code 
The International Ship and Port Facility 
Security (ISPS) Code is an amendment 
to the Safety of Life at Sea Convention 
(1974/1988) on minimum security 
arrangements for ships, ports and 
government agencies. It prescribes 
responsibilities to governments, 
shipping companies, shipboard 
personnel, and port and facility 
personnel to detect security 
threats and take preventative 
measures against security incidents 
affecting ships or port facilities used 
in international trade. 

Marine Pollution 
Response Service 
The Marine Pollution Response Service 
leads oil spill response in New Zealand. 
It works to minimise the impact of oil 
pollution by: 

•  responding to regional marine-
based oil spills

•  training other people on how to 
respond, such as regional council 
and industry representatives

•  running practice exercises

•  keeping equipment on hand

•  maintaining a national oil spill 
contingency plan. 

Maritime and marine 
protection rules
The maritime and marine protection 
rules are statutory instruments (or 
secondary legislation) made by 
the Minister of Transport under 
the Maritime Transport Act 1994. 
Maritime rules relate to the safety of 
ships and people. The rules prescribe 
requirements for ship design, 
construction, equipment, crewing, 
operation and tonnage measurement, 
and for the carriage of passengers 
and cargo. Many of the standards 
are based on international ship safety 
conventions. Marine protection rules 
aim to prevent the disposal of waste 
and marine pollution from ships. Marine 
protection rules implement international 
conventions and standards. These 
rules regulate:

•  dumping of waste at sea

•  oil spill contingency plans

•  controls in relation to harmful 
substances.

Maritime Incident 
Response Team 
The Maritime Incident Response Team 
is a Wellington-based team of advisors 
who are mobilised at the onset of a 
major maritime incident. The team 
provides strategic advice and support 
to the Director of Maritime NZ and 
monitors, oversees and intervenes, 
as appropriate, on the Director’s 
behalf. The team may be mobilised 
on Maritime NZ premises or at the 
National Crisis Management Centre. 

Maritime Operations Centre
The Maritime Operations Centre (MOC) 
is responsible for maintaining radio 
services for New Zealand’s coastal 
waters and the South Pacific. As 
well as providing around-the-clock 
monitoring of VHF and HF distress 
channels, the MOC has trained radio 
operators who keep a 24-hour watch 
of all the stations in the radio network. 
The operators will respond to distress 
calls, handle trip reports and broadcast 
safety information. Maritime NZ also 
broadcasts safety information, such 
as meteorological, navigational and 
ionospheric prediction warnings. 

Maritime Operator Safety 
System 
The Maritime Operator Safety System 
(MOSS) is one of New Zealand’s 
primary regulatory frameworks for 
enabling safe people and operations. 
New operators require a Maritime 
Transport Operator Certificate to enter 
their operation into MOSS. MOSS 
audits are undertaken to assess 
performance against the MOSS 
framework. 

Maritime Security Act 2004 
The Maritime Security Act 2004 and 
its associated regulations bring the 
requirements of the ISPS Code into 
legislation. The Act makes Maritime NZ 
responsible for ensuring the provisions 
of the ISPS Code are complied with by: 

•  international trading ports in 
New Zealand

•  commercial freight and passenger 
vessels visiting New Zealand. 
New Zealand expects all ports 
and vessels that operate under 
the ISPS Code to maintain 
international best practice with 
regard to maritime security. 

New Zealand expects all ports and 
vessels that operate under the 
ISPS Code to maintain international 
best practice with regard to 
maritime security.

Maritime Transport Act 1994 
The Maritime Transport Act 1994 is the 
primary legislation that describes our 
roles and functions and those of our 
Director. It sets out the legal framework 
for maritime safety and protection of 
the marine environment, including:

•  licensing of ships and crew

•  investigation of maritime accidents

•  offences, response for oil spills 
planning and preparedness

•  other aspects of maritime law such 
as salvage, liability for pollution 
damage, limitation of liability, and 
compensation.

National Response Team 
A group of oil spill responders 
who receive specialist training to 
enable them to perform essential 
functions during a Tier 3 response. 
During a response, members of the 
National Response Team make up 
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the core Incident Response Team, 
supplemented by oil spill responders 
who have received basic training. 
The NRT is maintained through Tier 3 
training and exercising and has more 
than 100 members. Oil spill responses 
are categorised by tier: 

•  Tier 1 oil spills are responded to 
and resolved by the operator 

•  Tier 2 oil spills are generally those 
beyond the capability of the 
operator acting alone and the 
response is led and resolved by 
the local regional council 

•  Tier 3 oil spills are generally more 
complex, of longer duration and 
impact, and beyond the response 
capability of the regional council 
or operator. Tier 3 response is 
nationally led and coordinated by 
Maritime NZ. 

New Zealand Safer 
Boating Forum 
The New Zealand Safer Boating Forum 
(NZSBF) (formerly the National Pleasure 
Boat Safety Forum) is a formal network 
representing 25 national and regional 
government agencies, local body 
groups, organisations and the marine 
sector that promotes recreational 
boating safety in New Zealand. 
Its purpose is to work together to 
develop and implement a common 
safety recreational boating strategy for 
New Zealand and to support agreed 
boating safety policy, communications, 
education, compliance and regulation. 
Maritime NZ leads the NZSBF and 
works with members to coordinate 
safe boating activities.

New Zealand search 
and rescue region 
The New Zealand search and rescue 
region is the region covered by the 
New Zealand Distress and Radio 
Safety Service, which includes  
2.5 percent of the Earth’s ocean 
surface. It extends from the middle 
of the Tasman Sea to the mid-Pacific 
Ocean, and from Antarctica to south 
of the equator. New Zealand’s search 
and rescue region covers over 
37 million square kilometres of 
ocean and relatively small, isolated 
land masses extending from latitude 
5 degrees south to the Antarctic 
continent and bounded by the 163E 
and 131W meridians of longitude.

Notified events and 
serious harm
A notified event is defined as an 
incident, accident or mishap that 
involves a New Zealand ship or a ship 
in New Zealand waters, including 
complaints, concerns or allegations 
of illegal or unsafe behaviour. These 
must be reported to Maritime NZ under 
section 31 of the Maritime Transport 
Act 1994. 

Under the Act, an incident means any 
occurrence, other than an accident, 
that is associated with the operation of 
a vessel and affects or could affect the 
safety of operation. 

An accident event is when a person 
is seriously harmed on a vessel or 
because of a vessel, a vessel suffers 
serious damage that affects the safety of 
the vessel or requires major repair, or the 
vessel sinks, capsizes, strands or suffers 
a major fire. The seriousness of harm 
suffered by the person is categorised 
according to WorkSafe New Zealand’s 
criteria of notifiable events.

Pacific Maritime Safety 
Programme
The Pacific Maritime Safety 
Programme (PMSP) is a New Zealand 
Aid-funded programme, administered 
by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and 
Trade and delivered by Maritime NZ. 
The overall aim of the PMSP is for a 
Pacific maritime transport that is safe, 
environmentally friendly and meets 
international requirements. 

Papa Pounamu 
Papa Pounamu was established in 
2017, to bring together diversity and 
inclusion practices across the public 
service and to support public service 
chief executives to meet their diversity 
and inclusion obligations and goals. 
Papa Pounamu has five mandatory 
focus areas designed to help the 
public service create fair, diverse and 
inclusive workplaces reflective of the 
communities they serve. Agencies are 
expected to make as much positive 
progress as possible and report on 
progress and achievements through 
the Annual Report. 

Polar Code 
The International Code for Ships 
Operating in Polar Waters, or Polar 
Code, is an international regime 
adopted by the International Maritime 
Organization (IMO) in 2014. The Polar 
Code sets out regulations for shipping 
in the Polar regions, principally relating 
to ice navigation and ship design. 
Since 2017, New Zealand has led 
efforts at the IMO to extend the 
mandatory safety measures in the 
Polar Code to fishing vessels and other 
ships that are not regulated under the 
International Convention for the Safety 
of Life at Sea (SOLAS); an approach 
known as Polar Code Phase II. 

Port State Control 
New Zealand is a signatory to the 
Tokyo Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) along with other Port State 
Control (PSC) regimes in the 
Asia–Pacific region. The purpose 
of the Tokyo MOU is to eliminate 
substandard shipping so as to promote 
maritime safety, protect the marine 
environment and safeguard working 
and living conditions on board ships. 
Maritime NZ’s PSC programme 
actively contributes to this through 
inspections of foreign ships coming to 
New Zealand ports and by monitoring 
compliance with requirements set 
down in international conventions 
and law. 

Public Benefit Entity Financial 
Reporting Standard 48 
The Public Benefit Entity Financial 
Reporting Standard 48 (PBE FRS 48) 
is new standard for service performance 
reporting developed by the 
Government’s External Reporting 
Board that was released in 2017 
and amended in 2020. The Treasury 
developed advice in 2021 on its 
application to accountability reporting 
by Crown entities.

Reform of 40 series rules 
The 40 series rules reform is a 
significant regulatory stewardship 
project in the maritime sector. These 
rules set design, construction and 
equipment standards for New Zealand 
domestic commercial ships. Safety 
at sea relies to a significant extent 
on the integrity of ship construction 
and equipment.
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Rescue Coordination Centre 
New Zealand 
The Rescue Coordination Centre 
New Zealand (RCCNZ) 
is responsible for coordinating: 

•  all major maritime and aviation 
search and rescue missions within 
New Zealand’s search and rescue 
region 

•  land-based missions arising from 
someone activating 
a distress beacon. 

These are known as Category II search 
and rescue operations. Category I 
incidents are coordinated by 
NZ Police. RCCNZ also helps with 
other rescues, where required, 24 
hours a day. 

Seafarers Welfare Board for 
New Zealand
The Seafarers Welfare Board for 
New Zealand is an incorporated 
society and registered New Zealand 
charity that coordinates the work of the 
Mission to Seafarers, Apostleship of the 
Sea, and Sailors Society (New Zealand) 
in New Zealand. It liaises with several 
other organisations involved in similar 
work or that are interested in seafarers’ 
welfare. One of its main objectives is 
to foster ways and means of caring 
for seafarers.

Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga
Te Korowai o Kaitiakitanga is our 
organisational strategy that brings 
together the aroha, work and skills 
of the organisation to ensure we can 
operate as strong stewards of the 
maritime domain.

We exercise kaitiakitanga, or 
guardianship, over the maritime domain 
to ensure the oceans and waterways 
of Aotearoa New Zealand are safe, 
secure, clean and sustainable.

We are taking significant steps 
forward in our journey to being an 
increasingly effective regulator and 
we are continuing to build the diverse 
capabilities we need, to make the 
organisation stronger, and better able 
to deliver outcomes for our people, the 
maritime sector and New Zealand.

Tokyo Memorandum of 
Understanding 
The Tokyo MOU is one of the most 
active regional PSC organisations in 
the world. It consists of 21 member 
authorities in the Asia–Pacific region. 
The Tokyo MOU’s main objective is to 
establish an effective Port State Control 
regime in the Asia–Pacific region. It 
does this through cooperation of its 
members and harmonisation of their 
activities, to eliminate substandard 
shipping so as to promote maritime 
safety, protect the marine environment 
and safeguard working and living 
conditions on board ships. 

Transport Outcomes 
Framework 
The Transport Outcomes Framework, 
developed by the Ministry of Transport, 
gives direction to the transport system 
on the contribution it makes to 
achieving broader social and economic 
outcomes. 
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Disclaimer: While all care and 
diligence has been used in extracting, 
analysing and compiling this information, 
Maritime New Zealand gives no warranty 
that the information provided is without error. 
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